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USE OF FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
In this document, we refer to Misonix, Inc. and its subsidiaries (unless the context otherwise requires) as “we,” “our,” “us,” the “Company” or “Misonix.”
With the exception of historical information contained in this Annual Report, content herein may contain “forward looking statements” that are made
pursuant to the Safe Harbor Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are based on management’s current
expectations and are subject to uncertainty and changes in circumstances. Investors are cautioned that forward-looking statements involve risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the statements made. These factors include general economic conditions, the impact of
COVID-19, or other pandemics, and the impact of related governmental, individual and business responses. This includes our ability to obtain or forecast
accurate surgical procedure volume in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic; the risk that the COVID-19 pandemic could lead to further material delays
and cancellations of, or reduced demand for, surgical procedures; curtailed or delayed capital spending by hospitals and surgical centers; potential closures
of our facilities; delays in gathering clinical evidence; diversion of management and other resources to respond to the COVID-19 outbreak; the impact of
global and regional economic and credit market conditions on healthcare spending; the risk that the COVID-19 virus disrupts local economies and causes
economies in our key markets to enter prolonged recessions; the ability of our staff to travel to work, our ability to maintain adequate inventories and
delivery capabilities, the impact on our customers and supply chain, and the impact on demand in general. These forward-looking statements are also
subject to uncertainties and change resulting from delays and risks associated with the performance of contracts; risks associated with international sales
and currency fluctuations; uncertainties as a result of research and development; acceptable results from clinical studies, including publication of results
and patient/procedure data with varying levels of statistical relevancy; risks involved in introducing and marketing new products, potential acquisitions,
consumer and industry acceptance, litigation and/or court proceedings, including the timing and monetary requirements of such activities, the timing of
finding strategic partners and implementing such relationships; regulatory risks including clearance of pending and/or contemplated 510(k) filings; our
ability to achieve and maintain profitability in the our business lines, access to capital, and other factors discussed in this Annual Report, subsequent
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K. We disclaim any obligation to update any forward-looking statements.
II

Table of Contents
PART I
Item 1
Item 1A
Item 1B
Item 2
Item 3
Item 4

1
Business
Risk Factors
Unresolved Staff Comments
Properties
Legal Proceedings
Mine Safety Disclosures

1
8
14
14
14
15

PART II
Item 5
Item 6
Item 7
Item 7A
Item 8
Item 9
Item 9A
Item 9B

16
Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Selected Financial Data
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Controls and Procedures
Other Information

PART III
Item 10
Item 11
Item 12
Item 13
Item 14

26
Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Executive Compensation
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Principal Accountant Fees and Services

PART IV
Item 15
Item 16

16
16
16
24
24
24
24
25

26
29
35
37
37
38

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Form 10-K Summary

38
40
III

PART I
Item 1 Business
Overview
Misonix, Inc. is a Delaware corporation based in Farmingdale, New York. Misonix was incorporated in connection with our acquisition of Solsys in 2019
and became a successor to our current operating subsidiary, Misonix Op Co., which was incorporated in New York in 1967. We design, manufacture and
market minimally invasive surgical ultrasonic medical devices. These products are used for precise bone sculpting, removal of soft and hard tumors, and
tissue debridement, primarily in the areas of neurosurgery, orthopedic surgery, plastic surgery, wound care and maxillo-facial surgery. We also exclusively
market, sell and distribute TheraSkin in the United States, through an agreement with LifeNet Health, or LifeNet. TheraSkin is a biologically active human
skin allograft that has all of the relevant characteristics of human skin, including living cells, growth factors, and a collagen matrix, needed to heal wounds,
and which complements our ultrasonic medical devices. TheraSkin is derived from human skin tissue from consenting and highly screened donors and is
manufactured by LifeNet.
We strive to have our proprietary procedural solutions become the standard of care and enhance patient outcomes throughout the world. We intend to
accomplish this, in part, by utilizing our best-in-class surgical ultrasonic technology to improve patient outcomes in spinal surgery, neurosurgery and
wound care. Our Nexus generator, which received U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, marketing clearance in June 2019 and Conformité
Européenne, or CE, mark clearance in July 2019 combines the capabilities of our three legacy ultrasonic products into a single system that can be used to
perform soft and hard tissue resections. We continue to market and sell these legacy ultrasonic products, which are:
●

BoneScalpel Surgical System, or BoneScalpel, which is used for surgical procedures involving the precise cutting and sculpting of bone while
sparing soft tissue. BoneScalpel is now recognized by many surgeons globally as a critical surgical tool enabling improved patient outcomes in the
spine surgery arena.

●

SonaStar Surgical Aspirator, or SonaStar, which is used to emulsify and remove soft and hard tumors, primarily in the neuro and general surgery
fields.

●

SonicOne Wound Debridement System, or SonicOne, which offers tissue specific debridement and cleansing of wounds and burns for effective
removal of devitalized tissue and fibrin deposits while sparing viable cells.

These devices primarily serve the following clinical specialties: neurosurgery, orthopedic surgery, general surgery, plastic surgery, wound care and maxillofacial surgery.
In the United States, we sell our products through our direct sales force, in addition to a network of commissioned agents assisted by Misonix personnel.
Outside of the United States, we sell BoneScalpel and SonaStar through distributors who then resell the products to hospitals. We sell to all major markets
in the Americas, Europe, Middle East, Asia Pacific, and Africa.
We manufacture and sell our products in two global reportable business segments: the Surgical segment (consisting of our BoneScalpel and SonaStar
products) and the Wound segment (consisting of our SonicOne, TheraSkin and Therion products). Our sales force also operates as two segments, Surgical
and Wound Care.
Acquisition of Solsys Medical, LLC
On September 27, 2019, we completed our acquisition of Solsys Medical, LLC (“Solsys”), a medical technology company focused on the regeneration and
healing of soft tissue associated with chronic wounds and surgical procedures. Solsys’ primary product is TheraSkin, a living cell wound therapy indicated
to treat all external wounds from head-to-toe. The purchase price was approximately $108.6 million, representing 5,703,082 shares of Misonix common
stock, valued at $19.05 per share. In addition, business transaction costs incurred in connection with the acquisition were $4.5 million. Of these transaction
costs, $3.1 million were charged to general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and $1.4 million of the transaction
costs were capitalized to additional paid in capital, in connection with the registration of the underlying stock issued in the transaction. The results of
operations of Solsys are included in our Consolidated Statement of Operations beginning on September 27, 2019.
Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic
In March of 2020, the World Health Organization designated the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) as a global pandemic. In March of 2020, the
impact of COVID-19 and related actions to attempt to control its spread began to impact our consolidated operating results. Principally beginning in March
2020, year-over-year consolidated revenue trends began to weaken rapidly and materially. We expect consolidated revenue to continue to be impacted
negatively and materially in fiscal 2021 and for negative impacts to continue until COVID-19 and related economic and medical conditions improve.
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As these events developed, we executed on our business continuity plans and our crisis management response to address the challenges related to the
COVID-19 pandemic. Since March, our headquarters remained open, however, most of our employees have been working from home, with only certain
essential employees not working remotely. For employees who are not working remotely, we have instituted social distancing protocols, increased the level
of cleaning and sanitizing at those sites and undertaken other actions to make these sites safer. We have also significantly reduced employee travel to only
essential business needs. We are generally following the requirements and protocols published by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and the World
Health Organization, and state and local governments. We cannot predict when or how we will begin to lift the actions put in place as part of our business
continuity plans, including work from home requirements and travel restrictions. As of the date of this filing, we do not believe our work from home
protocol has adversely affected our internal controls, financial reporting systems or our operations.
Our sales teams are focused on how to meet changing needs of our customers in this environment.
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we experienced a disruption to our global supply chain of our products and a decrease in sales due to a decrease in
elective surgical procedures. The ultimate effect of these disruptions, including the extent of their adverse effect on our financial and operational results,
will be impacted by the length of time that such disruptions continue, which will, in turn, depend on the currently unknown duration of the COVID-19
pandemic and the effect of governmental regulations and other restrictions that might be imposed in response to the pandemic.
Due to these effects and measures, we have experienced and may continue to experience significant and unpredictable reductions in the demand for our
products as healthcare customers divert medical resources and priorities towards the treatment of that disease. In addition, our customers may delay, cancel,
or redirect planned capital expenditures in order to focus resources on COVID-19 or in response to economic disruption related to COVID-19. For
example, as COVID-19 reached a global pandemic level in March through June 2020, we experienced significant decline in procedure volume in the U.S.,
as healthcare systems diverted resources to meet the increasing demands of managing COVID-19. In addition, the American College of Surgeons, U.S.
surgeon general, and other public health bodies have recommended delaying elective surgeries at different times and geographies during the COVID-19
pandemic, and surgeons and medical societies are evaluating the risks of minimally invasive surgeries in the presence of infectious diseases, which we
expect will continue to negatively impact the usage of our product.
Capital markets and worldwide economies have also been significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, and it is possible that it could cause a local
and/or global economic recession. Such economic recession could have a material adverse effect on our long-term business as hospitals and surgical centers
curtail and reduce capital and overall spending. The COVID-19 pandemic and local actions, such as “shelter-in-place” orders and restrictions on our
salesforce’s ability to travel and access our customers or temporary closures of our facilities or the facilities of our suppliers and their contract
manufacturers, could further significantly reduce our sales and our ability to ship our products and supply our customers. We are also monitoring news
reports that indicate that several States and local jurisdictions within the U.S. are experiencing new increases in the rate of infection by COVID-19 which
could result in further mitigation efforts. Any of these events could negatively impact the number of surgical procedures performed using our products and
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. The COVID-19 impact on the capital markets could
negatively affect our ability and cost to borrow under financing arrangements. There are certain limitations on our ability to mitigate the adverse financial
impact of these items, including the fixed costs of our businesses. COVID-19 also makes it more challenging for management to estimate future
performance of our businesses, particularly over the near to medium term. As a response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, we have implemented plans
to manage our costs. We have implemented a hiring freeze, a reduction of base salaries for all staff with a title of director and above, a reduction in
personnel, and have significantly limited the addition of third party contracted services, travel, except where necessary to meet customer or regulatory
needs, and discretionary spending. To the extent the business disruption continues for an extended period, additional cost management actions will be
considered.
We are closely monitoring the impact of COVID-19 on all aspects of our business and geographies, including its impact on our customers, employees,
suppliers, business partners, and distribution channels. The extent to which the COVID-19 global pandemic impacts our business, results of operations, and
financial condition will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and are difficult to predict; these developments include, but are not
limited to, the duration and spread of the outbreak, its severity, the actions taken to contain the virus or address its impact, U.S. and foreign government
actions to respond to the reduction in global economic activity, and how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume.
Even after the COVID-19 outbreak has subsided, we may continue to experience materially adverse impacts on our financial condition and results of
operations. The duration and severity of the resulting economic downturn and the broader impact that COVID-19 could have on our business, financial
condition and operating results remains highly uncertain.
For more information, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors- “Our business and operations could be adversely affected by health epidemics, such as the recent
COVID-19 pandemic, impacting the markets and communities in which we and our customers operate” and “The COVID-19 global pandemic has
disrupted our operations and if we are unable to re-commence normal operations in the near-term, we may be out of compliance with certain covenants in
our debt facilities.”
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Impact of Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act
The Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) was enacted in March 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The
CARES Act and related rules and guidelines include several significant provisions, including delaying certain payroll tax payments, mandatory transition
tax payments, and estimated income tax payments that we are deferring to future periods.
On April 5, 2020, we applied for an unsecured $5.2 million loan under the Paycheck Protection Program, or the PPP Loan. The Paycheck Protection
Program, or PPP, was established under CARES Act and is administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration. On April 10, 2020, the PPP loan was
approved and funded. We entered into a promissory note with JP Morgan Chase evidencing the unsecured $5.2 million loan. The promissory note has a
maturity date of April 4, 2022 and accrues interest at an annual rate of 0.98%. The promissory note evidencing the PPP Loan contains customary events of
default relating to, among other things, payment defaults and provisions of the promissory note. In accordance with the requirements of the CARES Act,
we used the proceeds from the PPP Loan primarily for payroll costs.
Other than as outlined above, we do not currently expect the CARES Act to have a material impact on our financial results, including on our annual
estimated effective tax rate or on our liquidity. We will continue to monitor and assess the impact the CARES Act may have on our business and financial
results.
Products
Each of our medical device systems consist of a proprietary console and handpiece that function to convert electrical current into ultrasonic energy,
ultimately delivered via a disposable titanium tip, to produce a therapeutic effect.
Nexus®
Nexus is a next-generation integrated ultrasonic surgical platform that combines all the features of our existing solutions, including BoneScalpel, SonicOne
and SonaStar, into a single fully integrated platform that will also serve to power future solutions. The Nexus platform is driven by a new proprietary digital
algorithm that results in more power, efficiency, and control. The device incorporates Smart Technology that allows for easier setup and use.
Nexus’ increased power improves tissue resection rates for both soft and hard tissue removal making it a unique surgical platform for a variety of different
surgical specialties. In addition, Nexus’ ease of use enables physicians to fully leverage Nexus’ impressive set of capabilities via its digital touchscreen
display and smart system setup. Our current ultrasonic applications; BoneScalpel, SonaStar and SonicOne all work on the Nexus generator. This allows a
hospital to access all of our product offerings on this all in one console. Nexus received FDA 510(k) clearance in June 2019 and received its CE mark
approval in July 2019 for sale in Europe. We have begun selling Nexus in the United States.
BoneScalpel®
The BoneScalpel is a state of the art, ultrasonic bone cutting and sculpting system capable of enabling precise cuts with minimal necrosis, minimal burn
artifact, minimal inflammation and minimal bone loss. The device is also capable of preserving surrounding soft tissue structures because of its unique
ability to differentiate soft tissue from rigid bone. This device can make precise linear or curved cuts, on any plane, with precision not normally associated
with powered instrumentation. We believe BoneScalpel offers the speed and convenience of a powered instrument without the dangers associated with
conventional rotary devices. The effect on surrounding soft tissue is minimal due to the elastic and flexible structure of healthy tissue. This is a significant
advantage in anatomical regions like the spine where patient safety is of primary concern. In addition, the linear motion of the blunt, tissue-impacting tips
avoids accidental ‘trapping’ of soft tissue while largely eliminating the high speed spinning and tearing associated with rotary power instruments. The
BoneScalpel allows surgeons to improve on existing surgical techniques by creating new approaches to bone cutting and sculpting and removal, leading to
substantial time-savings and increased operation efficiencies.
SonaStar®
The SonaStar System provides powerful and precise aspiration following the ultrasonic ablation of hard or soft tissue. The SonaStar has been used for a
wide variety of surgical procedures applying both open and minimally invasive approaches, including neurosurgery and liver surgery. The SonaStar may
also be used with OsteoSculpt® probe tips, which enable the precise shaping or shaving of bony structures that prevent open access to partially or
completely hidden soft tissue masses.
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SonicOne®
The SonicOne Ultrasonic Cleansing and Debridement System is a highly innovative, tissue specific approach for the effective removal of devitalized or
necrotic tissue and fibrin deposits while sparing viable, surrounding cellular structures. The tissue specific capability is, in part, due to the fact that healthy
and viable tissue structures have a higher elasticity and flexibility than necrotic tissue and are more resistant to destruction from the impact effects of
ultrasound. The ultrasonic debridement process separates devitalized tissue from viable tissue layers, allowing for a more defined treatment and, usually, a
reduced pain sensation. We believe SonicOne establishes a new standard in wound bed preparation, the essential first step in the healing process, while
contributing to a faster patient healing.
TheraSkin®
TheraSkin is a biologically active human skin allograft that has all of the relevant characteristics of human skin, including living cells, growth factors, and a
collagen matrix, needed to heal wounds. TheraSkin is derived from human skin tissue from consenting and highly screened donors and is regulated by the
FDA as a Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Product. LifeNet processes and supplies TheraSkin to us under a supply and distribution
agreement that gives us exclusive rights to sell TheraSkin in the United States. TheraSkin is indicated for use on all external skin tissue wounds, including
but not limited to difficult to heal diabetic foot ulcers, venous leg ulcers, dehisced surgical wounds, necrotizing fasciitis, burns, Mohs and wounds with
exposed structures.
Therion®
Therion is indicated for use as a cover and barrier for homologous use for wound care and surgical procedures. Therion is a dehydrated and terminally
sterilized chorioamniotic allograft derived from human placental membrane and is regulated by the FDA as a Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and
Tissue-Based Product. CryoLife processes and supplies Therion to us under a supply and distribution agreement that gives us exclusive rights to distribute
the product in the United States. CryoLife processes Therion using a proprietary process that removes the maternal-derived decidua cells from the placental
membrane, leaving the amnion and chorion layers in their native configuration.
High Intensity Focused Ultrasound Technology
In May 2010, we sold our rights to our former high intensity focused ultrasound technology to SonaCare Medical, LLC, or SonaCare. We may receive up
to approximately $5.8 million in payment for the sale. SonaCare is required to pay us 7% of the gross revenues received from its sales of the (i) prostate
product in Europe and (ii) kidney and liver products worldwide, until we have received payments of $3.0 million, and thereafter 5% of the gross revenues,
up to an aggregate payment of $5.8 million, all subject to a minimum annual royalty of $250,000. Through June 30, 2020 we received cumulative payments
of approximately $2.5 million. Currently, SonaCare is in default of its royalty payment due June 30, 2020 and 2019. Although we are in discussions with
SonaCare regarding this default, there can be no assurance that the payments will be received on a timely basis or at all. Due to this default, we have not
recorded any income relating to these payments due on our Consolidated Statement of Operations.
Customers
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, there were no customers whose sales accounted for more than 10% of our revenues. For the fiscal year ended June
30, 2019, one customer, Zhong Mei Medical Limited, accounted for 11.5% of our revenue.
Research & Development
As of June 30, 2020, our research and development organization consisted of a staff of 11 employees including engineers and technical and support
personnel. Our in-house technical expertise includes mechanical engineering, acoustics, electrical engineering, software development and product design.
The research and development group focuses principally on developing new products and supporting existing products. During fiscal 2019 we were
developing our Nexus next generation surgical platform, including seeking regulatory approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA.
Nexus received FDA 510(k) clearance for sale in the United States in June 2019 and received its CE mark approval for sale in Europe in July 2019.
During fiscal 2020 and 2019, we incurred R&D expenses of $4.9 million and $4.5 million, or 7.9% and 11.5% of revenue, respectively.
Revenue by Region
We receive revenues from various regions throughout the world, including the United States, the United Kingdom, the European Economic Area, Asia and
Asia Pacific, and South America. Our sales made in the United States are made primarily through our direct sales force and some distributors. Our sales
outside the United States are made through distributors. The following is an analysis of our revenue from continuing operations by geographic region:

Domestic
International
Total

$
$

For the year ended June 30,
2020
2019
48,552,953 $
22,975,708
13,930,698
15,872,783
62,483,651 $
38,848,491
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Net Change
111.3%
-12.2%
60.8%

Our international sales include a concentration in China, aggregating to $3.1 million and $4.6 million for fiscal 2020 and 2019, respectively. Sales in China
were significantly impacted by COVID-19 during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, contributing $1.5 million of the $1.9 million decrease in
international sales.
Manufacturing and Supply
We largely manufacture and assemble our medical device products at our production facility located in Farmingdale, New York. Our products include
components manufactured by other companies in the United States. We are dependent for some of the components used within our medical device products
upon some single source suppliers and have worked to develop multi-sourced suppliers. We do not have long-term supply agreements. We may encounter
difficulty in obtaining materials, supplies and components adequate for our anticipated short-term needs.
Competition
Competition in the medical device products industry is rigorous. We believe that the principal competitive factors in our markets are product features,
value-added solutions, reliability, clinical evidence, reimbursement coverage, and price. Customer support, reputation, and efficient distribution are also
important factors. The speed with which we can develop products, complete clinical testing and regulatory clearance processes and supply commercial
quantities of our products to the market are therefore important competitive factors. We compete with many companies having more significant capital
resources, larger research laboratories and more extensive distribution systems than we do. Some of our major competitors are Medtronic, Johnson &
Johnson, Integra Life Sciences, Inc., Söering, Stryker Corporation, Smith & Nephew, for our Surgical segment, and MiMedx, Smith & Nephew, Integra
Life Sciences and Organogenesis for our Wound segment.
Regulatory Requirements
Our products are subject to extensive regulation particularly as to safety, efficacy, and adherence to FDA Quality System Regulations, or QSR, and related
manufacturing standards. Medical device products are also subject to other governmental agency regulations of foreign agencies abroad.
United States
The FDA regulates the design, development, research, preclinical and clinical testing, introduction, manufacture, advertising, labeling, packaging,
marketing, distribution, import and export, and record keeping of medical devices in order to ensure that those sold in the United States are safe and
effective for their intended use. Non-compliance with applicable requirements can result in import detentions, fines, civil and administrative penalties,
injunctions, suspension or loss of regulatory approvals, recall or seizure of products, operating restrictions, refusal of the government to approve product
export applications or allow us to enter into supply contracts, and criminal prosecution.
Unless an exemption applies, the FDA requires that a manufacturer introducing a new medical device or a new indication for use of an existing medical
device obtain either a Section 510(k) premarket notification clearance or a premarket approval, or PMA, before introducing it into the U.S. market. The
type of marketing authorization is generally linked to the classification of the device. The FDA classifies medical devices into one of three classes (Class I,
II or III) based on the degree of risk the FDA determines to be associated with a device and the level of regulatory control deemed necessary to ensure the
device’s safety and effectiveness. Our products currently marketed in the United States are marketed pursuant to 510(k) pre-marketing clearances and are
either Class I or Class II devices. The process of obtaining a Section 510(k) clearance generally requires the submission of performance data and often
clinical data, which in some cases can be extensive, to demonstrate that the device is “substantially equivalent” to a device that was on the market before
1976 or to a device that has been found by the FDA to be “substantially equivalent” to such a pre-1976 device, a predecessor device is referred to as
“predicate device.” As a result, FDA clearance requirements may extend the development process for a considerable length of time. In addition, in some
cases, the FDA may require additional review by an advisory panel, which can further lengthen the process. The PMA process, which is reserved for new
devices that are not substantially equivalent to any predicate device and for high-risk devices or those that are used to support or sustain human life, may
take several years and requires the submission of extensive performance and clinical information.
As a medical device manufacturer, our manufacturing facilities are subject to inspection on a routine basis by the FDA. We are required to adhere to
applicable regulations setting forth detailed Good Manufacturing Practice, or cGMP, requirements, as set forth in the QSR, which require manufacturers,
including our third-party manufacturers, to follow stringent design, testing, control, documentation, and other quality assurance procedures during all
phases of the design and manufacturing process. Noncompliance with these standards can result in, among other things, fines, injunctions, civil penalties,
recalls or seizures of products, total or partial suspension of production, refusal of the government to grant 510(k) clearance or PMA approval of devices,
withdrawal of marketing approvals and criminal prosecutions.
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We must also comply with post-market surveillance regulations, including medical device reporting, or MDR, requirements, which require that we review
and report to the FDA any incident in which our products may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury. We must also report any incident in
which our product has malfunctioned if that malfunction would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if it were to recur.
Our labeling and promotional activities in the U.S. are also subject to scrutiny by the FDA and, in certain circumstances, by the Federal Trade Commission.
Medical devices approved or cleared by the FDA may not be promoted for unapproved or uncleared uses, otherwise known as “off-label” promotion. The
FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, and a company that is found to have
improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant liability, including substantial monetary penalties and criminal prosecution.
International
Sales of medical devices outside the United States are subject to regulatory requirements that vary widely from country to country.
EEA
In the European Economic Area, (which is comprised of the 27 Member States of the European Union plus Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein), or EEA,
manufacturers of medical devices need to comply with the Essential Requirements laid out in Annex I to the EU Medical Devices Directive (Council
Directive 93/42/EEC). Compliance with these requirements is a prerequisite to be able to affix the CE mark to medical devices, without which they cannot
be marketed or sold in the EEA.
The UK is currently in a transition period following the No-Deal Brexit, which ends on December 31, 2020. During this period UK medical device
regulations will remain aligned with the EU Medical Device Directive. There are no final regulations on how the UK will assess, register or license medical
devices after the transition period ends. Guidance issued outlines a registration process where a manufacturer will contract a UK Responsible Person to
assess the quality system in a similar manner to the EU MDD Notified Body. Compliance with developing UK regulations and a verification of compliance
by the UK Responsible Person will be a requirement for products to be marketed or sold in the UK. Misonix continues to monitor the developing
regulatory environment in the UK closely.
All manufacturers placing medical devices into the market in the EEA must comply with the EU Medical Device Vigilance System. Under this system,
incidents must be reported to the relevant authorities of the Member States of the EEA, and manufacturers are Our products are subject to extensive
regulation particularly as to safety, efficacy and adherence to the FDA Quality System Regulation, or QSR, and related manufacturing standards. Medical
device products are also subject to other governmental agency regulations in the United States and similar regulations of foreign agencies abroad.
On April 5, 2017, the European Parliament passed the Medical Devices Regulation, which repeals and replaces the EU Medical Devices Directive. Unlike
directives, which must be implemented into the national laws of the EEA member States, the regulations would be directly applicable (i.e., without the
need for adoption of EEA member State laws implementing them) in all EEA member States and are intended to eliminate current differences in the
regulation of medical devices among EEA member States. The Medical Devices Regulation, among other things, is intended to establish a uniform,
transparent, predictable and sustainable regulatory framework across the EEA for medical devices and in vitro diagnostic devices and ensure a high level of
safety and health while supporting innovation. The effective date of the Medical Devices Regulation has been extended to May 26, 2021 as a result of the
COVID-19 Pandemic. Products on the market prior to May 26, 2021 can continue to be placed on the market until May 26, 2025, after which they must
comply with the MDR. New products placed on the market after May 26, 2021 must comply with the MDR.
Other Regulatory Bodies
Our devices are sold in multiple other countries and often need to be registered with local regulatory bodies such as the National Medical Products
Administration in China (NMPA), Health Canada (HC), the Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) in Australia, and the Agência Nacional de Vigilância
Sanitária (ANVISA) in Brazil.
Other Healthcare Laws
We are subject to a number of laws and regulations that may restrict our business practices, including, without limitation, anti-kickback, false claims,
physician payment transparency and data privacy and security laws. The government has interpreted these laws broadly to apply to the marketing and sales
activities of manufacturers and distributors like us.
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Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
We are subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or FCPA. The FCPA prohibits U.S. companies and their representatives from
processing, offering, or making payments of money or anything of value to foreign officials with the intent to obtain or retain business or seek a business
advantage. In certain countries, the health care professionals we or our distributors regularly interact with may meet the definition of a foreign government
official for the purposes of the FCPA. Our international activities create the risk of unauthorized payments or offers of payments by our employees,
consultants and agents, including distributors, even though they may not always be subject to our control. Our existing safeguards may prove to be less than
effective, and our employees, consultants, and agents may engage in conduct for which we might be held responsible. A determination that our operations
or activities are not, or were not, in compliance with U.S. or foreign laws or regulations could result in the imposition of substantial fines, interruptions of
business, loss of suppliers, vendor or other third-party relationships, termination of necessary licenses or permits, and legal or equitable sanctions. Other
internal or governmental investigations or legal or regulatory proceedings, including lawsuits brought by private litigants, may also follow as a
consequence.
ISO Standards
We also operate and maintain a Quality Management System that complies with the requirements of International Standards ISO 13485: 2016 Medical
Devices – Quality Management Systems, including US FDA Title 21 CFR Part 820 Quality System Regulation. This system encompasses the principles of
enhancing customer satisfaction through the effective application of processes for control, monitoring, and continual improvement, which is designed to
ensure that we consistently meet or exceed customer expectations and applicable statutory/regulatory requirements.
Trademarks, Patents, and Copyrights
Patents, trademarks and other intangible proprietary rights are material to our business and our ability to compete effectively with other companies. We also
rely upon trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovations, and licensing opportunities to develop, maintain and strengthen our competitive
position. We pursue a policy of generally obtaining patent protection in both the U.S. and overseas for patentable subject matter in our products and also
attempt to review third-party patents and patent applications to the extent publicly available to develop an effective patent strategy, avoid infringement of
third-party patents, identify licensing opportunities and monitor the patent claims of others.
We currently own 65 U.S. patents and 60 foreign patents. In addition, we have 18 pending U.S. patent applications and 71 pending foreign patent
applications. Patents relating to our Nexus product are scheduled to expire in 2028. Other patents that we consider important to our business will expire
from 2025 to 2036, although we do not currently believe that the expiration of other patents will have a material effect on our business.
We also hold over 13 trademarks protecting the Misonix name and our product names.
We will continue to seek patent, trademark, and copyright protection as we deem advisable to protect the markets for our products and to support our
research and development efforts.
Third Party Coverage and Reimbursement
Healthcare providers that purchase medical devices generally rely on third-party payors, including, in the U.S., the Medicare and Medicaid programs and
private payors, such as indemnity insurers, employer group health insurance programs and managed care plans, to reimburse all or part of the cost of the
products. As a result, demand for our products is and will continue to be dependent in part on the coverage and reimbursement policies of these payors. The
manner in which reimbursement is sought and obtained varies based upon the type of payor involved and the setting in which the product is furnished and
utilized. Reimbursement from Medicare, Medicaid and other third-party payors may be subject to periodic adjustments as a result of legislative, regulatory
and policy changes, as well as budgetary pressures. Possible reductions in, or eliminations of, coverage or reimbursement by third-party payors, or denial
of, or provision of uneconomical reimbursement for new products may affect our customers’ revenue and ability to purchase our products. Any changes in
the healthcare regulatory, payment or enforcement landscape relative to our customers’ healthcare services have the potential to significantly affect our
operations and revenue.
Backlog
As of June 30, 2020, our backlog (firm orders that have not yet been shipped) was approximately $300,000 as compared to $900,000 as of June 30, 2019.
We ship most of our products on a just-in-time basis, which generally results in low levels of backlog.
Employees
As of June 30, 2020, we employed a total of 254 full-time employees. We consider our relationship with our employees to be good.
Website Access Disclosure
Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K are available free of charge on our website at
www.misonix.com as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. Copies of our Annual Report
will be made available to shareholders, free of charge, upon written request.
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Item 1A Risk Factors
In addition to the other information contained in this Annual Report and the exhibits hereto, the following risk factors should be considered carefully in
evaluating our business. Our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially adversely affected by any of these risks. This
section contains forward-looking statements. Additional risks not presently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial, may also adversely affect
our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The following list sets forth many, but not all, of the factors that could affect our ability to
achieve results discussed in any forward-looking statement. Investors should understand that it is not possible to predict or identify all such factors and
should not consider this list to be a complete statement of all potential risks and uncertainties.
Risks Related to Our Business
Our business and operations could be adversely affected by health epidemics, such as the recent COVID-19 pandemic, which is materially impacting
the markets and communities in which we and our customers operate.
We face various risks related to health epidemics, pandemics and similar outbreaks, such as the recent global outbreak of COVID-19. The COVID-19
global pandemic has negatively affected the global economy, disrupted medical spending and created significant volatility and disruption of financial
markets. As a result, we experienced a significant decline in revenue during March 2020. We expect the COVID-19 global pandemic to continue to have a
material adverse effect on our business including our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity. The extent of the impact of the COVID-19
global pandemic on our business, including our ability to execute our near-term and long-term business strategies and initiatives in the expected time frame,
will depend on numerous evolving factors that we may not be able to accurately predict or assess, including the duration and scope of the pandemic; the
negative affect it may have on global and regional economies and economic activity; changes in customers and consumer behavior, including cancellations
of elective surgical procedures; actions governments, businesses and individuals take in response to the pandemic; and how quickly economies recover
after the COVID-19 pandemic subsides.
As a result of the COVID-19 global pandemic, we have experienced a disruption in our supply chain and a decrease in sales due to a decrease in elective
surgical procedures. Our products are sensitive to reductions in deferrable and emergent medical procedures, and, as hospital systems prioritize treatment of
COVID-19 patients and otherwise comply with government guidelines, certain medical procedures have been suspended or postponed in many of the
markets where our products are marketed and sold, which has caused a reduction in sales of these products.
In addition, the COVID-19 outbreak has caused hospitals to restrict access to non-essential personnel, including family and friends of infected patients. As
a result, our sales force is not able to access a significant portion of the market to generate new sales orders. COVID-19 could also adversely impact our
ability to retain key employees and the continued service and availability of skilled personnel necessary to run our operations, including our executive
officers and other members of our management team, as well as the ability of our third-party suppliers, manufacturers and distributors to retain their key
employees. To the extent our management or other personnel are impacted in significant numbers by COVID-19 and are not available to perform their job
duties, we could experience delays in, or the suspension of, our operations and other important commercial functions.
We continue to work with our stakeholders (including customers, employees, consumers, suppliers, business partners and local communities) to responsibly
address this global pandemic. We are continuing to monitor the situation and assess possible implications to our business and our stakeholders and plan to
take appropriate actions to mitigate adverse consequences. We cannot assure that we will be successful in any such mitigation efforts. The extent and
duration of the impact of the COVID-19 global pandemic on our business is highly uncertain and difficult to predict, as information is rapidly evolving
with respect to the duration and severity of the pandemic. Many regions, including those that had experienced declines in infection rates, are now seeing
increased infections and deaths resulting from COVID-19. At this point, we cannot reasonably estimate the duration and severity of the COVID-19 global
pandemic, or its overall impact on our business. Even after the COVID-19 global pandemic has subsided, we may continue to experience adverse effects on
our business as a result of any economic recession or depression that has occurred or may occur in the future. The effects of COVID-19 has also affected
financial markets and corporate credit markets, which could adversely affect our ability to access financing on acceptable terms, or at all. To the extent the
COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business and financial results, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described
below.
The COVID-19 global pandemic has disrupted our operations and if we are unable to re-commence normal operations in the near-term, we may be out
of compliance with certain covenants in our debt facilities.
Under the terms of certain of our debt facilities with an aggregate outstanding principal amount of approximately $44 million of indebtedness as of June 30,
2020, we are required to comply with covenants, such as maintaining minimum revenue and EBITDA levels. As a result of the COVID-19 global
pandemic, our business operations have been disrupted and if we are unable to re-commence normal operations in the near-term, we may be out of
compliance with certain of those covenants.
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There can be no assurance that we would be able to obtain additional waivers from the lenders under these facilities if we are unable to comply with
covenants in a timely manner, on acceptable terms or at all. If we are not able to obtain a covenant waiver under any one or more of our debt facilities, we
will be in default of such agreements, which could result in cross defaults to our other debt agreements. As a consequence, we would need to refinance or
repay the applicable debt facility or facilities and would be required to raise additional debt or equity capital, or divest assets, to refinance or repay such
facility or facilities. If we are unable to obtain a covenant waiver in the future under any one or more of these debt facilities, there can be no assurance that
we would be able to raise sufficient debt or equity capital, or divest assets, to refinance or repay such facility or facilities.
Covenant waivers may lead to fees associated with obtaining the waiver, increased costs, increased interest rates, additional restrictive covenants and other
available lender protections that would be applicable to us under these debt facilities, and such increased costs, restrictions and modifications may vary
among debt facilities. Our ability to provide additional lender protections under these facilities will be limited by the restrictions in our indebtedness.
With respect to each of these debt facilities, if we cannot obtain a waiver or refinance or repay such debt facilities, we would be in default under such
facilities, which could lead to an acceleration of the indebtedness under such debt facilities. In turn, this could lead to an event of default and potential
acceleration of amounts due under all of our outstanding debt. As a result, the failure to obtain the covenant waivers described above would have a material
adverse effect on our business.
Risks Related to Our Business
We have a recent history of net losses.
We have experienced losses from continuing operations during the last four fiscal years. The loss from continuing operations before income taxes was
approximately $22 million for the 2020 fiscal year, and the accumulated deficit was approximately $39.3 million as of June 30, 2020. Our losses from
continuing operations were further adversely impacted due to the COVID global pandemic. As a result of the pandemic, we experienced a significant
decline in revenue since March 2020. There can be no assurance that we will be able to return to operating profitability in the near-term or at all. As of June
30, 2020, we had a cash balance of approximately $38.0 million. Although we believe this amount is sufficient to finance our operations for at least the next
12 months, there can be no assurance that this will provide sufficient liquidity for longer-term operations or initiatives. Our cash flows may be affected by a
number of factors, including changing market conditions, market acceptance of our new and existing products, and the loss of one or more key customers.
There can be no assurance that we will be successful in raising additional capital if the need arises. The failure to raise any necessary additional capital on
acceptable terms, or at all, may have a material adverse effect on our future business and results of operations.
We will require a significant amount of cash to service our current indebtedness and any future indebtedness that we incur. This cash may not be
readily available to us.
Our ability to make payments on, or repay or refinance, our indebtedness and fund planned capital expenditures will depend largely upon our future
operating performance. Our future performance, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other
factors that are beyond our control. We cannot be certain we will generate sufficient cash flow from operations or that future borrowings will be available
in amounts sufficient to enable us to pay any indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs.
We are subject to extensive medical device regulation, that may impede or hinder the approval process for our products and, in some cases, may not
ultimately result in approval or may result in the recall or seizure of previously approved products.
Our medical devices, wound products, and our business activities are subject to rigorous regulation, including by the FDA, the DOJ and numerous other
federal, state and foreign governmental authorities. Certain state governments and the federal government have enacted legislation aimed at increasing
transparency of our interactions with health care providers. Any failure to comply with these legal and regulatory requirements could negatively affect our
business.
These regulations include regulations pursuant to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or the FDC Act, by the FDA and comparable agencies in
foreign countries, and by other regulatory agencies and governing bodies. Under the FDC Act, medical devices must receive FDA clearance or approval
before they can be commercially marketed in the U.S. In addition, most major markets for medical devices outside the U.S. require clearance, approval or
compliance with certain standards before a product can be commercially marketed. The process of obtaining marketing approval or clearance from the
FDA for new products, or with respect to enhancements or modifications to existing products, could:
●

take a significant amount of time;

●

require the expenditure of substantial resources;

●

involve rigorous pre-clinical and clinical testing;

●

require changes to the products; and

●

result in limitations on the proposed uses of the products
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Marketing approvals or clearances are not the only risk. The FDA, and other regulatory bodies, also can require the withdrawal of an approved or cleared
product from commercial distribution due to failure to comply with regulatory standards or the occurrence of unforeseen problems.
As a medical device manufacturer, we are required to register with the FDA and are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA for compliance with the
FDA’s Quality System Regulation requirements, which require manufacturers of medical devices to adhere to certain regulations, including testing, quality
control and documentation procedures. In addition, FDA regulations require us to provide information to the FDA whenever there is evidence that
reasonably suggests that a medical device may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury or, if a malfunction were to occur, could cause or
contribute to a death or serious injury. Compliance with applicable regulatory requirements is subject to continual review and is rigorously monitored
through periodic inspections by the FDA. In the European Union and China, we are required to maintain certain ISO certifications in order to sell our
products and must undergo periodic inspections by notified bodies to obtain and maintain these certifications. Failure to meet regulatory quality standards
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Consequently, there can be no assurance that we will receive the required clearances from the FDA or other regulatory bodies for new products or
modifications to existing products on a timely basis or that any FDA approval will not be subsequently withdrawn. Later discovery of previously unknown
problems with a product or manufacturer could result in fines, delays or suspensions of regulatory clearances, seizures or recalls of products, operating
restrictions and/or criminal prosecution. The failure to receive product approval clearance on a timely basis, suspensions of regulatory clearances, seizures
or recalls of products or the withdrawal of product approval by the FDA or other regulatory bodies could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations.
We face intense competition and may not be able to keep pace with the rapid technological changes in the medical device industry.
The medical device and wound healing product markets are is highly competitive. We encounter significant competition across our product lines and in
each market in which our products are sold from various medical device companies and other providers of human allografts and skin substitutes, most of
which have greater financial and marketing resources than we do.
Additionally, the medical device product market is characterized by extensive research and development and rapid technological change. Developments by
other companies of new or improved products, processes or technology may make our products or proposed products obsolete or less competitive and may
negatively impact our revenues. In some cases, companies may attempt to copy our designs illegally. We are required to devote continued efforts and
financial resources to develop or acquire scientifically advanced technologies and products, apply our technologies cost-effectively across product lines and
markets, attract and retain skilled development personnel, obtain patent and other protection for our technology and products, obtain required regulatory
and reimbursement approvals and successfully manufacture and market our products. Failure to develop new products or enhance existing products could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights effectively.
Patents, trademarks and other intangible proprietary rights are and will be essential to our business and our ability to compete effectively with other
companies. We will also rely upon trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovations, strategic alliances and licensing opportunities to
develop, maintain and strengthen our competitive position. We pursue a policy of generally obtaining patent protection in both the U.S. and overseas for
patentable subject matter of our proprietary devices and also attempt to review third-party patents and patent applications to the extent publicly available to
develop an effective patent strategy, avoid infringement of third-party patents, identify licensing opportunities and monitor the patent claims of others. We
also operate in an industry that is susceptible to significant intellectual property litigation and it has been common for companies in the medical device field
to challenge aggressively the patent rights of other companies in order to prevent the marketing of new devices. Intellectual property litigation is expensive,
complex, and lengthy and its outcome is difficult to predict. Future patent litigation may result in significant royalty or other payments or injunctions that
can prevent the sale of products and may significantly divert the attention of our technical and management personnel.
In addition, we may have to take legal action in the future to protect our patents, trade secrets, or know-how or to assert our intellectual property rights
against claimed infringement by others. Any such legal action could be costly and time consuming to us. and no assurances can be made that any lawsuit
will be successful.
The invalidation of key patents or proprietary rights that we own, or an unsuccessful outcome in lawsuits to protect our intellectual property, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In the event that our right to market any of our products is
successfully challenged, or if we fail to obtain a required license or are unable to design around a patent, our business, financial condition, and results of
operations could be materially adversely affected.
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eSecurity breaches, loss of data and other disruptions could compromise sensitive information related to our business, prevent us from accessing critical
information or expose us to liability, which could adversely affect our business and reputation.
In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data, including patient health information, personally identifiable information about
our employees, intellectual property, and proprietary business information. We manage and maintain applications and data utilizing on-site and off-site
systems. These applications and data encompass a wide variety of business-critical information including research and development information,
commercial information and business and financial information.
The secure processing, storage, maintenance and transmission of this critical information is vital to our operations and business strategy, and we devote
resources to protecting such information. Although we take measures to protect sensitive information from unauthorized access or disclosure, our
information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers, viruses, breaches or interruptions due to employee error or malfeasance,
terrorist attacks, hurricanes, fire, flood, other natural disasters, power loss, computer systems failure, data network failure, internet failure, or lapses in
compliance with privacy and security mandates. Any such virus, breach or interruption could compromise our networks and the information stored there
could be accessed by unauthorized parties, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such access, disclosure or other loss of information could result in legal
claims or proceedings, liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal information, government enforcement actions and regulatory penalties.
Unauthorized access, loss or dissemination could also interrupt our operations, including our ability to receive and ship orders from customers, bill our
customers, provide customer support services, conduct research and development activities, process and prepare company financial information, manage
various general and administrative aspects of our business and damage our reputation, any of which could adversely affect our business.
Future product liability claims, and other litigation may adversely affect our business, reputation, and ability to attract and retain customers.
The design, manufacture, and marketing of our medical device products and human skin allografts entail an inherent risk of product liability claims. A
number of factors could result in an unsafe condition or injury to, or death of, a patient with respect to these or other products that we manufacture or sell,
including component failures, manufacturing flaws, design defects or inadequate disclosure of product-related risks or product-related information. These
factors could result in product liability claims, a recall of one or more of our products or a safety alert relating to one or more of our products. Product
liability claims may be brought by individuals or by groups seeking to represent a class.
Anyone or any company can bring an action against Misonix, including private securities litigation and shareholder derivative suits, and adverse
litigation results could affect our business.
Our judicial system allows anyone, including shareholders, to bring a claim against us and force us to defend our company, even if the claim is baseless.
The defense may or may not be covered by our insurance, the result of which could ultimately create a burden on us dependent upon the outcome.
Litigation can be lengthy, expensive, and disruptive to our operations, and results cannot be predicted with certainty. An adverse decision could result
in monetary damages or injunctive relief that could affect our financial condition or results of operations.
The medical device industry is characterized by extensive litigation and, from time to time, we are the subject of various claims. Regardless of outcome,
such claims are expensive to defend and divert management and operating personnel from other business issues. A successful claim or claims against us
could result in payment of significant monetary damages and/or injunctive relief. As an example, on March 23, 2017, our former distributor in China, Cicel
(Beijing) Science & Technology Co., Ltd., filed a lawsuit against us and certain of our officers and directors in the United States District Court for the
Eastern District of New York, alleging that we improperly terminated our contract with the former distributor. We believe that we have various legal and
factual defenses to the allegations in the complaint and intend to defend the action vigorously. Fact discovery in the case is ongoing, and there is no trial
date currently set.
Violation of anti-corruption laws could subject us to significant penalties, which could materially and adversely affect our business and liquidity.
We are required to comply with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, and similar anti-corruption laws in other jurisdictions around the world where
we do business. Compliance with these laws has been subject to increasing focus and activity by regulatory authorities in recent years.
With the assistance of outside counsel, beginning in 2016 we conducted a voluntary investigation into the business practices of the independent Chinese
entity that previously distributed our products in China and our knowledge of those business practices, which may have had implications under the FCPA,
as well as into various internal control issues identified during the investigation. We did not identify any information through the investigation or otherwise
that suggests that our previously reported consolidated financial statements are incorrect. On September 27, 2016 and September 28, 2016, we voluntarily
contacted the SEC and the DOJ, respectively, to advise both agencies of these potential issues. Thereafter, we provided documents and information to, and
cooperated fully with, the SEC and the DOJ, in their investigations of these matters.
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On June 18, 2019, we received a letter from the Division of Enforcement of the SEC advising us that the SEC had concluded its investigation of us and
that, based on the information it had as of the date of the letter, it did not intend to recommend an enforcement action by the SEC against us. On August 14,
2019, we received a declination letter from the United States Department of Justice DOJ stating that the DOJ has closed its inquiry into us without any
action.
Future actions by our employees, or third-party intermediaries acting on our behalf, in violation of anticorruption laws, including the FCPA, whether
carried out in the United States or elsewhere in connection with the conduct of our business may expose us to liability for violations and significant costs
and expenses in investigating such actions or defending against civil or criminal charges associated therewith and accordingly may have a material adverse
effect on our reputation and our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Our future growth is dependent upon the development of new products and line extensions, which requires significant research and development,
clinical trials and regulatory approvals, all of which are very expensive and time-consuming and may not result in a commercially viable product.
In order to develop new products and improve current product offerings, we focus our research and development programs largely on the development of
next-generation and novel technology offerings across multiple programs and opportunities.
As a part of the regulatory process of obtaining marketing clearance from the FDA for new products, we conduct and participate in numerous clinical trials
with a variety of study designs, patient populations and trial endpoints. Unfavorable or inconsistent clinical data from existing or future clinical trials
conducted by us, by our competitors or by third parties, or the market’s perception of this clinical data, may adversely impact our ability to obtain product
approvals from the FDA, our position in, and share of, the markets in which we participate and our business, financial condition, results of operations or
future prospects.
New products may not be accepted by customers in the marketplace.
We are now, and will continue to be, developing new products and introducing them into the market. There can be no assurance that any new product will
be accepted by the market. New products are sometimes introduced into the market in a prototype format and may need later revisions or design changes
before they operate in a manner to be accepted in the market. As a result of the introduction of new products, there is some risk that revenue expectations
may not be met and in some cases the product may not achieve market acceptance.
Consolidation in the healthcare industry could lead to demands for price concessions or our exclusion as a supplier from certain of our significant
market segments.
The cost of healthcare has risen significantly over the past decade and numerous initiatives and reforms initiated by legislators, regulators, and third-party
payers to curb these costs have resulted in a consolidation trend in the healthcare industry, including hospitals. This in turn has resulted in greater pricing
pressures and the exclusion of certain suppliers from important market segments as group purchasing organizations, independent delivery networks and
large single accounts continue to consolidate purchasing decisions for some of our hospital customers. We expect that market demand, government
regulation, third-party reimbursement policies, and societal pressures will continue to change the worldwide healthcare industry, resulting in further
business consolidations and alliances among our customers and competitors, which may reduce competition, exert further downward pressure on the prices
of our products and may adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
We may experience disruption in supply due to our dependence on our suppliers to continue to ship product requirements and our inability to obtain
suppliers of certain components for our products.
Our suppliers may encounter problems during manufacturing due to a variety of reasons, including poor business practices, failure to follow specific
protocols and procedures, failure to comply with applicable regulations, equipment malfunctions, labor shortages, or environmental factors. In addition, we
purchase both raw materials used in most products and finished goods from various suppliers and may have to rely on a single source supplier for certain
components of our products where there are no alternatives are available, such as for our product TheraSkin. Although we anticipate that we have adequate
sources of supply and/or inventory of these components to handle our production needs for the foreseeable future, if we are unable to secure on a timely
basis sufficient quantities of the materials we depend on to manufacture our products, if we encounter delays or contractual or other difficulties in our
relationships with these suppliers, or if we cannot find suppliers at an acceptable cost, then the manufacture of our products may be disrupted, which could
increase our costs and have a material adverse effect on our business. For example, in fiscal 2020, we experienced certain supply chain disruptions due to
suppliers not being able to keep pace with our demand for materials and product due to the COVID-19 pandemic. These disruptions caused us to not be
able to ship certain customer orders on time, creating a sales backlog that was higher than normal.
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In addition, our suppliers, contract manufacturers and distributors, and other third parties we contract with are subject to ongoing, periodic, unannounced
inspection by the FDA and corresponding state and foreign agencies or their designees to ensure strict compliance with applicable regulations and other
governmental regulations and corresponding foreign standards. We do not control compliance with these regulations and standards by our suppliers,
contract manufacturers, distributors and other third parties with which it contracts. They might not be able to comply with these regulatory requirements. If
they fail to comply with applicable regulations, the FDA or other regulatory authorities could issue orders of suspension, recall, destruction or cessation of
manufacturing, or impose sanctions on us, including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, denial of any required marketing approval, delays, suspension or
withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, product seizures or recalls, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions. For example, the FDA could stop
or delay approval of production of products if LifeNet’s manufacturing facilities do not comply with applicable manufacturing requirements. Any of these
actions could significantly and adversely affect the supply and distribution of our products and could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
If we fail to manage any expansion or acquisition, our business could be impaired.
We may in the future acquire one or more technologies, products or companies that complement our business. We may not be able to integrate these into
our business effectively and any such acquisition could bring additional risks, exposures, and challenges to our business. In addition, acquisitions may
dilute our earnings per share, disrupt our ongoing business, distract our management and employees, increase our expenses, subject us to liabilities, and
increase our risk of litigation, all of which could harm our business. If we use cash to acquire technologies, products, or companies, such use may divert
resources otherwise available for other purposes. If we use our common stock to acquire technologies, products, or companies, our stockholders may
experience substantial dilution. If we fail to manage any expansions or acquisition, our business could be impaired.
We completed our acquisition of Solsys Medical, LLC in September 2019, which resulted in a significant increase in our revenues, the addition of
additional products and additions to our executive management team. Our future success will depend, in part, upon our ability to manage our expanded
business, including challenges related to the management and monitoring of new operations and associated increased costs and complexity. If we are not
able to continue the combination of Misonix and Solsys in an efficient and effective manner, the anticipated benefits may not be realized fully, or at all, or
may take longer to realize than expected, and the value of our common stock may be affected adversely. An inability to realize the full extent of the
anticipated benefits of the acquisition, as well as any delays encountered in the integration process, could have an adverse effect upon on our business,
financial condition, or results of operations.
Our agreements and contracts entered into with partners and other third parties may not be successful.
We signed in the past and may pursue in the future agreements and contracts with third parties to assist in our marketing, manufacturing, selling, and
distribution efforts. These agreements are made on a case-by-case basis after analyzing potential impact and benefit to our business. While we have entered
into such agreements and contracts in the past, and may pursue such agreements and contracts in the future, the performance of our partners and third
parties cannot be guaranteed. We cannot assure that any agreements or contracts entered into will be successful.
The fluctuation of our quarterly results may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.
Our revenues and results of operations have in the past varied, and likely will in the future vary, from quarter to quarter due to a number of factors, many of
which are outside of our control and any of which may cause our stock price to fluctuate. Reliance should not be made on quarter-to-quarter comparisons of
our results of operations as an indication of our future performance. It is likely that in some future quarters, our results of operations may be below the
expectations of public market analysts and investors focused on our performance. In this event, the price of our common stock may fall.
We may not be able to attract and retain additional key management, sales and marketing and technical personnel, or we may lose existing key
management, sales and marketing or technical personnel, which may delay our development and marketing efforts.
We depend on a number of key management, sales and marketing, and technical personnel. The loss of the services of one or more key employees could
delay the achievement of our development and marketing objectives. Our success will also depend on our ability to attract and retain additional highly
qualified management, sales and marketing and technical personnel to meet our growth goals. We face intense competition for qualified personnel, many of
whom are often subject to competing employment offers, and we do not know whether we will be able to attract and retain such personnel.
Future changes in financial accounting standards or practices or existing taxation rules or practices may cause adverse or unexpected revenue
fluctuations and affect our reported results of operations.
A change in accounting standards or practices or a change in existing taxation rules or practices can have a significant effect on our reported results and
may even affect our reporting of transactions completed before the change is effective. New accounting pronouncements and taxation rules and varying
interpretations of accounting pronouncements and taxation practice have occurred and may occur in the future. Changes to existing rules or the questioning
of current practices may adversely affect our reported financial results or the way we conduct our business.
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Risk of reprocessing disposables.
In some jurisdictions around the world, culture and practice encourages reuse of disposable products when the product is clearly labeled for single use.
Such reuse may expose us to liability in these jurisdictions.
Item 1B Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2 Properties
Our headquarters and primary manufacturing facility is located at 1938 New Highway, Farmingdale, New York. This location houses our corporate
functions, as well as the manufacturing of the Surgical operating segment products and to a lesser extent, some products in our Wound segment. We lease
approximately 34,400 square feet of this property pursuant to a lease expiring on March 31, 2021. Under the lease, we pay rent of approximately $29,000 a
month, which includes a pro rata share of real estate taxes, water, sewer and other charges which are assessed on the leased premises or the land upon
which the leased premises is situated.
We also occupy approximately 12,735 square feet of an office building at 600 Thimble Shoals Boulevard, Newport News, Virginia, which primarily houses
functions relating to our Wound segment. Monthly rent, which does not include our share of common expenses, utilities, and taxes, is approximately
$18,000 per month, with a 3% annual increase. The lease expires in December 2024 with two renewal option terms of three years each.
We believe that the leased facilities are adequate for our present needs.
Item 3 Legal Proceedings
FCPA Investigation
With the assistance of outside counsel, beginning in 2016 we conducted a voluntary investigation into the business practices of the independent Chinese
entity that previously distributed our products in China and our knowledge of those business practices, which may have had implications under the FCPA,
as well as into various internal control issues identified during the investigation. We did not identify any information through the investigation or otherwise
that suggests that our previously reported consolidated financial statements are incorrect. On September 27, 2016 and September 28, 2016, we voluntarily
contacted the SEC and the DOJ, respectively, to advise both agencies of these potential issues. Thereafter, we provided documents and information to, and
cooperated fully with, the SEC and the DOJ in their investigations of these matters.
On June 18, 2019, we received a letter from the Division of Enforcement of the SEC advising us that the SEC had concluded its investigation of us and
that, based on the information it had as of the date of the letter, it did not intend to recommend an enforcement action by the SEC against us. On August 14,
2019, we received a declination letter from the United States Department of Justice DOJ stating that the DOJ has closed its inquiry into us without any
action.
Former Litigation with Chinese Distributor
On March 23, 2017, our former distributor in China, Cicel (Beijing) Science & Technology Co., Ltd., filed a lawsuit against us and certain of our officers
and directors in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York. The complaint alleged that we improperly terminated our contract
with the former distributor. The complaint sought various remedies, including compensatory and punitive damages, specific performance and preliminary
and post judgment injunctive relief, and asserted various causes of action, including breach of contract, unfair competition, tortious interference with
contract, fraudulent inducement, and conversion. On October 7, 2017, the court granted our motion to dismiss each of the tort claims asserted against us,
and also granted the individual defendants’ motion to dismiss all claims asserted against them. On January 23, 2020, the Court granted Cicel’s motion to
amend its complaint, to include claims for alleged defamation and theft of trade secrets in addition to the breach of contract claim. We believe that we have
various legal and factual defenses to the allegations in the complaint and intend to defend the action vigorously. Fact discovery in the case is ongoing, and
there is no trial date currently set.
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Class Action Securities Litigation
On September 19, 2016, Richard Scalfani, an individual shareholder of Misonix, filed a lawsuit against the Company and its former chief executive officer
and chief financial officer in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York, alleging violations of the federal securities laws. The complaint
alleges that the Company’s stock price was artificially inflated between November 5, 2015 and September 14, 2016 as a result of alleged false and
misleading statements in the Company’s securities filings concerning the Company’s business, operations, and prospects and the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Scalfani filed the action seeking to represent a putative class of all persons (other than defendants, officers and directors of
the Company, and their affiliates) who purchased publicly traded Misonix securities between November 5, 2015 and September 14, 2016. Scalfani was
seeking an unspecified amount of damages for himself and for the putative class under the federal securities laws. On March 24, 2017, the Court appointed
Scalfani and another individual Misonix shareholder, Tracey Angiuoli, as lead plaintiffs for purposes of pursuing the action on behalf of the putative class.
The lead plaintiffs, on behalf of the putative class, and the Company reached a settlement in principle under which the Company would pay $500,000 to
resolve the matter. The district court approved the settlement and dismissed the lawsuit with prejudice in an order dated December 16, 2017. The Company
has paid its $250,000, representing its insurance retention. The balance was paid by the Company’s insurance carrier.
Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “MSON”.
As of June 30, 2020, we had 17,369,435 shares of common stock outstanding and 726 shareholders of record. This amount does not take into account
shareholders whose shares are held in “street name” by brokerage houses or other intermediaries.
We have not paid any cash dividends since our inception. We do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future, but intend to retain all
earnings, if any, for use in our business operations.
Item 6 Selected Financial Data
Not applicable.
Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview
We design, manufacture and market minimally invasive surgical ultrasonic medical devices. These products are used for precise bone sculpting,
removal of soft and hard tumors, and tissue debridement, primarily in the areas of neurosurgery, orthopedic surgery, plastic surgery, wound care and
maxillo-facial surgery. We also market, sell and distribute TheraSkin in the United States, through an agreement with LifeNet. TheraSkin is a biologically
active human skin allograft that has all of the relevant characteristics of human skin, including living cells, growth factors, and a collagen matrix, needed to
heal wounds which complements our ultrasonic medical devices. TheraSkin is derived from human skin tissue from consenting and highly screened donors
and is manufactured by LifeNet.
Through an agreement with CryoLife, we market and sell Therion in the United States. Therion is a skin allograft derived from human placental
membrane and is indicated for use as a cover and barrier for homologous use for wound care and surgical procedures.
We strive to help proprietary procedural solutions become the standard of care and enhance patient outcomes throughout the world. We intend to
accomplish this, in part, by utilizing our best in class surgical ultrasonic technology to change patient outcomes in spinal surgery, neurosurgery and wound
care. Our Nexus generator, which received U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, marketing clearance in June 2019 and CE mark clearance in July
2019 combines the capabilities of our three legacy ultrasonic products, namely BoneScalpel® Surgical System, SonaStar® Surgical Aspirator, and
SonicOne® Wound Cleansing and Debridement System, into a single system that can be used to perform soft and hard tissue resections.
In the United States, we sell our products through our direct sales force, in addition to a network of commissioned agents assisted by Misonix
personnel. Outside of the United States, we generally sell to distributors who then resell the products to hospitals. Our sales force operates as two groups,
Surgical (neurosurgery and spinal surgery) and Wound Care. We sell to all major markets in the Americas, Europe, Middle East, Asia Pacific, and Africa.
We operate with two business segments.
Acquisition of Solsys Medical, LLC
On September 27, 2019, we completed our acquisition of Solsys, a medical technology company focused on the regeneration and healing of soft-tissue
associated with chronic wounds and surgical procedures. Solsys’ primary product is TheraSkin, a living cell wound therapy indicated to treat all external
wounds from head-to-toe. The purchase price was approximately $108.6 million, representing 5,703,082 shares of Misonix common stock, valued at
$19.05 per share. In addition, business transaction costs incurred in connection with the acquisition were $4.5 million. Of these transaction costs, $3.1
million were charged to general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. and $1.4 million of the transaction costs were
capitalized to additional paid in capital, in connection with the registration of the underlying stock issued in the transaction. The results of operations of
Solsys are included in our Consolidated Statement of Operations beginning on September 27, 2019.
Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic
In March of 2020, the World Health Organization designated the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) as a global pandemic. In March of 2020, the
impact of COVID-19 and related actions to attempt to control its spread began to affect our consolidated operating results negatively. Principally beginning
in March 2020, year-over-year consolidated revenue trends began to rapidly and materially weaken. We expect consolidated revenue to continue to be
impacted negatively and materially in fiscal 2021 and for negative impacts to continue until COVID-19 and related economic conditions improve.
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As these events developed, we executed on our business continuity plans and our crisis management response to address the challenges related to the
COVID-19 pandemic. Since March, our headquarters remained open; however, most of our employees have been working from home, with only certain
essential employees not working remotely. For employees who are not working remotely, we have instituted social distancing protocols, increased the level
of cleaning and sanitizing in those sites, and undertaken other actions to make these sites safer. We have also substantially eliminated employee travel to
only essential business needs. We are generally following the requirements and protocols published by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and the World
Health Organization, and state and local governments. We cannot predict when or how we will begin to lift the actions put in place as part of our business
continuity plans, including work from home requirements and travel restrictions. As of the date of this filing, we do not believe our work from home
protocol has adversely affected our internal controls, financial reporting systems or our operations.
Our sales teams are focused on how to meet changing needs of our customers in this environment.
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have experienced a disruption to our global supply chain of our products and a decrease in sales due to a
decrease in elective surgical procedures. The ultimate effect of these disruptions, including the extent of their adverse effect on our financial and
operational results, will be impacted by the length of time that such disruptions continue, which will, in turn, depend on the currently unknown duration of
the COVID-19 pandemic and the impact of governmental regulations and other restrictions that might be imposed in response to the pandemic.
Due to these impacts and measures, we have experienced and may continue to experience significant and unpredictable reductions in the demand for
our products as healthcare customers divert medical resources and priorities towards the treatment of that disease. In addition, our customers may delay,
cancel, or redirect planned capital expenditures in order to focus resources on COVID-19 or in response to economic disruption related to COVID-19. For
example, as COVID-19 reached a global pandemic level in March through June 2020, we experienced a significant decline in procedure volume in the
U.S., as healthcare systems diverted resources to meet the increasing demands of managing COVID-19. In addition, the American College of Surgeons,
U.S. surgeon general, and other public health bodies have recommended at times delaying elective surgeries during the COVID-19 pandemic, and surgeons
and medical societies are evaluating the risks of minimally invasive surgeries in the presence of infectious diseases, which we expect will continue to
negatively impact the usage of our product.
Capital markets and worldwide economies have also been significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, and it is possible that it could cause a
local and/or global economic recession. Such economic recession could have a material adverse effect on our long-term business as hospitals and surgical
centers curtail and reduce capital and overall spending. The COVID-19 pandemic and local actions, such as “shelter-in-place” orders and restrictions on our
ability to travel and access our customers or temporary closures of our facilities or the facilities of our suppliers and their contract manufacturers, could
further significantly affect our sales and our ability to ship our products and supply our customers in a negative manner. Any of these events could
negatively affect the number of surgical procedures performed using our products and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows. The COVID-19 impact on the capital markets could reduce our ability and increase our cost to borrow under financing
arrangements. There are certain limitations on our ability to mitigate the adverse financial impact of these items, including the fixed costs of our businesses.
COVID-19 also makes it more challenging for management to estimate future performance of our businesses, particularly over the near to medium term.
As a response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, we have implemented plans to manage our costs. We implemented a hiring freeze, a temporary
reduction of base salaries for all staff with a title of director and above, implemented a reduction in personnel and significantly limited the addition of third
party contracted services, limited all travel except where necessary to meet customer or regulatory needs, and acted to limit discretionary spending. To the
extent the business disruption continues for an extended period, additional cost management actions will be considered.
We are closely monitoring the impact of COVID-19 on all aspects of our business and geographies, including its effect on our customers, employees,
suppliers, business partners and distribution channels. The extent to which the COVID-19 global pandemic impacts our business, results of operations, and
financial condition will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and are difficult to predict; these developments include, but are not
limited to, the duration and spread of the outbreak, its severity, the actions to contain the virus or address its impact, U.S. and foreign government actions to
respond to the reduction in global economic activity, and how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume. Even after
the COVID-19 outbreak has subsided, we may continue to experience materially adverse effects on our financial condition and results of operations. The
duration and severity of the resulting economic downturn and the broader effect that COVID-19 could have on our business, financial condition and
operating results, remains highly uncertain.
For more information, see “Item 1. Business- Impact of Covid-19 Pandemic” and “Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis provides information that our management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our results of
operations and financial condition. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing
elsewhere herein. Unless otherwise specified, this discussion relates solely to our continuing operations.
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Fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
Our revenues by segment for the two years ended June 30, 2020 are as follows:
For the years ended
June 30,
2020
2019
Total
Surgical
Wound
Total
Domestic:
Surgical
Wound
Total
International:
Surgical
Wound
Total

$
$

$
$

$
$

34,457,631
28,026,020
62,483,651

$

20,874,419
27,678,534
48,552,953

$

13,583,212
347,486
13,930,698

$

$

$

$

Net change
$

33,415,333
5,433,158
38,848,491

$

18,048,956
4,926,752
22,975,708

$

15,366,377
506,406
15,872,783

$

$

$

$

%

1,042,298
22,592,862
23,635,160

3.1%
415.8%
60.8%

2,825,463
22,751,782
25,577,245

15.7%
461.8%
111.3%

(1,783,165)
(158,920)
(1,942,085)

-11.6%
-31.4%
-12.2%

Revenues
Revenues increased 60.8% or $23.6 million to $62.5 million in fiscal 2020 from $38.8 million in fiscal 2019.
The revenue increase is principally attributable to the addition of $22.8 million of domestic wound product sales of TheraSkin resulting from the Solsys
acquisition, with no TheraSkin revenue in the prior year. Domestic surgical revenue increased 15.7% based on strength from our new product, Nexus, and
offset by the impacts of the COVID-19 virus.
International revenue, which is principally from the Surgical segment, decreased 12.2% in part due to the weakness resulting from the COVID-19 virus,
which affected international markets in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2020. Revenue from both domestic and international operations from June 30,
2020 through the date of this filing have continued to be affected negatively in different regions of the United States and around the world, as hospitals
have cancelled elective surgical procedures due to COVID-19. We are not currently able to predict when this trend will reverse.
Gross profit
The gross profit percentage on product sales was 70.0% in fiscal 2020, compared with 70.2% in fiscal 2019. The gross profit margin on TheraSkin sales is
about the same as our legacy products.
Selling expenses
Selling expenses increased by $21.8 million, or 119.3% to $40.2 million in fiscal 2020 from $18.3 million in fiscal 2019. The increase is primarily due to
our acquisition of Solsys on September 27, 2019. Additional factors impacting selling expenses include higher compensation costs, consulting, Nexus
product launch costs, travel related expenses resulting from the continued build out of our direct sales force, increased freight expense on higher sales, and
additional bad debt expense of $2.5 million, principally relating to the Company’s accounts receivable from China, offset by lower commissions to
distributors resulting from the transition of accounts from distributors to the direct sales force. Selling expenses were lower in our fourth quarter as a result
of our cost reduction efforts related to the COVID-19 virus.
General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses increased $6.1 million to $18.0 million in fiscal 2020 from $11.9 million in fiscal 2019. The increase is primarily due
to our acquisition of Solsys on September 27, 2019. In addition, during the second quarter of fiscal 2020, we recorded a $960,000 non-cash reserve relating
to a contract asset. This asset relates to future royalty payments from our Chinese distributor of SonaStar, which we believe will be uncollectible.
Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses increased by $0.4 million, or 10% to $4.9 million in fiscal 2020 from $4.5 million in the prior year period. Research
and development expenses increased as a result of our acquisition of Solsys on September 27, 2019, offset by a decrease in our Nexus development
expenses.
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Other expense
Other expense increased to $2.5 million in fiscal 2020 from other income of $0.1 million in fiscal 2019. The increase of $2.6 million is related to interest
expense, which is primarily due to new debt facilities relating to our acquisition of Solsys on September 27, 2019.
Income taxes
For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, we recorded an income tax expense (benefit) of $(4.5) million and $0.029 million, respectively. We
purchased Solsys Medical, LLC on September 27, 2019. The acquisition of Solsys resulted in the recognition of deferred tax liabilities of approximately
$4.6 million, which related primarily to intangible assets. Prior to the business combination, the Company had a full valuation allowance on its deferred tax
assets. The deferred tax liabilities generated from the business combination is netted against the Company’s pre-existing deferred tax assets. Consequently,
this resulted in a release of a cumulative $4.5 million of the pre-existing valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets and corresponding deferred tax
benefit.
The components of the tax provision are as follows:

Tax at federal statutory rates
State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Research credit
Permanent differences
Transaction Costs
Long-term Contracts
Valuation allowance
Solsys acquisition
Other

$

$

Year ended June 30,
2020
2019
(4,600,276) $
(1,541,883)
(482,344)
22,552
(112,468)
(186,761)
145,107
61,039
120,401
293,256
201,600
5,006,509
1,194,917
(4,575,507)
(16,173)
(4,498,578)

$

28,547

Liquidity and Capital Resources
General
Our liquidity position and capital requirements may be impacted by a number of factors, including the following:
●
●
●

our ability to generate revenue, including a potential decline in revenue resulting from COVID-19;
fluctuations in gross margins, operating expenses and net loss; and
fluctuations in working capital.

Our primary short-term capital needs, which are subject to change, include expenditures related to:
●
●
●

expansion of our sales, marketing and distribution activities;
expansion of our research and development activities; and
maintaining sufficient inventory to supply our sales volume.

Fiscal 2020
Working capital at June 30, 2020 was $47.4 million. For fiscal 2020, cash used in operations was $26.7 million, mainly due to our net loss of $17.4 million,
an increase in inventory of $10.9 million, an increase in accounts receivable of $1.8 million, and a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of
$1.0 million, offset by $4.7 million of non-cash expenses.
Cash provided by investing activities for fiscal 2020 was $5.1 million, primarily consisting of cash provided by the acquisition of Solsys of $5.5 million,
offset by the purchase of property, plant and equipment of $0.3 million and cash outflows from filing for additional patents of $0.1 million.
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Cash provided by financing activities was $51.7 million for fiscal 2020, primarily consisting of net cash of $32 million from an offering of our equity
securities, $1.4 million of transaction fees relating to the Solsys acquisition, and net long-term debt borrowings of $19.8 million, in addition to $1.2 million
in proceeds received from the exercise of stock options.
As of June 30, 2020, we had a cash balance of approximately $38 million. The COVID-19 global pandemic has negatively impacted the global economy,
disrupted consumer spending and created significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. As a result, we experienced a significant decline in
revenue since March 2020 and the pandemic has made it more challenging for management to estimate future performance of our businesses and liquidity
needs, particularly over the near to medium term. However, management currently believes that we have sufficient cash to finance operations for at least
the next 12 months following the issuance date of the consolidated financial statements included herein.
Fiscal 2019
As of June 30, 2019, the Company had a cash balance of approximately $7.8 million.
Working capital at June 30, 2019 was $13.5 million. For fiscal 2019, cash used in operations was $3.7 million, mainly due to the Company’s net loss of
$7.4 million and an increase in inventory of $3.2 million, offset by an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $3.1 million, and $4.0 million
of non-cash expenses.
Cash used in investing activities was $0.8 million, primarily consisting of the purchase of property, plant and equipment along with filing for additional
patents.
Cash provided by financing activities was $1.4 million for fiscal 2019, resulting from the exercise of stock options.
Financing Transactions
In connection with the consummation of our recent Solsys acquisitions and our efforts to strengthen our balance sheet, we undertook several financing
transactions in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. For a detailed description of these transactions please see the notes to our audited consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere herein.
On September 27, 2019, we entered into an amended and restated credit agreement, or (as amended and supplemented from time to time) the SWK Credit
Agreement, with SWK Holdings Corporation, or SWK, pursuant to a commitment letter whereby SWK (a) consented to the acquisition of Solsys and (b)
agreed to provide financing to us. Through the acquisition of Solsys, we became party to a $20.2 million note payable to SWK. The SWK credit facility
originally provided an additional $5.0 million in financing, totaling approximately $25.1 million and a maturity date of June 30, 2023. On December 23,
2019, the parties amended the SWK Credit Agreement to, among other things, provide an additional $5 million of term loans, for total aggregate
borrowings of up to approximately $30.1 million. The maturity date of the Amended SWK Credit Agreement remains June 30, 2023. On June 30, the
parties amended the SWK Credit Agreement, (as so amended, the “Amended SWK Credit Agreement”) to modify the minimum aggregate revenue and
minimum EBITDA financial covenants thereunder. The modified terms under the Amended SWK Credit Agreement reduce the minimum aggregate
revenue requirements through December 31, 2021 and reduce the minimum EBITDA requirements through June 30, 2021. As of June 30, 2020, the
outstanding principal balance of the term loans under the Amended SWK Credit Agreement is approximately $30.1 million.
Through the acquisition of Solsys, we also became party to a $5.0 million revolving line of credit loan agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, originally
effective January 22, 2019, or (as amended and supplemented from time to time) the Prior Solsys Credit Agreement. The line of credit had an original
maturity date of January 22, 2021. On December 26, 2019, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement, or (as amended and supplemented from time to
time) the New Loan and Security Agreement, among us and our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Misonix OpCo, Inc. and Solsys, as borrowers, and Silicon
Valley Bank. The New Loan and Security Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility, or the New Credit Facility, in an aggregate principal amount
of up to $20.0 million, including borrowings and letters of credit. The New Loan and Security Agreement replaces the $5.0 million Prior Solsys Credit
Agreement. We did not incur any early termination penalties in connection with the termination of the Prior Solsys Credit Agreement.
On June 30, the parties amended the New Loan and Security Agreement (as so amended, the “Amended SVB Loan Agreement”) to modify the minimum
aggregate revenue and minimum EBITDA financial covenants thereunder. The Second SVB Modification reduces the minimum aggregate revenue
requirements through December 31, 2021 and reduces the minimum EBITDA requirements through June 30, 2021.
Borrowings under the New Credit Facility were used in part to repay the amount of $3.75 million outstanding under the Prior Solsys Credit Agreement, and
the balance may be used by the Company for general corporate purposes and working capital. The New Credit Facility matures on December 26, 2022. As
of June 30, 2020, the outstanding principal balance of the New Credit Facility is $8.4 million.
On January 27, 2020, we completed an underwritten public offering of 1,868,750 shares of our common stock at a price to the public of $18.50 per share.
The gross proceeds of the offering were $34.6 million. We intend to use the proceeds of the offering for general corporate purposes, which may include
investment in sales and marketing initiatives and funding growth opportunities such as collaborations and acquisitions of complementary products or
technologies.
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On April 5, 2020, we applied for an unsecured $5.2 million loan under the Paycheck Protection Program, or the PPP Loan. The Paycheck Protection
Program, or PPP, was established under the recently congressionally approved Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or the CARES Act,
and is administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration. On April 10, 2020, the PPP loan was approved and funded. We entered into a promissory
note with JP Morgan Chase evidencing the unsecured $5.2 million loan. The promissory note has a maturity date of April 4, 2022 and accrues interest at an
annual rate of 0.98%. The promissory note evidencing the PPP Loan contains customary events of default relating to, among other things, payment defaults
and provisions of the promissory note. In accordance with the requirements of the CARES Act, we used the proceeds from the PPP Loan primarily for
payroll costs.
Commitments
We have commitments under operating leases that we plan to fund from operating sources. At June 30, 2020, our contractual cash obligations and
commitments relating to operating leases and other purchase commitments are as follows:

Commitment
Long-term debt
Operating leases
Purchase commitments

Less than
1 year
$ 5,099,744
519,174
4,460,083
$ 10,079,001

1-3 years
$ 38,595,505
742,008
$ 39,337,513

After
5 years

4-5 years
$

$

115,067
115,067

$

$

-

Total
$ 43,695,249
1,376,249
4,460,083
$ 49,531,581

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in
financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to us.
Other
In the opinion of our management, inflation has not had a material effect on our operations.
Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses. Significant estimates affecting amounts reported or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements include
net realizable value of inventories, valuation of intangible assets including amortization periods for acquired intangible assets, estimates of projected cash
flows and discount rates used to value intangible assets and test goodwill and intangible assets for impairment, computation of valuation allowances
recorded against deferred tax assets, and valuation of stock-based compensation. These estimates are based on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the current circumstances. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
We believe that the following accounting policies, which form the basis for developing these estimates, are those that are most critical to the presentation of
our consolidated financial statements and require the more difficult subjective and complex judgments.
Revenue Recognition
We satisfy performance obligations either over time, or at a point in time, upon which control transfers to the customer.
Revenue derived from the shipping and billing of product is recorded upon shipment, when transfer of control occurs for products shipped freight on board,
or F.O.B., shipping point. Products shipped F.O.B. destination point are recorded as revenue when received at the point of destination when the transfer of
control is completed. Shipments under agreements with distributors are not subject to return, and distributor payments to us are not contingent on sales of
our products by the distributor. Accordingly, we recognize revenue on shipments to distributors in the same manner as with other customers under the ship
and bill process.
Revenue derived from the rental of equipment is recorded on a monthly basis over the term of the lease. Shipments of consumable products to these rental
customers is recorded as orders are received and shipments are made F.O.B. destination or F.O.B. shipping point.
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Revenue derived from consignment agreements is earned as consumables product orders are fulfilled using the right to invoice practical expedient.
Therefore, revenue is recognized as control passes to the customer, which is typically when shipments are made F.O.B shipping point or F.O.B destination.
Revenue derived from service and maintenance contracts is recognized evenly over the life of the service agreement as the services are performed.
Inventories
Inventories, consisting of purchased materials, direct labor and manufacturing overhead, are stated at the lower of cost (determined by the first-in, first-out
method) or net realizable value. At each balance sheet date, we evaluate ending inventories for excess quantities and obsolescence. Our evaluation includes
an analysis of historical sales levels by product, projections of future demand by product, the risk of technological or competitive obsolescence for our
products, general market conditions, and the feasibility of reworking or using excess or obsolete products or components in the production or assembly of
other products that are not obsolete or for which we do not have excess quantities in inventory. To the extent that we determine there are excess or obsolete
quantities or quantities on hand, we adjust their carrying value to estimated net realizable value. If future demand or market conditions are lower than our
projections, or if we are unable to rework excess or obsolete quantities into other products, we may record further adjustments to the carrying value of
inventory through a charge to cost of product revenues in the period the revision is made.
Purchase Price Accounting
The allocation of the purchase price for business combinations requires management estimates and judgment as to expectations for future cash flows of the
acquired business and the allocation of those cash flows to identifiable intangible assets in determining the estimated fair value for purchase price allocation
purposes. If the actual results differ from the estimates and judgments used in these estimates, the amounts recorded in the consolidated financial statements
could result in a possible impairment of the intangible assets and goodwill or require acceleration of the amortization expense of finite-lived intangible
assets. In addition, accounting guidance requires that goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets be tested at least annually for impairment. If
circumstances or events prior to the date of the required annual assessment indicate that, in management’s judgment, it is more likely than not that there has
been a reduction of fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value, the Company performs an impairment analysis at the time of such circumstance
or event. Changes in management’s estimates or judgments could result in an impairment charge, and such a charge could have an adverse effect on the
Company’s financial condition and results of operations.
Goodwill
The excess of the cost over the fair value of net assets of acquired businesses is recorded as goodwill. In connection with the acquisition of Solsys, the
Company recorded $106.6 million of Goodwill as of June 30, 2020, $12.7 million of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The Goodwill
recognized from the Solsys acquisition represents the excess of the purchase price over aggregate fair value of net assets acquired and is related to the
benefits expected as a result of the acquisition, including sales, and a stronger portfolio of Wound solutions that will drive growth in the wound care
market. Our Goodwill balance as of each reporting period by segment, includes:
Surgical
Balance as of June 30, 2018

$

Goodwill (gross)
Accumulated impairment losses
Balance as of June 30, 2019
Acquisition of Solsys
Purchase price accounting adjustments
Goodwill (gross)

1,701,094

$

1,701,094

$

$

-

$

1,701,094
$

1,701,094

Total
-

$

-

$

Accumulated impairment losses
Balance as of June 30, 2020

Wound

108,833,165
(2,223,909)
106,609,256

$
$

$

106,609,256

1,701,094

1,701,094
108,833,165
(2,223,909)
108,310,350
-

$

108,310,350

Goodwill is not subject to amortization but is reviewed for impairment at the reporting unit level annually, or more frequently if impairment indicators
arise. Our assessment of the recoverability of goodwill is based upon a comparison of the carrying value of goodwill with its estimated fair value and the
value of the Company at the measurement date.
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We performed our annual impairment test as of March 31 and concluded there was no impairment to goodwill. As of March 31, 2020, the fair value of the
Wound and Surgical reporting units exceeded their carrying values by more than 10%. The fair values of the Company’s reporting units were estimated
considering both the market approach and the income approach. The Market approach provides an indication of value based on a comparison to recent
sales. The income approach is based upon the estimated future income streams associated with each reporting unit. Application of these impairment tests
requires significant judgments, including estimation of cash flows, which is dependent on internal forecasts, estimation of the long-term rate of growth for
our businesses, the useful lives over which cash flows will occur and determination of our weighted average cost of capital. If actual results are not
consistent with management’s estimate and assumptions, a material impairment charge of Goodwill could occur, which would have a material adverse
effect on our consolidated financial statements.
There were no triggering events in the fourth quarter 2020 that would cause the Company to re-evaluate its impairment analysis.
Income Taxes
We assess whether a valuation allowance should be established against our deferred tax assets based on consideration of all available evidence, both
positive and negative, using a more likely than not standard. This assessment considers, among other matters, the nature, frequency and severity of recent
losses; a forecast of future profitability; the duration of statutory carryback and carryforward periods; our experience with tax attributes expiring unused;
and tax planning alternatives. The likelihood that the deferred tax asset balance will be recovered from future taxable income is assessed at least quarterly,
and the valuation allowance, if any, is adjusted accordingly.
Loss Contingencies
We are subject to claims and lawsuits in the ordinary course of our business, including claims by employees or former employees, with respect to our
products and involving commercial disputes, or shareholder actions. We accrue for loss contingencies when it is deemed probable that a loss has been
incurred and that loss is estimable. The amounts accrued are based on the full amount of the estimated loss before considering insurance proceeds, if
applicable, and do not include an estimate for legal fees expected to be incurred in connection with the loss contingency. Our consolidated financial
statements do not reflect any material amounts related to possible unfavorable outcomes of claims and lawsuits to which we are currently a party because
we currently believe that such claims and lawsuits are not expected to result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition. However, it is possible
that these contingencies could materially affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows in a particular period if we change our
assessment of the likely outcome of these matters.
Stock-Based Compensation
We recognize compensation expense associated with the issuance of equity instruments to employees for their services. Based on the type of equity
instrument, the fair value is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, is expensed in the consolidated financial
statements over the service period and is recorded in general and administrative expenses. The input assumptions used in determining fair value are the
expected life, expected volatility, risk-free rate and expected dividend yield.
On December 15, 2016, we issued 400,000 shares of restricted stock to our Chief Executive Officer. These awards vest over a period of up to five years,
subject to meeting certain service, performance, and market conditions. We valued these awards using a Monte Carlo valuation model, which required the
use of various estimates in arriving at the valuation of the awards. The valuation included the estimate of the probability of achieving the performance
criteria, which included minimum levels of Company stock price and revenue. If the stock price and performance conditions are not met, some or all of
these awards will not vest and compensation cost recorded, if any, could be reversed.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit
Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instrument (“ASU 2016-13”). ASU 2016-13 replaces the incurred loss impairment
methodology in current U.S. GAAP with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and
supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. ASU 2016-13 is effective for SEC small business filers for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2022. Management is currently assessing the impact that ASU 2016-13 will have on the Company.
There are no other recently issued accounting pronouncements that are expected to have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), and has since issued amendments thereto, related to the accounting for leases
(collectively referred to as “ASC 842”). ASC 842 establishes a right-of-use (“ROU”) model that requires a lessee to record a ROU asset and a lease liability
on the consolidated balance sheet for all long-term leases. Leases will be classified as either financing or operating, with classification affecting the pattern
of expense recognition and classification in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The Company adopted ASC 842 on July 1, 2019. A modified
retrospective transition approach is required for lessees for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented in the consolidated financial statements, with certain practical expedients available. Entities have the option to continue to
apply historical accounting under Topic 840, including its disclosure requirements, in comparative periods presented in the year of adoption. An entity that
elects this option recognizes a cumulative effect adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated deficit in the period of adoption instead of the earliest
period presented. We adopted the optional ASC 842 transition provisions beginning on July 1, 2019. Accordingly, we will continue to apply Topic 840
prior to July 1, 2019, including Topic 840 disclosure requirements, in the comparative periods presented. We elected the package of practical expedients for
all its leases that commenced before July 1, 2019. We have evaluated our real estate lease, copier leases and generator rental agreements. The adoption of
ASC 842 did not materially affect our consolidated balance sheet and had an immaterial impact on our results of operations. Based on our current
agreements, upon the adoption of ASC 842 on July 1, 2019, we recorded an operating lease liability of approximately $436,000 and corresponding ROU
assets based on the present value of the remaining minimum rental payments associated with our leases. As our leases do not provide an implicit rate, nor is
one readily available, we used our incremental borrowing rate of 10.5% based on information available at July 1, 2019 to determine the present value of its
future minimum rental payments.
In May 2014, the FASB, issued ASC Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which was subsequently updated (“ASU
2014-09”). The purpose of the updated standard is to provide enhancements to the quality and consistency of revenue recognition between companies using
U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards. The new five-step recognition model introduces the core principle of recognizing revenue in
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for the promised goods or services, which includes
additional footnote disclosures to describe the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue, certain costs and cash flow arising from customers. As
amended, ASU 2014-09 requires us to use either of the following transition methods: (i) a full retrospective approach reflecting the application of the
standard in each prior reporting period with the option to elect certain practical expedients; or (ii) a modified retrospective approach with the cumulative
effect of initially adopting ASU 2014-09 recognized at the date of adoption. This standard became effective for us on July 1, 2018 and we adopted the new
pronouncement using the modified retrospective method.
Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Market Risk:
The principal market risks (i.e., the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices) to which we are exposed are interest rates on cash
and certain items in inventory.
Interest Rate Risk:
We earn interest on cash balances. In light of our existing cash, results of operations and projected borrowing requirements, we do not believe that a 10%
change in interest rates would have a significant impact on our consolidated financial position.
Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Our reports from our independent registered public accounting firms and consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index are filed as
part of this Annual Report. See “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” on page F-1 below.
Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.
Item 9A Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) that are designed to provide
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
All internal control systems, no matter how well designed and tested, have inherent limitations, including, among other things, the possibility of human
error, circumvention or disregard. Therefore, even those systems of internal control that have been determined to be effective can provide only reasonable
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2020. Based on that evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this annual report, were effective to provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed by is in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within
the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:
●

pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposition of our assets;

●

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of our management and directors; and

●

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that
could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
On September 27, 2019, we completed our acquisition of Solsys. We are in the process of evaluating the existing controls and procedures of Solsys and
finalizing its integration into our internal control over financial reporting. In accordance with SEC Staff guidance permitting a company to exclude an
acquired business from management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting for the year in which the acquisition is
completed, we have excluded the business we have acquired from our assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of June
30, 2020. The scope of management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as
of June 30, 2020 includes all of the Company’s consolidated operations except for those disclosure controls and procedures of Solsys that are subsumed by
internal control over financial reporting.
Management assessed the effectiveness of Misonix, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2020. In making this assessment,
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment, management determined that Misonix, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of June 30, 2020.
Remediation of Previous Material Weaknesses in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 and subsequent quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2019 disclosed and described in detail material weaknesses in internal control with respect to a keypunch error
related to an invoice. A material weakness (as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal
control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company’s annual or interim consolidated
financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
As a result, these foregoing prior reports contained conclusions by our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer that our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting were not effective, as of the respective dates of such prior reports. As further described in the prior
reports, we have implemented a series of remedial actions to address these control deficiencies. We have since successfully completed the testing of these
remediated controls and our conclusions with respect to disclosure controls and procedures and internal control at June 30, 2020 are provided above.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Other than the remediation of the material weakness in internal control described above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial
reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fourth fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2020 that
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B Other Information
None.
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PART III
Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The Company currently has five Directors (the “Board”). Their term expires at the next Annual Meeting of Shareholders. The following table contains
information regarding all Directors and executive officers of the Company as of September 3, 2020:
Name

Age

Principal Occupation

Director Since

Paul LaViolette

62

Director

2019

Michael Koby

47

Director

2019

Thomas M. Patton

56

Director

2015

Gwendolyn A. Watanabe

49

Director

2018

Stavros G. Vizirgianakis

49

Chief Executive Officer and Director

2013

Allan Staley

60

President

-

Joseph P. Dwyer

64

Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary

-

Sharon W. Klugewicz

52

Chief Operating Officer

-

Robert S. Ludekcer

52

Senior Vice President of Sales - Surgical

-

Linwood Staub

58

Senior Vice President of Sales - Wound

-

Principal Occupations and Business Experience of Directors and Executive Officers
The following is a brief account of the business experience of the Company’s Directors and executive officers:
Directors
Mr. Paul LaViolette joined SV Health Investors, a leading life sciences growth equity and venture capital firm, in 2009, has served as its Managing Partner
since 2014 and is responsible for the investment of SV’s Medtech Convergence Fund. Mr. LaViolette currently serves as Chairman of the Board of a public
company, TransEnterix, Inc., a surgical robotics company, serves on the board of directors of Edwards Lifesciences, Inc., a publicly traded medical device
company focused on structural heart disease, as well as critical care and surgical monitoring, and continues to serve on the board of directors of several
other early and growth stage private medical device companies. Additionally, Mr. LaViolette has served as a director of the Medical Device Manufacturers
Association for the past decade and as Vice Chairman of the Innovation Advisory Board for the Partners Health System for the past five years. Prior to
joining SV Health Investors, Mr. LaViolette spent nearly three decades building and leading medical device businesses. From 1994 to 2008, Mr. LaViolette
served in several roles at Boston Scientific Corporation including President of Cardiology and International, Group President of Cardiovascular and
Endosurgery, and Chief Operating Officer. Prior to joining Boston Scientific Corporation, Mr. LaViolette served in general management and commercial
leadership roles at C.R. Bard from 1984 to 1993 and at Kendall (Medtronic) from 1980 to 1984. Mr. LaViolette holds an MBA from Boston College and a
B.A. in Psychology from Fairfield University. The Board believes Mr. LaViolette’s industry knowledge and executive leadership experience qualify him to
serve as a Director.
Mr. Michael Koby co-founded 1315 Capital in 2014 and currently serves as its Founding Partner. Prior to founding 1315 Capital, Mr. Koby was a
Managing Director of Palm Ventures, a private-equity focused family office, where Mr. Koby led all healthcare investing from 2010 to 2014. Prior to that,
Mr. Koby was an investor at Galen Partners, a healthcare growth equity investment firm, from 1997 to 1999 and from 2004 to 2010. Mr. Koby also served
in business development roles with Novoste Corporation and Medtronic, Inc. between 1999 and 2002 and as a healthcare investment banking analyst at
Dillon, Read & Co. from 1995 to 1997. Mr. Koby holds an MBA in Healthcare Management from The Wharton School and a B.S. from Cornell University.
The Board believes Mr. Koby’s industry knowledge and financial experience and expertise qualify him to serve as a Director and as a financial expert for
the Audit Committee.
Mr. Thomas M. Patton has served in various senior leadership roles for companies in the medical device industry for over 20 years. Mr. Patton has served
as the Chief Executive Officer, since August 2019, and a member of the board of directors, since July of 2019, of Ximedica, Inc. a privately held contract
research and development company. Mr. Patton previously served as President and Chief Executive Officer of CAS Medical Systems, Inc. from 2010 until
April 2019, and served on its Board of Directors from August 2010 until April 2019. He also served as the CEO of Wright Medical Group, an orthopedic
device company, located in Memphis, Tennessee, and as President of Novametrix Medical Systems, a patient-monitoring company, located in Wallingford,
Connecticut. From 2003 to 2010, Mr. Patton acted as an advisor to the healthcare-focused private equity group of Ferrer Freeman & Company and, in that
capacity, served as the interim CEO of Informed Medical Communications on a part-time basis in 2006 and 2007. Mr. Patton was a co-founder and CEO of
QDx, Inc., a start-up company that developed a platform for hematology diagnostics beginning in 2003 until its sale to Abbott Laboratories. Mr. Patton
attended The College of the Holy Cross, where he majored in Economics and Accounting. After graduating magna cum laude from Georgetown University
Law Center, Mr. Patton worked at the law firm of Williams & Connolly in Washington, D.C. Thereafter, he joined Wright Medical Group as its General
Counsel where he served in various executive roles until being appointed CEO. The Board believes Mr. Patton’s industry knowledge, current and prior
experience as a CEO and financial acumen and experience qualify him to serve as a director.
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Mr. Stavros G. Vizirgianakis became our Interim Chief Executive Officer in September 2016 and our full-time President and Chief Executive Officer in
December 2016. Mr. Vizirgianakis has a distinguished career in the medical devices field having worked for United States Surgical Corporation as director
of sales for sub-Saharan Africa and later Tyco Healthcare in the capacity of General Manager South Africa. In 2006, Mr. Vizirgianakis co-founded Surgical
Innovations, which has become one of the largest privately owned medical device distributors in the African region, and now part of the Johannesburg
Stock Exchange listed entity Ascendis Health. In that capacity, Mr. Vizirgianakis acted as a distributor of the Company’s products. Mr. Vizirgianakis was
Managing Director of Ascendis Medical from January 2014 through July 2016. Mr. Vizirgianakis also served on the board of Tenaxis Medical and is a
strategic investor in and advisor to numerous medical device startups and established companies in this field. Mr. Vizirgianakis has a degree in commerce
from the University of South Africa. The Board believes Mr. Vizirgianakis’ industry knowledge, sales and marketing experience and his international
business relationships qualify him to serve as a Director.
Ms. Gwendolyn A. Watanabe has over 25 years of financial and executive management experience in the medical device industry. Ms. Watanabe presently
serves as the Vice President, Global Corporate Development and Strategy for Teleflex Incorporated, a publicly traded global provider of medical
technology products, reporting to Teleflex’s Chief Executive Officer. She has led the Teleflex Global Corporate Development & Strategy team since 2013,
specifically on strategic mergers & acquisitions. She also leads global strategic relationships for Teleflex. From July 2012 to July 2013, Ms. Watanabe
served as Vice President of the Hotspur line of business for Teleflex’s Cardiac Care Division. Ms. Watanabe joined Teleflex in July 2012 as a result of
Teleflex’s acquisition of Hotspur Technologies, Inc. She served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Hotspur since 2009. Prior to this, she also
served as a founding team member at Nellix Endovascular, Bacchus Vascular and AneuRx, all three of which were medical device start-up companies that
were acquired. In addition, Gwen has been general partner of three venture funds and other private equity entities. Ms. Watanabe formerly served on the
Board of Directors of Hotspur Technologies (acquired by Teleflex), NovaSom (still privately held) and Practice Fusion (acquired by Allscripts). She holds
an M.S. in Mechanical Engineering from Stanford University in the Design Division with an emphasis on Biomechanical Design, as well as an MBA from
Harvard Business School with a focus on Finance and Marketing. She also holds a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from Massachusetts Institute of
Technology where she simultaneously completed her pre-med requirements. The Board believes Ms. Watanabe’s executive experience, industry knowledge
and technical background qualifies her to serve as a director.
Executive Officers who are not Directors
Allan Staley has served at Misonix’s President since September 2019. He co-founded Solsys Medical LLC in 1999 and served as its Chief Executive
Officer from May 2015 to September 2019, when we acquired Solsys. From 2007 through May 2015, Mr. Staley served as the President of Solsys and ran
its day-to-day operations, including managing reports for sales, marketing, finance, quality and market access. Mr. Staley created Solsys’ business
relationship with LifeNet in 2010 to market and distribute TheraSkin and led the reimbursement strategy, and its tactical execution, to secure broad
reimbursement coverage for TheraSkin. Prior to 2007, Mr. Staley was a business attorney for 21 years. Mr. Staley received his J.D. from the MarshallWythe School of Law at the College of William & Mary and his B.S. from Randolph-Macon College.
Joseph P. Dwyer has served as our Chief Financial Officer since August 2017 and as our Treasurer and Secretary since September 2017, and previously
served as Interim Chief Financial Officer from September 2016 to August 2017. From June 2015 to the present, Mr. Dwyer has provided financial
consulting and advisory services to various companies, through the firms Dwyer Holdings and TechCXO. Prior thereto, from November 2012 until June
2015, he was Chief Financial Officer of Virtual Piggy, Inc., a publicly-traded technology company. Prior to joining Virtual Piggy, Mr. Dwyer served as
chief financial officer of OpenLink Financial, Inc., a privately held company, which provides software solutions for trading and risk management in the
energy, commodity, and capital markets. During 2011 and 2012, Mr. Dwyer was a member of the board of directors and chairman of the audit committee
and served as interim chief administrative officer of Energy Solutions International, Inc., a privately-held company providing pipeline management
software to energy companies and pipeline operators. From 2010 through 2011, Mr. Dwyer served as chief administrative officer of Capstone Advisory
Group, LLC, a privately-held financial advisory firm providing corporate restructuring, litigation support, forensic accounting, expert testimony and
valuation services. Mr. Dwyer served as a consultant to Verint Systems, Inc., a software company listed on the NASDAQ Global Market, from 2009
through 2010, assisting with SEC reporting and compliance. From 2005 through 2009, Mr. Dwyer served as chief financial officer and executive vice
president of AXS-One Inc., a publicly traded software company. During 2004, Mr. Dwyer served as chief financial officer of Synergen, Inc., a privately
held software company providing energy technology to utilities. Prior to 2004, Mr. Dwyer also served as chief financial officer and executive vice president
of Caminus Corporation, an enterprise application software company that was formerly listed on the NASDAQ National Market, chief financial officer of
ACTV, Inc., a digital media company that was formerly listed on the NASDAQ National Market, and chief financial officer of Winstar Global Products,
Inc., a manufacturer and distributor of hair care, bath and beauty products until its acquisition by Winstar Communications, Inc. in 1995 when Mr. Dwyer
went on to serve as senior vice president, finance of Winstar Communications. Mr. Dwyer received his BBA in Accounting from the University of Notre
Dame in 1978 and is licensed as a Certified Public Accountant in the State of New York.
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Sharon W. Klugewicz became Chief Operating Officer in March 2019. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Klugewicz served from July 2018 to February
2019 as Chief Quality & Regulatory Affairs Officer for Chembio Diagnostic Systems, Inc. (“Chembio”), a manufacturer of diagnostic tests for infectious
diseases. Prior to her role as Chief Quality & Regulatory Affairs Officer, Ms. Klugewicz served in various roles for Chembio, including President,
Americas Region from September 2016 to June 2018, acting CEO from May 2017 to October 2017, Chief Operating Officer from May 2013 to August
2016 and Vice President, QA/QC/Technical Operations until April 2013. Prior to joining Chembio in September 2012, Ms. Klugewicz, held a number of
executive positions at Pall Corporation, a world leader in filtration, separation and purification technologies, over her 21-year tenure there, including Sr.
VP, Scientific & Laboratory Services, Sr. VP, Global Quality Operations in the Pall Life Sciences Division, as well as in Marketing Product Management,
and Field Technical Services. Ms. Klugewicz holds an M.S. in Biochemistry from Adelphi University and a B.S. in Neurobiology from Stony Brook
University.
Robert S. Ludecker became Senior Vice President of Global Sales and Marketing in May 2015. Prior to joining the Company as Global Vice President of
Sales and Marketing in May 2013, Mr. Ludecker served from February 2011 to May 2013 as Vice President of Global Sales and Marketing for BioMimetic
Therapeutics, a NASDAQ-listed biotechnology company, specializing in the development and commercialization of products which promote the healing of
musculoskeletal injury and diseases, including orthopedic, spine, and sports medicine applications. Prior to BioMimetic, Mr. Ludecker served from
February 2008 to February 2011 in a variety of senior sales and marketing leadership positions with Small Bone Innovations, a private New York Citybased orthopedic company specializing in small bones, and Smith and Nephew, a leading U.K.-based global provider of orthopedic reconstruction implants
and a broad portfolio of medical instruments and supplies. Mr. Ludecker holds a B.A. degree from Kenyon College.
Linwood “Woody” Staub has served as Misonix’s Senior Vice President of Sales since Misonix acquired Solsys Medical LLC in September 2019. From
2015 to 2019, Mr. Staub served as President and COO of Solsys Medical, LLC. Mr. Staub has 25 years of experience in the medical device industry. Mr.
Staub has served as President of CMJ Medical, VP General Manager for the Johnson & Johnson Medical Devices Companies wound management group
for Europe, Middle East and Africa, General Manager of the Indigo urology effort in Asia-Pacific, VP Sales and Marketing for the Women’s Health and
Urology (old Gynecare) division, and global President for KCI’s V.A.C. division with over $1 billion in sales. As president of CMJ Medical, he headed a
sports medicine distributorship with over $50 million in sales and 52 sales representatives across the Mid-Atlantic region. Woody graduated from Randolph
Macon College in 1984 with a degree in Economics and has a Fellowship degree from Wharton in Hospital CEO Management.
Executive officers are elected annually by, and serve at the discretion of, the Board.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers, directors and persons who own more than 10% of a registered class of the Company’s
equity securities (“Reporting Persons”) to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership on Forms 3, 4, and 5 with the SEC. These Reporting Persons
are required by SEC regulation to furnish us with copies of all Forms 3, 4 and 5 they file with the SEC. Based solely on our review of the copies of the
forms we have received, we believe that all Reporting Persons, complied on a timely basis with all filing requirements applicable to them with respect to
transactions during fiscal year 2020.
Code of Ethics
We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to all of our directors, officers (including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Controller and
any person performing similar functions) and employees. We have made the Code of Ethics available on our website at www.misonix.com.
Nomination of Directors
The process followed by the Nominating and Governance Committee to identify and evaluate director candidates includes requests to the members of our
Board and others for recommendations, meetings to evaluate biographical information and background material relating to potential candidates and
interviews of selected candidates by members of the Nominating and Governance Committee and our Board.
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In recommending candidates to the Board for nomination as directors, the Nominating and Governance Committee strives to identify individuals who bring
a unique perspective to our leadership and contribute to the overall diversity of our Board. Although the Nominating and Governance Committee has not
adopted a specific written diversity policy for nominations, we believe that a diversity of experience, gender, race, ethnicity and age contributes to effective
governance for the benefit of our stockholders. In practice, the Nominating and Governance Committee considers such characteristics together with the
other qualities considered necessary by the Nominating and Governance Committee, such as requisite judgment, skill, integrity and experience, including
experience in industries beyond healthcare. The Nominating and Governance Committee does not assign a particular weight to these individual factors.
Rather, the Nominating and Governance Committee looks for a mix of factors that, when considered along with the experience and credentials of the other
candidates and existing directors, will provide stockholders with a diverse and experienced Board.
Our Board does not currently prescribe any minimum qualifications for director candidates; however, the Nominating and Governance Committee will take
into account a potential candidate’s experience, areas of expertise and other factors relevant to the overall composition of our board of directors.
Our bylaws provide that nominations by stockholders of persons for election to the Board may be made by giving adequate notice to the Corporate
Secretary of the Company. The Nominating and Governance Committee of the Board will consider persons properly nominated by stockholders and
recommend to the full Board whether any such nominees should be included with the Board’s nominees for election by stockholders. The Nominating and
Governance Committee will evaluate properly nominated stockholder-recommended candidates by following substantially the same process, and applying
substantially the same criteria, as it follows for candidates submitted by others. To be adequate, the nomination notice must set forth certain information
specified in our bylaws about each stockholder submitting a nomination and each person being nominated. Our bylaws are available in our SEC filings
which can be accessed on our website at www.misonix.com under the “Investors Relations” tab and will be provided to any stockholder upon written
request to Misonix, Inc., 1938 New Highway, Farmingdale, New York 11735, Attn: Corporate Secretary. A stockholder is not entitled to have its nominees
included in our proxy statement solely as a result of such stockholder’s compliance with the foregoing provisions. If a stockholder does not appear at the
annual meeting to present its nomination in person, such nomination will be disregarded (notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such nomination may
have been solicited, obtained or delivered).
Audit Committee
The Company has a separately designated standing Audit Committee. The members of the committee are Messrs. Patton, Koby and Ms. Watanabe. Mr.
Patton chairs the committee. Each current member of the committee, and each member who served during the 2020 fiscal year, is independent as defined in
Rule 10A-3 of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the listing standards of Nasdaq. The Board of Directors has determined that Messrs. Patton
and Koby each qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” as that term is defined in Regulation S-K of the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Item 11 Executive Compensation
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
As a smaller reporting company, the Company is not required under Item 402 to include a fulsome Compensation Discussion and Analysis; however, the
Company has chosen to voluntarily include the following overview of our compensation programs and policies.
Named Executive Officers
The following discussion is focused primarily on the Company’s compensation philosophy, policies and programs as they relate to, and amounts paid or
payable to, our executive officers for their services during 2020. Our “named executive officers” or the “NEOs” consist of the following individuals:
Name

Age

Position(s)

Stavros G. Vizirgianakis

49

Chief Executive Officer and Director

Joseph P. Dwyer

64

Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary

Allan Staley

60

President

Overview of Compensation Program and Philosophy
Our compensation program is intended to:
●

Attract, motivate, retain and reward employees of outstanding ability;

●

Link changes in employee compensation to individual and corporate performance; and

●

Align employees’ interests with those of the Company’s stockholders.
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The ultimate objective of our compensation program is to increase stockholder value. We seek to achieve these objectives with a total compensation
approach which takes into account a competitive base salary, bonus pay based on the annual performance of the Company and individual goals and stock
option awards.
The Board’s Compensation Committee, which is composed solely of independent directors and is responsible for making decisions regarding the amount
and form of compensation paid to our executive officers, has carefully considered the results of prior say-on-pay stockholder votes. Based upon the vote
results at the most recent annual stockholders meeting, stockholders appear to be supportive of the Compensation Committee’s approach to the executive
compensation program.
Base Salaries
Base salaries paid to executives are intended to attract and retain highly talented individuals. In setting base salaries, individual experience, individual
performance, the Company’s performance and job responsibilities during the year are considered. Executive salaries are evaluated against local companies
of similar size and nature. The Compensation Committee recently completed an independent study which concluded that Misonix base salaries and bonuses
for executives are in the lower 25th percentile compared with its peer-group. The Company’s independent consultant, in connection with the Company,
determined the proper peer-group for comparison. The consultant determined the compensation range with respect to base salaries, incentive compensation,
and equity compensation for each of the titles of the executive officers. Additionally, the consultant performed a similar analysis with respect to board
compensation. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, Messrs. Vizirgianakis and Dwyer each received base salary increases of 3.0% based on
performance.
Annual Bonus Plan Compensation
The Compensation Committee of the Board approves annual performance-based compensation. The purpose of the annual bonus compensation is to
motivate executive officers and key employees. Target bonuses, based upon recommendations from the Chief Executive Officer, are evaluated and
approved by the Compensation Committee for all management employees other than the Chief Executive Officer. The bonus recommendations are derived
from individual and Company performance but not based on a specific formula and are discretionary. The Chief Executive Officer’s bonus compensation is
derived from the recommendation of the Compensation Committee based upon the Chief Executive Officer’s performance and Company performance but
is not based on a specific formula and is discretionary. Bonuses earned in fiscal 2020 based on performance were as follows: $0 to Mr. Vizirgianakis,
$60,000 to Mr. Dwyer, and $132,547 to Mr. Staley. The amounts of executive bonuses for fiscal year 2020 were determined by the Compensation
Committee which placed significant weighting resulting from the performance of, and uncertainty in, our business as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic
and as a result, fiscal year 2020 bonuses were not reflective of bonuses executives would typically receive under circumstances that are more typical. Mr.
Staley’s bonus for fiscal year 2020 included $118,547 which was principally earned during his employment with Solsys prior to its acquisition by the
Misonix.
Equity Incentive Awards
Company executives are eligible to receive stock options (which gives them the right to purchase shares of common stock at a specified price in the future).
These grants will vest based upon the passage of time, the achievement of performance metrics, or both. We believe that the use of stock options as the
basis for long-term incentive compensation meets our defined compensation strategy and business needs by achieving increased value for stockholders and
retaining key employees.
Stock option awards are intended to attract and retain highly talented executives, to provide an opportunity for significant compensation when overall
Company performance is reflected in the stock price and to help align executives’ and stockholders’ interests. Stock options are typically granted at the
time of hire to key new employees and annually to a broad group of existing key employees, including executive officers. We have adopted a number of
equity compensation plans governing the grant of such stock options. All of our equity compensation plans have been approved by our stockholders.
Annual option grants to executive officers are made at the discretion of the Board or the Compensation Committee and may be in the form of incentive
stock options (“ISOs”) up to the fullest extent permitted under tax laws, with the balance granted in the form of nonqualified stock options. The option
grants are subject to the terms of the relevant plan. ISOs have potential income tax advantage for executives if the executive disposes of the acquired shares
after satisfying certain holding periods. Tax laws provide that at the date of grant, the aggregate fair market value of ISOs that become exercisable for any
employee in any year may not exceed $100,000.
Our current standard option vesting schedule for all employees is four years vesting monthly, and our current standard vesting schedule for directors is one
year annual.
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The number of stock options granted in fiscal 2020 to the named executive officers, and their estimated fair value, were as follows:

Named Executive Officer

Grant Date

Estimated
Fair Value of
Awards at
Grant Date

Number of
Options
Granted

Stavros G. Vizirgianakis

11/22/2019
5/14/2020
6/30/2020

20,000
199,005
50,995

$
$
$

227,558
1,036,852
346,128

Joseph P. Dwyer

11/22/2019
5/14/2020
6/30/2020

18,000
52,936
13,564

$
$
$

204,802
275,806
92,066

Allan Staley

5/14/2020
6/30/2020

33,035
8,465

$
$

172,118
57,456

The stock options awarded on November 22, 2019, May 14, 2020 and June 30,2020 had exercise prices of $21.41, $9.82 and $13.57, respectively, which
were each equal to the closing market price per share of our stock on the date of grant. The November 22, 2019 stock options in the above table provide for
vesting at 25% per year on the first four-year anniversary dates of the grant date, with a stated expiration date of ten years after grant. The May 14, 2020
and the June 30, 2020 stock options in the above table provide for four-year vesting on a monthly basis, with a stated expiration date of ten years after
grant.
Other Annual Compensation and Benefits
Although direct compensation, in the form of salary, non-equity incentive awards and long-term equity incentive awards provide most of the compensation
to each of our executive officers, we also provide for the following items of additional compensation:
●

Retirement savings are provided by a 401(k) plan, in the same manner to all U.S. employees. This plan includes an employer matching
contribution of 10% which is intended to encourage employees (including the Chief Executive Officer) to save for retirement;

●

Health, life and disability benefits are offered to our executive officers in the same manner to all of our U.S. employees. We provided additional
life insurance, long term care policies and certain transportation expenses for our Chief Executive Officer and each of our executive officers; and

●

Transportation expenses are provided to executive officers, primarily in the form of an automobile allowance.

Summary of Compensation
The table and footnotes below describe the total compensation for fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 earned by the “named executive
officers,” which includes the individual who served as our principal executive officer during fiscal 2020, and each of the other two most highly
compensated individuals who were serving as executive officers of the Company on June 30, 2020, the last day of the fiscal year.
SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
Name
and Principal
Position

Fiscal
year
Ended
June 30,

Salary
($) (1)

Bonus ($)

Option
Awards ($)
(2)

All Other
Compensation ($)

Total ($)

Stavros Vizirgianakis
Chief Executive Officer

2020
2019

$ 356,027
$ 382,000

$
$ 163,305

$ 1,610,538
$
-

$
$

35,814(3) $ 2,002,379
8,848(3) $ 554,153

Joseph P. Dwyer
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary

2020
2019

$ 278,078
$ 292,000

$
$

60,000
83,220

$ 572,674
$ 218,924

$
$

9,530(4) $ 920,282
8,799(4) $ 602,943

Allan Staley
President

2020

$ 192,928

$ 132,547

$ 272,068

$

800(5) $ 598,343
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(1) Amounts reflected in this column for fiscal year 2020 reflect the decrease in base salaries of the named executive officers for May and June 2020
as a cost reduction measure related to the Company’s COVID-19 cost reduction plan. The decrease for Mr. Vizirgianakis was 50% and the
decrease for Mr. Dwyer and Mr. Staley was 35%.
(2) Amounts disclosed in this column represent the grant date fair value of each stock option award granted during the applicable fiscal year
calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, using the Black-Scholes computation as of the date of grant of the award, excluding the
effects of forfeitures. Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are included in footnote 7. Stock-based Compensation Plans of the
consolidated financial statements.
(3) Consists of a car allowance, life and long-term care insurance coverage, and fees relating to work visa applications.
(4) Consists of a car allowance, and life and long-term care insurance coverage.
(5) Consists of life insurance coverage.
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding equity awards held as of June 30, 2020 by our named executive officers.
OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT 2020 FISCAL YEAR END
OPTION AWARDS

Name
Stavros G. Vizirgianakis

Joseph P. Dwyer

Allan Staley

Number of

Number of

Securities

Securities

Underlying

Underlying

Unexercised

Unexercised

Option

Option

Option

Options (#)

Options (#)

Exercise

Issue

Expiration

Exercisable

Unexercisable

Price ($)

Date

Date

3,750
15,000
11,250
4,146
-

-(3)
-(3)
-(3)
20,000(3)
194,859(4)
50,995(4)

50,000
6,000
6,250
1,103
332
-

Number
of

$
$
$
$

5.81
13.20
7.20
21.41
9.82
13.57

12/3/2013
2/3/2015
2/4/2016
11/22/2019
5/14/2020
6/30/2020

12/2/2023
2/2/2025
2/3/2026
11/21/2029
5/13/2030
6/29/2030

50,000(3)
6,000(3)
18,750(3)
18,000(3)
51,833(4)
13,564(4)

10.20
10.25
15.90
21.41
9.82
13.57

8/22/2017
11/1/2017
7/24/2018
11/22/2019
5/14/2020
6/30/2020

8/21/2027
11/2/2027
7/23/2028
11/21/2029
5/13/2030
6/29/2030

33,035(4)
8,465(4)

9.82
13.57

5/14/2020
6/30/2020

5/13/2030
6/29/2030

Shares of
Stock
That

STOCK AWARDS
Market
Equity
Value of
Shares of

Incentive
Plan
Awards -

Stock That

Number of

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards Market
Value
of Shares
That Have
Not
Yet Vested
($) (5)

Shares That
Have Not
Have Not
Have Not
Not
Vested ($)
Vested (#)
(5)
Vested (#)
53,600 $
727,352(1)
133,000 $ 1,804,810(2)

(1) Vests in two equal installments annually on September 1, 2020 and September 1, 2021.
(2) 133,000 shares vest if both of the following conditions are satisfied simultaneously: (A) at any time prior to the fifth anniversary of the grant date,
the most recent publicly reported trailing four (4) fiscal quarter revenue of the Company (exclusive of the impact of any acquisitions after the
grant date) is at least $48,000,000 and (B) the closing price of the Company’s common stock is at least $13.00 per share (subject to adjustment for
stock splits, stock dividends and the like) for ten (10) consecutive trading days.
(3) Options vest equally over 4 years on an annual basis commencing on the date of grant.
(4) Options vest equally over 4 years on a monthly basis commencing on the date of grant.
(5) Amounts disclosed in this column represent the closing price per share of our common stock as of June 30, 2020 ($13.57) multiplied by the
number of shares underlying the restricted stock awards that had not yet vested or were unearned as of June 30, 2020.
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Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Outstanding Equity Awards Table
Employment Agreements
Vizirgianakis Employment Agreement
On December 15, 2016, we entered into an Employment Agreement (the “Vizirgianakis Agreement”) with Stavros G. Vizirgianakis pursuant to which Mr.
Vizirgianakis serves as our full time President and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Vizirgianakis had been serving on an unpaid basis as our interim Chief
Executive Officer since September 2, 2016. Mr. Vizirgianakis continues to serve as a member of our Board of Directors.
Pursuant to the Vizirgianakis Agreement, Mr. Vizirgianakis’ employment is automatically renewed and extended for consecutive one year renewal terms on
each September 13, unless either party sends to the other party a notice of nonrenewal at least 90 days prior to the expiration of any then-current renewal
term. Mr. Vizirgianakis receives an annual base salary of not less than three hundred sixty thousand dollars ($360,000) per annum, subject to review by our
Board at least annually for increase but not for decrease. Mr. Vizirgianakis is also eligible to receive annual bonuses in the discretion of our Board. The
Vizirgianakis Agreement also provides for a one-time $10,000 moving allowance and reimbursement of counsel fees relating to visa matters and the
negotiation of the Vizirgianakis Agreement. If we terminate Mr. Vizirgianakis’ employment without cause (as defined in the Vizirgianakis Agreement), we
provide a notice of non-renewal, or Mr. Vizirgianakis terminates his employment for good reason (as defined in the Vizirgianakis Agreement), Mr.
Vizirgianakis will be entitled to receive (i) a lump-sum cash payment from the Company in an amount equal to 1.5 times the annual base salary as is in
effect immediately prior to the date of such termination, and (ii) continuation of all employee benefits and fringe benefits to which he was entitled under the
Vizirgianakis Agreement immediately prior to such termination of employment for a period of 18 months following the termination of employment. The
Vizirgianakis Agreement also contains non-competition and non-solicitation covenants from Mr. Vizirgianakis during the term of employment and for a
period of 18 months thereafter.
In conjunction with the execution of the Vizirgianakis Agreement, Mr. Vizirgianakis received grants of an aggregate of 400,000 shares of restricted stock
pursuant to the Company’s 2014 Employee Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) as follows: (i) a grant of 134,000 shares vesting in five equal installments on
September 1, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021; (ii) a performance grant of 133,000 shares which vests if both of the following conditions are satisfied
simultaneously: (A) at any time prior to the third anniversary of the grant date, the most recent publicly reported trailing 4 fiscal quarter revenue of the
Company (exclusive of the impact of any acquisitions after the grant date) is at least $35,000,000 and (B) the closing price of our common stock is at least
$10.50 per share (subject to adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends and the like) for 10 consecutive trading days (these performance targets have been
satisfied); and (iii) a performance grant of 133,000 shares which vests if both of the following conditions are satisfied simultaneously: (A) at any time prior
to the fifth anniversary of the grant date, the most recent publicly reported trailing four fiscal quarter revenue of the Company (exclusive of the impact of
any acquisitions after the grant date) is at least $48,000,000 and (B) the closing price of our common stock is at least $13.00 per share (subject to
adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends and the like) for 10 consecutive trading days (these performance targets have not yet been satisfied). The
aforementioned performance grants will vest on a change of control in accordance with the Plan only if the applicable share price threshold is met in such
transaction.
Dwyer Employment Agreement
On August 21, 2017, we entered into an Employment Agreement (the “Dwyer Agreement”) with Joseph P. Dwyer pursuant to which Mr. Dwyer serves as
the Company’s full time Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Dwyer had been serving as Interim Chief Financial Officer of the Company since September 13,
2016.
Pursuant to the Dwyer Agreement, Mr. Dwyer’s employment is automatically renewed and extended for consecutive one year renewal terms on each
August 21, unless either party sends to the other party a notice of non-renewal at least 90 days prior to the expiration of the then-current renewal term. Mr.
Dwyer receives an annual base salary of not less than two hundred seventy-five thousand dollars ($275,000) per annum, subject to review by the Board at
least annually for increase but not for decrease. Mr. Dwyer is also eligible to receive annual bonuses in the discretion of the Board. If we terminate Mr.
Dwyer’s employment without cause (as defined in the Dwyer Agreement), we provide a notice of non-renewal, or Mr. Dwyer terminates his employment
for good reason (as defined in the Dwyer Agreement), Mr. Dwyer will be entitled to receive (i) a lump-sum cash payment from the Company in an amount
equal to 100 percent of his annual base salary and (ii) continuation of all employee benefits and fringe benefits to which he was entitled under the Dwyer
Agreement immediately prior to such termination of employment for a period of 12 months following the termination of employment. The Dwyer
Agreement also contains non-competition and non-solicitation covenants from Mr. Dwyer during the term of employment and for a period of 12 months
thereafter.
In conjunction with the execution of the Dwyer Agreement, Mr. Dwyer received a grant of a ten-year stock option to purchase 100,000 shares (the “Dwyer
Stock Option Award”) of our common stock, under the Misonix, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. The Dwyer Stock Option Award has an exercise price of
$10.20 per share, which equals the fair market value on the date of grant as defined in the plan and vests and becomes exercisable in four equal annual
installments from the date of grant.
Staley Employment Agreement
On September 27, 2019, we entered into an Employment Agreement (the “Staley Agreement”) with Allan Staley pursuant to which Mr. Staley serves as the
Company’s full time President.
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Pursuant to the Staley Agreement, the term of Mr. Staley employment is two years, and is automatically renewed and extended for consecutive one year
renewal terms on each September 27, unless either party sends to the other party a notice of non-renewal at least 30 days prior to the expiration of the thencurrent renewal term. Mr. Staley receives an annual base salary of $286,000 per annum. Mr. Staley is also eligible to receive annual bonuses in the
discretion of the Board. If we terminate Mr. Staley’s employment without cause (as defined in the Staley Agreement), we provide a notice of non-renewal,
or Mr. Staley terminates his employment for good reason (as defined in the Staley Agreement), Mr. Staley will be entitled to receive (i) a lump-sum cash
payment from the Company in an amount equal to 100 percent of his annual base salary and (ii) continuation of all employee benefits and fringe benefits to
which he was entitled under the Staley Agreement immediately prior to such termination of employment for a period of 12 months following the
termination of employment. The Staley Agreement also contains non-competition and non-solicitation covenants from Mr. Staley during the term of
employment and for a period of 12 months thereafter.
Summary of Potential Payments Upon Termination or Following a Change-In-Control
Severance and Change-in-Control Payments
The named executive officers are entitled to severance payments in accordance with the terms of their employment agreements, as described above under
“Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Outstanding Equity Awards Table – Employment Agreements.” As described above, severance
payments are generally triggered in the event that an executive officer is terminated without cause, or the executive terminates employment without good
reason, as defined in the applicable employment agreement.
Additionally, our equity incentive plans include provisions that accelerate vesting 100% upon a change in control of the Company. A change in control is
generally defined as a change of more than 50% or more of the voting control of the Company. In the event of a change in control, holders of Misonix
employee equity incentive awards would be eligible to exercise and sell their vested securities.
Quantification of Termination / Change in Control Payments
The following table shows the benefits which would be received by each of our named executive officers under their respective employment arrangement
and the applicable equity plans and award agreements, in the event of his termination without cause or termination for good reason, or upon a change-incontrol (data with respect to equity awards assumes at change of control at June 30, 2020 and that the price of our common stock on which the calculations
were based was the closing price on June 30, 2020, which was $13.57 per share):
Severance Payments
Employee
Salary
Benefits
Total

Change-in-Control Payments
Employee
Equity
Benefits
Awards(1)

Salary

Total

Stavros G. Vizirgianakis

$ 589,500

$ 15,129

$ 604,629

$

-

$

-

$3,384,743

$3,384,743

Joseph P. Dwyer

$ 300,000

$ 10,086

$ 310,086

$

-

$

-

$ 575,350

$ 575,350

Allan Staley

$ 286,000

$

$ 293,292

$

-

$

-

$

$

7,292

59,704

59,704

(1) Amounts reflect the potential value of full acceleration of: (a) for Mr. Vizirgiankis, all unvested options and restricted stock (which assumes that
any stock price conditions and revenue targets, where applicable, have been met); and (b) for Mr. Dwyer and Mr. Staley, all unvested options, in
each case upon a change in control of the Company (as defined in the applicable award agreements and equity plans).
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Equity Plans
As of June 30, 2020, the Company had the following stock plans with options or other grants outstanding or available for issuance:
Initial
Shares

Plan
2001 Employee Stock Option Plan
2005 Employee Equity Incentive Plan
2009 Employee Equity Incentive Plan
2009 Non Employee Director Stock Option Plan
2012 Employee Equity Incentive Plan
2012 Non Employee Director Stock Option Plan
2014 Employee Equity Incentive Plan
2017 Equity Incentive Plan

1,000,000
500,000
500,000
200,000
500,000
200,000
750,000
1,950,000

Granted
1,251,261
547,125
624,925
275,000
750,000
277,500
573,500[1]
1,028,339

Exercised

Expired /
Forfeited

Outstanding

Available
For
Issuance

376,368
497,200
400,782
131,250
198,499
110,000
88,374
3,000

869,455
48,925
130,225
90,000
264,251
78,750
228,501
34,000

5,438
1,000
93,918
53,750
287,250
88,750
256,625
991,339

5,300
15,000
14,251
1,250
5,001
955,661

1,778,070

996,463

Total
[1] Excludes grant of 400,000 shares of restricted stock
Director Compensation for Fiscal 2020

Directors are compensated through payment of a cash fee and annual stock option grants. In fiscal 2020, each non-employee director is entitled to receive
an annual fee of $35,000 and the Chairman of the Audit Committee received $45,000. For the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, the Board of Directors waived
their cash compensation fee. Each non-employee director is also reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred while traveling to attend meetings of our
Board and Board committees, and while traveling in furtherance of the Company’s business. The following table sets forth information with respect to the
compensation of our directors for fiscal 2020.
The following table sets forth information for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 with respect to the compensation of our directors.

Name (2)
Paul LaViolette

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION FOR THE
2020 FISCAL YEAR
Fees Earned
or Paid in
Option
Cash ($)
Awards ($) (1)
Total ($)
$
17,500
310,538 $
328,038

Michael Koby

$

17,500

310,538

$

328,038

Thomas M. Patton

$

33,750

253,649

$

287,399

Gwendolyn A. Watanabe

$

26,250

253,649

$

279,899

(1) Amounts disclosed in this column represent the grant date fair value of each stock option award granted during fiscal year 2020 calculated in
accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 using the Black Scholes computation as of the date of grant of the award, excluding the effects of
forfeitures. Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are included in footnote 7. Stock-based Compensation Plans in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. Amounts for Mr. LaViolette and Mr. Koby reflect a grant of 35,000 options each and amounts for Mr. Patton
and Ms. Watanabe reflect a grant of 30,000 options each.
(2) Outstanding options at June 30, 2020 were as follows: Mr. LaViolette – 35,000 shares, Mr. Koby – 35,000 shares, Mr. Patton – 82,500 shares, Ms.
Watanabe – 50,000 shares.
Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The following table sets forth as of August 31, 2020 certain information with regard to the ownership of the Company’s Common Stock by (i) each
beneficial owner of 5% or more of the Company’s Common Stock; (ii) each director; (iii) each executive officer named in the “Summary Compensation
Table” above; and (iv) all executive officers and directors of the Company as a group. Unless otherwise stated, the persons named in the table have sole
voting and investment power with respect to all Common Stock shown as beneficially owned by them.
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Common
Stock
Beneficially
Owned

Name and Address (1)

Percent
Of Class

Stavros G. Vizirgianakis
1315 Capital
SV Health Investors
Allan Staley
Joseph P. Dwyer
Thomas M. Patton
Gwendolyn A. Watanabe

1,679,078(2)
1,695,969
1,695,969
224,242(3)
102,074(4)
48,250(5)
10,000(6)

9.57%
9.66%
9.66%
1.28%
0.58%
0.27%
0.06%

All executive officers and Directors as a group (Eight
people)

5,455,582(7)

31.09%

(1) Except as otherwise noted, the business address of each of the named individuals in this table is c/o Misonix, Inc., 1938 New Highway,
Farmingdale, NY 11735.
(2) Includes 30,000 shares which Mr. Vizirgianakis has the right to acquire upon exercise of stock options which are exercisable within 60 days.
(3) Includes 2,418 shares which Mr. Staley has the right to acquire upon exercise of stock options which are exercisable within 60 days.
(4) Includes 97,374 shares which Mr. Dwyer has the right to acquire upon exercise of stock options which are exercisable within 60 days.
(5) Includes 41,250 shares which Mr. Patton has the right to acquire upon exercise of stock options which are exercisable within 60 days.
(6) Includes 10,000 shares which Ms. Watanabe has the right to acquire upon exercise of stock options which are exercisable within 60 days.
(7) Includes 181,042 shares which such persons the right to acquire upon exercise of stock options which are exercisable within 60 days
Equity Compensation Plan Information:
We currently maintain six compensation plans that provide for issuance of our common stock, as listed below. All six of these plans have been
approved by our stockholders. We no longer grant any equity-based awards under the 2001 Employee Stock Option Plan or the 2005 Employee Equity
Incentive Plan. The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding options and shares reserved and remaining available for future issuance
under the foregoing plans as of June 30, 2020:

Plan category
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders
2001 Employee Stock Option Plan
2005 Employee Equity Incentive Plan
2009 Employee Equity Incentive Plan
2009 Non Employee Director Stock Option Plan
2012 Employee Equity Incentive Plan
2012 Non Employee Director Stock Option Plan
2014 Employee Equity Incentive Plan
2017 Equity Incentive Plan
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders
Total

Number of
securities to
be
issued upon
exercise of
outstanding
options,
warrants
and rights
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Weighted
-average
exercise
price of
outstanding
options,
warrants
and
rights

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
future
issuance
under equity
compensation
plans
(excluding
securities
reflected in
column (a))

5,438
1,000
93,918
53,750
287,250
88,750
256,625
991,339

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

1.82
4.68
4.36
10.57
7.96
9.42
10.22
11.34

5,300
15,000
14,251
1,250
5,001
955,661

0
1,778,070

$

9.16

996,463

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Director Compensation
Please see Item 11 - “Executive Compensation - Director Compensation” for a discussion of options granted and other compensation to our non-employee
directors.
Executive Compensation
Please see Item 11 - “Executive Compensation” for additional information on compensation of our named executive officers.
Director Independence
The Company is required to have a Board of Directors a majority of whom are “independent” as defined by the NASDAQ listing standards and to disclose
those Directors that the Board of Directors has determined to be independent. Based on such definition, the Board of Directors has determined that all
Directors other than Stavros G. Vizirgianakis, who is an officer of the Company, are independent. See “Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers of the
Registrant and Corporate Governance”.
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
Minoan Medical (Pty) Ptd. (“Minoan”) (formerly Applied BioSurgical) is an independent distributor of our products in South Africa. The chief executive
officer of Minoan is also the brother of Stavros G. Vizirgianakis, who serves as our Chief Executive Officer.
Set forth below is a table showing our net revenues for the years ended June 30 and accounts receivable at June 30 from Minoan:
For the years ended
June 30,
2020
2019
Sales
Accounts receivable

$
$

1,689,416 $
469,124 $

1,405,430
221,240

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Audit Fees
Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte”) billed us $675,000 in the aggregate for services rendered for the audit of the Company’s 2020 fiscal year, and for the
review of our interim consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended December 31,
2019 and March 31, 2020.
BDO USA, LLP (“BDO”) billed the Company $100,000 and $410,000 in the aggregate for services rendered for the audit of the Company’s 2020 and 2019
fiscal years, respectively, and the review of the Company’s interim consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q for the Company’s 2020 and 2019 fiscal years, respectively. Fees for 2019 fiscal year has been revised by $110,000 to update the amount to reflect the
resolution of final fees, which occurred subsequent to the filing of the Form 10-K.
Audit-Related Fees
BDO billed the Company $174,010 and $97,227 for audit-related services rendered during the Company’s 2020 and 2019 fiscal year, respectively. The
services related to the filing of registration statements on Forms S-4 and S-3 and a comfort letter in fiscal 2020 and the filing of registration statements on
Form S-4 and due diligence for the Solsys acquisition in fiscal 2019.
Tax Fees and All Other Fees
Neither Deloitte nor BDO provided any tax services or other services to us during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Policy on Pre-approval of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Services
The charter of the Audit Committee provides for the pre-approval of all audit services and all permitted non-audit services to be performed for Misonix by
the independent registered public accounting firm, subject to the requirements of applicable law. The procedures for pre-approving all audit and non-audit
services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm include the Audit Committee reviewing audit-related services, tax services and
other services. The Audit Committee periodically monitors the services rendered by and actual fees paid to the independent registered public accounting
firm to ensure that such services are within the parameters approved by the Audit Committee.
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PART IV
Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) 1.
2.

The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this Report.
Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

3.

Exhibits

2

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated May 2, 2019, by and among Misonix, New Misonix, Inc., Reincorp. Merger Sub One, Inc., Surge Sub
Two, LLC, Solsys and, solely in its capacity as the representative for the Solsys equityholders, Greg Madden (1)

3 (a)

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company.

3 (b)

By-laws of the Company. (2)

4.1

Description of securities registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act

10.1

Form of Indemnification Agreement. (3)

*

10.2

2001 Employee Stock Option Plan. (4)

*

10.3

2005 Employee Equity Incentive Plan. (5)

*

10.4

2005 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. (5)

*

10.5

2009 Employee Equity Incentive Plan. (6)

*

10.6

2009 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. (6)

*

10.6

2012 Employee Equity Incentive Plan. (7)

*

10.7

2012 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. (7)

*

10.8

2014 Employee Equity Incentive Plan. (8)

10.9

Lease Modification Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2015, between Sanwood Realty and MISONIX, INC. (9)

*

10.10

Retirement Agreement and General Release, dated August 26, 2016, between Michael A. McManus, Jr. and MISONIX, INC (10)

*

10.12

Letter Agreement, dated September 15, 2016, by and between MISONIX, INC. and Richard A. Zaremba (11)

*

10.13

Letter Agreement, dated September 15, 2016, by and between MISONIX, INC. and Robert S. Ludecker (11)

10.14

Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 25, 2016 between MISONIX, INC. and Stavros G. Vizirgianakis (12)

*

10.15

Employment Agreement dated December 15, 2016 between the Company and Stavros G. Vizirgianakis (13)

*

10.16

Restricted Stock Award Agreement dated December 15, 2016 between the Company and Stavros G. Vizirgianakis (13)

*

10.17

Restricted Stock Award Agreement dated December 15, 2016 between the Company and Stavros G. Vizirgianakis (13)
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*

10.18

Restricted Stock Award Agreement dated December 15, 2016 between the Company and Stavros G. Vizirgianakis (13)

*

10.19

2017 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended

*

10.20

Employment Agreement dated August 21, 2017 between the Company and Joseph P. Dwyer (14)

*

10.21

Amendment dated as of September 18, 2017 to letter agreement between the Company and Richard A. Zaremba (15)

10.22

License and Exclusive Manufacturing Agreement between Misonix, Inc. and Hunan Xing Hang Rui Kang Bio-technologies Co. Ltd
(confidential treatment has been granted for portions of this exhibit) (16)

10.23

Amendment No. 1 to License and Exclusive Manufacturing Agreement dated February 26, 2018 between Misonix, Inc. and Hunan Xing
Hang Rui Kang Bio-technologies Co. Ltd (17)

10.24

Second Amended and Restated Distribution and Supply Agreement dated October 17, 2017 by and between Skin and Wound Allograft
Institute, LLC and Soluble Systems, LLC. (18)

10.25

Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Distribution and Supply Agreement dated January 20, 2020 by and among Skin and
Wound Allograft Institute, LLC and Solsys Medical, LLC. (18)

10.26

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated September 27, 2019 between Solsys Medical, LLC and New Misonix, Inc. as borrowers,
each of the financial institutions signatories thereto and SWK Funding LLC, as administrative agent (19)

10.27

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated December 23, 2019 between Solsys Medical, LLC and Misonix, Inc. as
borrowers, each of the financial institutions signatories thereto and SWK Funding LLC, as administrative agent (20)

10.28

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated June 30, 2020 between Solsys Medical, LLC and Misonix, Inc. as
borrowers, each of the financial institutions signatories thereto and SWK Funding LLC, as administrative agent (21)

10.29

Loan and Security Agreement dated December 26, 2019 between Misonix, Inc., Solsys Medical, LLC, Misonix OpCo, Inc. and Silicon
Valley Bank (22)

10.30

First Loan Modification Agreement dated January 6, 2020 between Misonix, Inc., Solsys Medical, LLC, Misonix OpCo, Inc. and Silicon
Valley Bank

10.31

Second Loan Modification Agreement dated June 30, 2020 between Misonix, Inc., Solsys Medical, LLC, Misonix OpCo, Inc. and Silicon
Valley Bank (23)

10.32

Promissory Note dated April 5, 2020 between Misonix, Inc. and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (24)

21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1

Consent of BDO USA, LLP

23.2

Consent of Deloitte and Touche LLP

31.1

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

31.2

Rule 13a-14/15d-14 Certification

32.1

Section 1350 Certification
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32.2

Section 1350 Certification

101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Scheme Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104

The cover page from Misonix, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 has been formatted in Inline
XBRL.

* Denotes management compensation plan, agreement or arrangement.
(1) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 6, 2019
(2) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K12B filed on September 27, 2019
(3) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K12B filed on September 27, 2019
(4) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K12B filed on September 27, 2019.
(5) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 333-63166) filed June 15, 2001.
(6) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on December 14, 2005.
(7) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on December 8, 2009.
(8) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on February 3, 2015.
(9) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 8, 2015.
(10) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 26, 2016.
(11) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 16, 2016.
(12) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 25, 2016.
(13) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 19, 2016.
(14) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 23, 2017.
(15) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 18, 2017.
(16) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on February 6, 2018.
(17) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 7, 2018.
(18) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on February 5, 2020.
(19) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2019.
(20) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 30, 2019.
(21) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 1, 2020.
(22) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 30, 2019.
(23) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 1, 2020.
(24) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 15, 2020.
Item 16 Form 10-K Summary
Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
MISONIX, INC.
By: /s/ Stavros G. Vizirgianakis
Stavros G. Vizirgianakis
Chief Executive Officer
Date: September 3, 2020
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Stavros G. Vizirgianakis
Stavros G. Vizirgianakis

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(principal executive officer)

September 3, 2020

/s/ Joseph P. Dwyer
Joseph P. Dwyer

Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
(principal financial and accounting officer)

September 3, 2020

/s/ Michael Koby
Michael Koby

Director

September 3, 2020

/s/ Thomas M. Patton
Thomas M. Patton

Director

September 3, 2020

/s/ Gwendolyn A. Watanabe
Gwendolyn A. Watanabe

Director

September 3, 2020

/s/ Paul LaViolette
Paul LaViolette

Director

September 3, 2020
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Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

F-32

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not required under the related instructions or are
not applicable and therefore have been omitted.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Misonix, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Misonix, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of June 30, 2020 and the related
consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows, for the year then ended, and the related notes and the schedule listed in the
Index (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of June 30, 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB)
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche, LLP
Jericho, New York
September 3, 2020
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Shareholders and Board of Directors
Misonix, Inc.
Farmingdale, New York
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Misonix, Inc. and its Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of June 30, 2019, the related
consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes and financial statement
schedule listed in the accompanying index (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at June 30, 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year ended June 30, 2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for revenue during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2019 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Codification 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.
Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.
/s/ BDO USA, LLP
We served as the Company’s auditor from 2017 to 2019.
Melville, New York
September 5, 2019, except for segment information included in Notes 1 and 13, as to which the date is September 3, 2020.
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Misonix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
June 30,
2020
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,573,968 and $100,000, respectively
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated amortization and depreciation of $12,715,917 and
$10,545,810, respectively
Patents, net of accumulated amortization of $1,341,976 and $1,204,589, respectively
Goodwill
Contract assets
Intangible assets
Lease right-of-use assets
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Current portion of lease liabilities
Current portion of notes payable
Total current liabilities

$

$

$

Non-current liabilities:
Notes payable
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

37,978,809
11,064,768
14,010,684
1,668,244
64,722,505
7,304,258
784,318
108,310,350
21,281,136
1,098,830
322,310
203,823,707

4,273,568
7,515,751
414,058
5,099,744
17,303,121

June 30,
2019

$

$

$

7,842,403
5,360,454
7,353,562
835,044
21,391,463
4,198,721
779,100
1,701,094
960,000
920,921
29,951,299

5,357,736
2,488,514
7,846,250

38,595,505
723,553
33,293
516,665
57,172,137

401,000
8,247,250

1,737
185,961,104
(39,311,271)
146,651,570

96,468
43,500,478
(21,892,897)
21,704,049

Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock, $.0001 and $.01 par value-shares authorized 40,000,000; 17,369,435 and 9,646,728
shares issued and outstanding in each period
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$
See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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203,823,707

$

29,951,299

Misonix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the years ended
June 30,
2020
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

$

Operating expenses:
Selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other
Total other income (expense)
Loss from operations before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)

2019

62,483,651
18,774,168
43,709,483

$

38,848,491
11,568,339
27,280,152

40,232,551
17,954,567
4,915,943
63,103,061
(19,393,578)

18,343,837
11,878,209
4,467,969
34,690,015
(7,409,863)

90,785
(2,620,290)
6,131
(2,523,374)

89,856
(38,243)
51,613

(21,916,952)

(7,358,250)
(28,547)

4,498,578

Net loss

$

(17,418,374)

$

(7,386,797)

Net loss per share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

(1.19)
(1.19)

$
$

(0.79)
(0.79)

Weighted average shares - Basic
Weighted average shares - Diluted

14,670,663
14,670,663
See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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9,333,117
9,333,117

Misonix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Additional
paid-in
capital

Common Stock
Number
of shares
Amount
Balance, June 30, 2018
Cumulative effect of the adoption of ASC 606 revenue recognition
Net loss
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation
Balance, June 30, 2019
Balance, June 30, 2019
Net loss
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Equity restructuring
Issuance of shares for acquisition of Solsys
Stock registration and investment bank fees
Equity offering
Stock-based compensation
Balance, June 30, 2020

9,430,466
216,262
9,646,728
9,646,728
150,875
5,703,082
1,868,750
17,369,435

$

94,305

$

2,163
96,468

$

$

96,468
15
(151,964)
57,031
187
1,737

$

39,772,973

$ (15,466,100)

$

1,391,366
2,336,139
43,500,478

960,000
(7,386,797)
$ (21,892,897)

$

43,500,478
1,246,516
151,964
108,586,679
(3,859,036)
34,571,875
1,762,628
$ 185,961,104

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Accumulated
deficit

$ (21,892,897)
(17,418,374)
$ (39,311,271)

Total
shareholders’
equity
$

24,401,178

$

960,000
(7,386,797)
1,393,529
2,336,139
21,704,049

$

21,704,049
(17,418,374)
1,246,531
108,643,710
(3,859,036)
34,572,062
1,762,628
$ 146,651,570

Misonix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended
June 30,
2020
Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash and cash equivalents used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Rent expense from operating lease right-of-use asset
Bad debt expense
Reserve for contract asset
Stock-based compensation
Release of valuation allowance on deferred tax assets
Deferred lease liability and income
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Lease and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred tax liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

$

Investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Additional patents
Cash from acquisition of Solsys Medical, LLC
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from notes payable
Repayments of notes payable
Stock registration and investment bank fees
Proceeds from equity offering
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by financing activities

(17,418,374)

(7,386,797)
1,663,771
61,676
2,336,139
(13,303)

(1,753,174)
(10,856,933)
(594,338)
161,710
(963,566)
33,293
(26,682,125)

(176,581)
(3,182,768)
(223,397)
135,374
3,101,980
(3,683,906)

(303,570)
(142,605)
5,525,601
5,079,426

(683,826)
(162,849)
(846,675)

43,349,488
(23,569,940)
(3,859,036)
34,572,062
1,246,531
51,739,105

1,393,529
1,393,529

$

(3,137,052)
10,979,455
7,842,403

$
$
$
$
$
$

$

30,136,406
7,842,403
37,978,809

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for:
Interest
Income taxes
Transfer of inventory to property, plant and equipment for consignment of product
Stock issued for the acquisition of Solsys Medical, LLC
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities
Accrued but unpaid costs to register equity for acquisition

$
$
$
$
$
$

2,297,697
550
4,298,722
108,643,710
1,541,727
-

F-7

$

3,526,359
561,809
2,473,968
960,000
1,762,628
(4,575,507)
-

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2019

77,576
849,092
539,000

Misonix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
1. Basis of Presentation, Organization and Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
These consolidated financial statements of Misonix, Inc. (“Misonix” or the “Company”) include the accounts of Misonix and its 100% owned subsidiaries.
All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
Organization and Business
Misonix designs, manufactures and markets minimally invasive surgical ultrasonic medical devices and markets, sells and distributes TheraSkin®
(“TheraSkin”), a biologically active human skin allograft used to support healing of wounds which complements Misonix’s ultrasonic medical devices.
Misonix’s ultrasonic products are used for precise bone sculpting, removal of soft and hard tumors and tissue debridement, primarily in the areas of
neurosurgery, orthopedic surgery, plastic surgery, wound care and maxillo-facial surgery.
In the United States, the Company sells its products through its direct sales force, in addition to a network of commissioned agents assisted by Misonix
personnel. Outside of the United States, the Company generally sells to distributors who then resell the products to hospitals. The Company’s sales force
operates as two groups, Surgical and Wound Care, and these are also the Company’s two business segments.
Risks and Uncertainties
The Company’s business is subject to material risks and uncertainties as a result of the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic. The extent of the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s business is highly uncertain and difficult to predict, as the response to the pandemic is rapidly evolving. The
Company’s customers are diverting resources to treat COVID-19 patients and deferring elective surgical procedures, both of which have and are likely to
continue to impact demand for the Company’s products. Furthermore, capital markets and economies worldwide have also been negatively impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic, and it is possible that it could cause a local and/or global economic recession. Such economic disruption could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business as hospitals and surgery centers curtail and reduce capital and overall spending. Policymakers around the globe
have responded with fiscal policy actions to support the healthcare industry and economy as a whole. The magnitude and overall effectiveness of these
actions and the Company’s ability to benefit from them remains uncertain.
The severity of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s business will depend on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the
duration and severity of the pandemic and the extent and severity of the impact on the Company’s customers, all of which are uncertain and cannot be
predicted. The Company’s future results of operations and liquidity could be materially and adversely impacted by delays in payments of outstanding
receivable amounts beyond normal payment terms, supply chain disruptions and uncertain demand, and the impact of any initiatives or programs that the
Company may undertake to address financial and operations challenges faced by its customers. As of the date of issuance of these consolidated financial
statements, the extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic may materially impact the Company’s financial condition, liquidity, or results of operations is
uncertain.
Acquisition of Solsys Medical, LLC
On September 27, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition (the “Solsys Acquisition”) of Solsys Medical, LLC (“Solsys”), a privately held
regenerative medical company, in an all-stock transaction valued at approximately $109 million. Solsys is the exclusive marketer and distributor of
TheraSkin in the United States, through an agreement with LifeNet Health (“LifeNet”). Solsys owns the TheraSkin® brand name, which was commercially
launched in January 2010. TheraSkin is a biologically active human skin allograft which has all of the relevant characteristics of human skin, including
living cells, growth factors, and a collagen matrix, needed to heal wounds. TheraSkin is derived from human skin tissue from consenting and highly
screened donors and is manufactured by LifeNet Health. As a result of the Solsys Acquisition, the Company became the parent public-reporting company
of the combined entity; Misonix, Inc., a New York corporation, now known as Misonix Opco, Inc., and Solsys became direct, wholly owned subsidiaries of
the Company. The acquisition of Solsys is expected to broaden the Company’s addressable market through wound care solutions that are complementary to
its existing products. After the completion of the Solsys Acquisition, the Company’s shareholders immediately prior to the closing owned 64% of the
combined entity, and Solsys unitholders immediately prior to the closing owned 36%. The Company issued 5,703,082 shares in connection with this
transaction. Transaction fees were approximately $4.5 million, of which $1.4 million were capitalized as additional paid in capital in connection with the
registration of these shares. The Solsys assets, liabilities and results of operations are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements from the
acquisition date.
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The Company’s common stock was created with a par value per share of $.0001, whereas the par value of Misonix Opco, Inc. was $.01. Accordingly, the
Company recorded a reclassification of $151,964 between common stock and additional paid in capital during the three months ended September 30, 2019
to account for this change.
High Intensity Focused Ultrasound Technology
In May 2010, the Company sold its rights to its former high intensity focused ultrasound technology to SonaCare Medical, LLC (“SonaCare”). The
Company may receive up to approximately $5.8 million in payment for the sale. SonaCare is required to pay the Company 7% of the gross revenues
received from its sales of the (i) prostate product in Europe and (ii) kidney and liver products worldwide, until the Company has received payments of $3
million, and thereafter 5% of the gross revenues, up to an aggregate payment of $5.8 million, all subject to a minimum annual royalty of $250,000.
Cumulative payments through June 30, 2020 were approximately $2.5 million. Currently, SonaCare is in default of its royalty payment due June 30, 2020
and 2019. Although the Company is in discussions with SonaCare regarding this default, there can be no assurance that the payments will be received on a
timely basis or at all. Due to this default, the Company has not recorded any income relating to these payments due.
Equity Offering
On January 27, 2020, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 1,868,750 shares of its common stock at a price to the public of $18.50
per share. The gross proceeds of the offering were $34.6 million. The Company intends to use the proceeds of the offering for general corporate purposes,
which may include investment in sales and marketing initiatives and funding growth opportunities such as collaborations and acquisitions of
complementary products or technologies.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. All of the Company’s
cash is maintained in bank accounts and accordingly it does not have cash equivalents at June 30, 2020. The Company’s cash balances at June 30, 2020 and
2019 were $38.0 million and $7.8 million respectively. The Company maintains cash balances at various financial institutions. At June 30, 2020 and 2019,
these financial institutions held cash that was approximately $37.4 million and $4.4 million, respectively, in excess of amounts insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation and other government agencies.
Major Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk
No customers exceeded 10% of consolidated revenues for the fiscal 2020. For fiscal 2019, revenues from the Company’s distributor of its BoneScalpel
product in China was $4,473,534. Accounts receivable from this customer was $493,784 at June 30, 2019.
At June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company’s accounts receivable with customers outside the United States were approximately $2.0 million and $2.2 million,
respectively. At June 30, 2020, $0.8 million were past 90 days old and at June 30, 2019, none were over 90 days.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates and assumptions are
used for but not limited to establishing the allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of inventory, depreciation, intangible amortization, asset impairment
evaluations and establishing deferred tax assets and related valuation allowances, and stock-based compensation. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
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Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable, principally trade, are generally due within 30 to 90 days and are stated at amounts due from customers, net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations and adjusts credit limits based upon payment history and the customer’s current
credit worthiness, as determined by a review of their current credit information. The Company continuously monitors aging reports, collections and
payments from customers and maintains a provision for estimated credit losses based upon historical experience and any specific customer collection issues
that have been identified. While such credit losses have historically been within expectations and the provisions established, the Company cannot guarantee
that the same credit loss rates will be experienced in the future. The Company writes off accounts receivable when they become uncollectible.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or net realizable value and consist of raw materials, work-in process and finished goods and
include purchased materials, direct labor and manufacturing overhead. Management evaluates the need to record adjustments to write down inventory to
the lower of cost or net realizable value on a quarterly basis. The Company’s policy is to assess the valuation of all inventories, including raw materials,
work-in-process and finished goods and it writes down its inventory for estimated obsolescence based upon the age of inventory and assumptions about
future demand and usage. Inventory items used for demonstration purposes, rentals or on consignment are classified as property, plant and equipment.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Minor replacements and maintenance and repair expenses are charged to expense as incurred.
Depreciation of property and equipment is provided using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 5 years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the life of the lease or the useful life of the related asset, whichever is shorter. The Company’s policy is to evaluate
periodically the appropriateness of the lives assigned to property, plant and equipment and make adjustments if necessary. Depreciation of BoneScalpel and
SonicOne generators which are consigned to customers are depreciated over a 5- year period, and depreciation is charged to selling expenses. See Note 4.
Revenue Recognition
The Company generates revenue from the sale and leasing of medical equipment, from the sale of consumable products used with medical equipment in
surgical procedures, from the sale of TheraSkin, a regenerative skin product, and from product licensing arrangements. In the United States, the Company’s
products are marketed primarily through a hybrid sales approach that includes direct sales representatives, managed by regional sales managers, along with
independent distributors. Outside the United States, the Company sells BoneScalpel and SonaStar to specialty distributors who purchase products to resell
to their clinical customer bases. The Company sells to all major markets in the Americas, Europe, Middle East, Asia Pacific, and Africa. Revenue is
disaggregated from contracts between products under ship and bill arrangements and licensing agreements, and by geography, which the Company believes
best depicts how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows are affected by economic factors.
Contracts and Performance Obligations
The Company accounts for a contract with a customer when there is an approval and commitment from both parties, the rights of the parties are identified,
payment terms are identified, the contract has commercial substance and collectability of the consideration is probable. The Company’s performance
obligations consist mainly of transferring control of products and related services identified in the contracts, purchase orders or invoices. For each contract,
the Company considers the obligation to transfer products or bundled products and services to the customer, of which each is distinct in the context of the
contract, to be performance obligations. The Company historically has not made provisions for returns and allowances as they have not been material to the
operations of the Company.
Transaction Price and Allocation to Performance Obligations
Transaction prices of products are typically based upon contracted rates as specified on the purchase order for the purchase of consumables. The
Company’s contracted rates represent the standalone selling price of a consumable which is generally determined through the sale of products and/or
bundled products or services separately in similar circumstances to similar customers. The Company determines the effects of variable consideration,
inclusive of any constraints, in determining the transaction price with regard to its contracts with customers.
F-10

Recognition of Revenue
The Company satisfies performance obligations either over time, or at a point in time, upon which control transfers to the customer.
Revenue derived from the shipping and billing of product is recorded upon shipment, when transfer of control occurs for products shipped freight on board
(“F.O.B.”) shipping point. Products shipped F.O.B. destination point are recorded as revenue when received at the point of destination when the transfer of
control is completed. Shipments under agreements with distributors are not subject to return, and payment for these shipments is not contingent on sales by
the distributor. Accordingly, the Company recognizes revenue on shipments to distributors in the same manner as with other customers under the ship and
bill process.
Revenue derived from the rental of equipment is recorded on a monthly basis over the term of the lease. Shipments of consumable products to these rental
customers is recorded as orders are received and shipments are made F.O.B. destination or F.O.B. shipping point.
Revenue derived from consignment agreements is earned as consumables product orders are fulfilled. Therefore, revenue is recognized as shipments are
made F.O.B. shipping point or F.O.B destination.
Revenue derived from service and maintenance contracts is recognized as the services are performed.
Contract Specific Performance Obligations and Significant Judgements
Product Placement/Consignment Agreements
The Company’s product placement/consignment agreements provide for the placement of a console or generator, at the customer’s place of business and set
pricing related to the purchase of consumables for use in conjunction with the console. These agreements do not require any minimum consumable
purchase quantities and do not have a stated term. The Company considers the transaction price in these arrangements to be fully constrained variable
consideration because it is dependent on future sales of consumables to the customer. The Company has determined that the pattern of purchase of
consumables by a customer is consistent with the benefit received by the customer for the use of the generator and therefore the Company has a right to
consideration based upon the pattern of consumable purchases placed through purchase orders by the customer. The Company’s invoices to these customers
have short-term payment terms and are aligned with the transfer of goods and services to the customer and the Company recognizes revenue based upon its
right to invoice customers.
Selling Costs
Incremental direct costs of obtaining a sales contract primarily include sales commissions paid to sales personnel and outside sales representatives in
connection with sales of products under ship and bill scenarios or through product placement scenarios. The expected period of benefit of these costs is one
year or less and therefore the Company has elected the practical expedient to expense such costs in the period in which they are incurred. Typically, costs in
fulfilling a contract represent shipping and handling costs and the Company accounts for these costs as fulfillment costs and they are expensed as incurred.
Costs in fulfilling a contract are only capitalized as an asset if they relate directly to an existing contract or specific anticipated contract, they generate or
enhance resources of the entity that will be used to satisfy performance obligations in the future, and they are expected to be recovered. The Company has
not identified any such costs.
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The following table disaggregates the Company’s product revenue by sales channel and geographic location:
For the years ended
June 30,
2020
2019
Total
Surgical
Wound
Total

$
$

Domestic:
Surgical
Wound
Total

$
$

International:
Surgical
Wound
Total

$
$

34,457,631
28,026,020
62,483,651

$

20,874,419
27,678,534
48,552,953

$

13,583,212
347,486
13,930,698

$

$

$

$

33,415,333
5,433,158
38,848,491

18,048,956
4,926,752
22,975,708

15,366,377
506,406
15,872,783

Our international sales include a concentration in China, aggregating $3.1 million and $4.6 million for fiscal 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Beginning with the fiscal third quarter of 2020, Misonix adopted certain changes in its quarterly financial results related to the presentation of its sales
performance supplemental data to more accurately reflect the Company’s two separate sales channels - its Surgical and Wound product divisions. The
Surgical division includes the Company’s Nexus, BoneScalpel and SonaStar product lines, and the Wound division includes the Company’s SonicOne,
TheraSkin and Therion product lines. As a result, the Company presents total, domestic and international sales performance supplemental data for its
Surgical and Wound divisions and no longer presents total, domestic and international sales performance supplemental data based on its consumables and
equipment products. Further, in the Third Quarter of 2020, the Company began operating in two business segments, and disclosing the Surgical and Wound
businesses as its two segments.
Contract Assets
The timing of revenue recognition, customer invoicing, and collections produces accounts receivable and contract assets on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet. The Company does not have any contract liabilities as of June 30, 2020 and 2019. The Company invoices in accordance with contract
payment terms. Invoices to customers represent an unconditional right of the Company to receive consideration. When revenue is recognized in advance of
customer invoicing a contract asset is recorded. Unpaid customer invoices are reflected as accounts receivable. Contract assets were 0$ and $1.0 million at
June 30, 2020 and 2019.
Upon the adoption of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606 on July 1, 2018, the Company recorded a contract asset in the amount of
$960,000 relating to royalties to be received from its Chinese partner pursuant to its License and Exclusive Manufacturing Agreement. This resulted in a
cumulative prior period adjustment in the amount of $960,000 which was charged to accumulated deficit. When this contract asset was established, the
value of such asset was determined based upon the Company’s assessment of the most likely variable consideration to be received by the Company as a
result of the royalty provisions in the contract. As of June 30, 2020, the Company’s Chinese partner was in default on its initial royalty payment
obligations. Management determined that collection of this contract is unlikely, and accordingly, recorded a full $960,000 allowance against such asset with
a corresponding charge to bad debt expense, classified as general and administrative expenses.
The impacts of adopting ASC Topic 606 on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of July 1, 2018 were as follows:

As
Reported

As
Adjusted
Under
ASC 606

ASC 606
Adjustments

Long-term contract assets

$

-

$

960,000

$

960,000

Total Shareholders’ equity

$

24,401,178

$

960,000

$

25,361,178
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Long-Lived Assets
The carrying values of intangible and other long-lived assets are periodically reviewed to determine if any impairment indicators are present. If it is
determined that such indicators are present and the review indicates that the assets will not be fully recoverable, based on undiscounted estimated cash
flows over the remaining amortization and depreciation period, their carrying values are reduced to estimated fair value. Impairment indicators include,
among other conditions, cash flow deficits, historic or anticipated decline in revenue or operating profit, adverse legal or regulatory developments,
accumulation of costs significantly in excess of amounts originally expected to acquire the asset and a material decrease in the fair value of some or all of
the assets. Assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows generated by
other asset groups. No such impairment was deemed to exist in fiscal 2020 and 2019.
Goodwill
In connection with the acquisition of Solsys, the Company recorded $106.6 million of Goodwill as of June 30, 2020, $12.7 million of which is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes. The Goodwill recognized from the Solsys acquisition represents the excess of the purchase price over aggregate fair value
of net assets acquired and is related to the benefits expected as a result of the acquisition, including sales, and a stronger portfolio of Wound solutions that
will drive growth in the would care market. Our Goodwill balance as of each reporting period and by segment, includes:
Surgical
Balance as of June 30, 2018

$

Goodwill (gross)
Accumulated impairment losses
Balance as of June 30, 2019
Acquisition of Solsys
Purchase price accounting adjustments
Goodwill (gross)

1,701,094

$

1,701,094

$

$

-

$

1,701,094
$

1,701,094

Total
-

$

-

$

Accumulated impairment losses
Balance as of June 30, 2020

Wound

-

$

108,833,165 $
(2,223,909)
106,609,256
-

$

106,609,256

1,701,094

1,701,094
108,833,165
(2,223,909)
108,310,350
-

$

108,310,350

Goodwill is not amortized. The Company reviews goodwill for impairment annually and whenever events or changes indicate that the carrying value of an
asset may not be recoverable. These events or circumstances could include a significant change in the business climate, legal factors, operating
performance indicators, competition, or sale or disposition of significant assets or products. Application of this impairment test requires significant
judgments, including estimation of cash flows, which is dependent on internal forecasts, estimation of the long term rate of growth for the Company’s
business, the useful lives over which cash flows will occur and determination of the Company’s weighted average cost of capital.
The Company also compares its market capitalization to the value of its goodwill to view for evidence of impairment. The Company completed its annual
goodwill impairment tests for fiscal 2020 and 2019 as of March 31 of each year. No impairment of goodwill was deemed to exist in fiscal 2020 and 2019.
Patents, net of accumulated amortization
The cost of acquiring or processing patents is capitalized at cost. This amount is being amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the underlying assets, which is approximately 17 years. Patents totaled $784,318 and $779,100 at June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Amortization expense for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was approximately $137,387 and $141,200, respectively.
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The following is a schedule of estimated future patent amortization expense as of June 30, 2020 during the following fiscal years:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$

$

137,281
86,837
85,705
77,794
71,687
325,014
784,318

Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the consolidated financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the
enactment date. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income in those periods in which
temporary differences become deductible. Should management determine that it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not
be realized, a valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset would be established in the period such determination was made.
The Company recognizes a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination
by the taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial statements from such
position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company
classifies income tax related interest and penalties as a component of income tax expense.
Earnings Per Share
Earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated using the two-class method, which allocates earnings among common stock and participating securities to
calculate EPS when an entity’s capital structure includes either two or more classes of common stock or common stock and participating securities.
Unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents (whether paid or unpaid) are participating
securities. As such, unvested shares of restricted stock of the Company are considered participating securities. The dilutive effect of options and their
equivalents (including non-vested stock issued under stock-based compensation plans), is computed using the “treasury” method.
Basic income per common share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted income per common
share includes the dilutive effect of potential common shares outstanding. The following table sets forth the reconciliation of weighted average shares
outstanding and diluted weighted average shares outstanding:
For the years ended
June 30,
2020
2019
Basic weighted average shares outstanding
Dilutive effect of restricted stock awards (participating
securities)

14,670,663

9,333,117

-

-

Denominator for basic earnings per share

14,670,663

9,333,117

-

-

14,670,663

9,333,117

Dilutive effect of stock options
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding
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Diluted EPS for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 as presented is the same as basic EPS as the inclusion of the effect of common share equivalents
then outstanding would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly, excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS are the dilutive effect of options to purchase 501,554
and 482,926 shares of common stock for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Also excluded from the calculation of both basic and
diluted earnings per share for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 are 186,600 shares of restricted common stock which were issued in December 2016.
Research and Development
All research and development expenses are expensed as incurred and are included in operating expenses.
Depreciation Expense for Consigned Inventory
The Company typically provides to its United States customers, on a consignment basis, the generators used to power its BoneScalpel and SonicOne
products. Title to these generators remains at all times with the Company. When these generators are deployed in the field at customer locations, the
Company depreciates these units over a five-year period and charges the depreciation to selling expenses. Depreciation expense relating to consigned
generators and for demonstration equipment for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was $1,586,000 and $1,093,000, respectively.
Shipping and Handling
Shipping and handling costs which were charged to customers for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were approximately $71,000 and $83,000,
respectively, and are reported as a component of revenue. Shipping and handling costs which were not charged to customers for the fiscal years ended June
30, 2020 and 2019 were approximately $3,769,000 and $563,000, respectively, and are reported as a component of selling expenses.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company measures compensation cost for all share-based payments at fair value and recognizes the cost over the vesting period. The Company uses
the Black-Scholes method to value awards and utilizes the straight-line amortization method to recognize the expense associated with the awards with
graded vesting terms.
Restricted Stock Awards
The Company measures compensation cost for all restricted stock awards at fair value and recognizes the cost over the vesting period. For awards that have
market conditions, the Company uses the Monte Carlo valuation method to value awards and utilizes the straight line amortization method to recognize the
expense associated with the awards with graded vesting terms. Where awards have performance conditions, the Company will determine the probability of
achieving those conditions and will record compensation expense when it is probable that the conditions will be met.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit
Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instrument (“ASU 2016-13”). ASU 2016-13 replaces the incurred loss impairment
methodology in current U.S. GAAP with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and
supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. ASU 2016-13 is effective for SEC small business filers for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2022. Management is currently assessing the impact that ASU 2016-13 will have on the Company.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), and has since issued amendments thereto, related to the accounting for leases
(collectively referred to as “ASC 842”). ASC 842 establishes a right-of-use (“ROU”) model that requires a lessee to record a ROU asset and a lease liability
on the consolidated balance sheet for all long-term leases. Leases will be classified as either financing or operating, with classification affecting the pattern
of expense recognition and classification in the consolidated statement of operations. The Company adopted ASC 842 on July 1, 2019. A modified
retrospective transition approach is required for lessees for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented in the consolidated financial statements, with certain practical expedients available. Entities have the option to continue to
apply historical accounting under Topic 840, including its disclosure requirements, in comparative periods presented in the year of adoption. An entity that
elects this option recognizes a cumulative effect adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated deficit in the period of adoption instead of the earliest
period presented. The Company adopted the optional ASC 842 transition provisions beginning on July 1, 2019. Accordingly, the Company will continue to
apply Topic 840 prior to July 1, 2019, including Topic 840 disclosure requirements, in the comparative periods presented. The Company elected the
package of practical expedients for all its leases that commenced before July 1, 2019. The Company has evaluated its real estate lease, its copier leases and
its generator rental agreements. The adoption of ASC 842 did not materially impact the Company’s consolidated balance sheet and had an immaterial
impact on its results of operations. Based on the Company’s current agreements, upon the adoption of ASC 842 on July 1, 2019, the Company recorded an
operating lease liability of approximately $436,000 and corresponding ROU assets based on the present value of the remaining minimum rental payments
associated with the Company’s leases. As the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, nor is one readily available, the Company used its
incremental borrowing rate of 10.5% based on information available at July 1, 2019 to determine the present value of its future minimum rental payments.
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or the FASB, issued ASC Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic
606), which was subsequently updated (“ASU 2014-09”). The purpose of the updated standard is to provide enhancements to the quality and consistency of
revenue recognition between companies using U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards. The new five-step recognition model
introduces the core principle of recognizing revenue in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
the promised goods or services, which includes additional footnote disclosures to describe the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue, certain
costs and cash flow arising from customers. As amended, ASU 2014-09 requires us to use either of the following transition methods: (i) a full retrospective
approach reflecting the application of the standard in each prior reporting period with the option to elect certain practical expedients; or (ii) a modified
retrospective approach with the cumulative effect of initially adopting ASU 2014-09 recognized at the date of adoption. This standard became effective for
us on July 1, 2018 and we adopted the new pronouncement using the modified retrospective method. Refer to Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information on the impact of adoption of this standard.
2. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company follows a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to measure fair value. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use
of “observable inputs” and minimize the use of “unobservable inputs.” The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets as of the measurement date.
Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are
not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.
At June 30, 2020 and 2019, all of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and trade accounts payable were short term in nature,
and their carrying amounts approximate fair value. Our current and long-term debt arrangements are classified as level 2 financial instruments.
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3. Inventories
Inventories are summarized as follows:

Raw material
Work-in-process
Finished goods

$

Less obsolescence reserve
Inventory, net

June 30,
2020
7,000,453 $
467,037
6,813,034
14,280,524
(269,840)

$

14,010,684

June 30,
2019
4,830,207
224,252
2,743,361
7,797,820
(444,258)

$

7,353,562

4. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:

Demonstration and consignment inventory
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements
Software systems
Freezers
Automobiles

$

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property, plant and equipment, net

June 30,
2020
13,375,692
2,942,692
1,563,017
734,651
785,773
596,022
22,328
20,020,175
(12,715,917)

$

7,304,258

$

$

June 30,
2019
9,076,970
2,793,908
1,471,371
691,751
688,203
22,328
14,744,531
(10,545,810)
4,198,721

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment totaled approximately $2,200,000 and $1,500,000 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020
and 2019, respectively.
5. Intangible Assets
In connection with the Solsys Acquisition, the Company acquired intangible assets primarily consisting of customer relationships, trade names and noncompetition agreements. Amortization expense for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were $1.2 million and $0, respectively. Intangible assets
are amortized using the straight-line basis which approximates the expected use of the asset.
The table below summarizes the intangible assets acquired:
June 30,
2020
Customer relationships
Trade names
Non-competition agreements

$

Total
Less accumulated amortization

9,500,000
12,800,000
200,000

June 30,
2019
$

22,500,000
(1,218,864)

Net intangible assets

$
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21,281,136

$

Amortization
Period
-

15 years
15 years
1 year

The following is a schedule of estimated future intangible asset amortization expense by fiscal year as of June 30, 2020:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$

1,539,848
1,489,848
1,489,848
1,489,848
1,489,848
13,781,896
21,281,136

$
6. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
The following summarizes accrued expenses and other current liabilities:
June 30,
2020

June 30,
2019

Accrued payroll, payroll taxes and vacation
Accrued bonus
Accrued commissions
Professional fees
Vendor, tax and other accruals

$

2,277,752
417,000
1,678,966
355,145
2,786,888

$

488,339
622,115
662,007
181,313
534,740

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

$

7,515,751

$

2,488,514

7. Stock-based Compensation Plans
At June 30, 2020, the Company had outstanding equity-linked grants under eight stock-based compensation plans (the “Plans”), as follows:

Plan
2001 Employee Stock Option Plan
2005 Employee Equity Incentive Plan
2009 Employee Equity Incentive Plan
2009 Non Employee Director Stock Option Plan
2012 Employee Equity Incentive Plan
2012 Non Employee Director Stock Option Plan
2014 Employee Equity Incentive Plan
2017 Equity Incentive Plan

Initial
Shares
1,000,000
500,000
500,000
200,000
500,000
200,000
750,000
1,950,000

Total

Granted
1,251,261
547,125
624,925
275,000
750,000
277,500
573,500 [1]
1,028,339

Exercised

Expired /
Forfeited

Outstanding

Available
for
Issuance

376,368
497,200
400,782
131,250
198,499
110,000
88,374
3,000

869,455
48,925
130,225
90,000
264,251
78,750
228,501
34,000

5,438
1,000
93,918
53,750
287,250
88,750
256,625
991,339

5,300
15,000
14,251
1,250
5,001
955,661

1,778,070

996,463

[1] Excludes grant of 400,000 shares of restricted stock
The compensation cost that has been charged against income for these plans, excluding the compensation cost for restricted stock, was $1,762,628 and
$1,221,233 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and is recorded in the department associated with the employee to which the
grants are issued. As of June 30, 2020, there was $7,456,441 of total unrecognized compensation cost to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
3.0 years, which includes $641,794 of unrecognized compensation expense on restricted stock awards.
Stock options typically expire 10 years from the date of grant and vest over service periods, which typically are 4 years. All options are granted at the price
of the Common Stock on the NASDAQ Stock Market on the date of grant as set forth in the Plans.
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The fair value of each option award was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model that uses the assumptions noted in
the following table. The expected volatility represents the historical price changes of the Company’s stock over a period equal to that of the expected term
of the option. The Company uses the simplified method for determining the option term. The risk-free rate was based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in
effect at the time of grant. The expected dividend yield is based upon historical and projected dividends. The Company has historically not paid dividends
and is not expected to do so in the near term.
The weighted average fair value at date of grant for options granted during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was $7.17 and $16.64 per share,
respectively. The fair value was estimated based on the weighted average assumptions of:
For the years ended
June 30, 2020
2020
2019
0.68%
2.80%
6.03
6.25
57.53%
56.01%
0%
0%

Risk-free interest rates
Expected option life in years
Expected stock price volatility
Expected dividend yield

A summary of option activity under the Plans as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, and changes during the years ended on those dates is presented below:

Outstanding
Shares
1,330,193
681,316
255,000
(245,835)
(160,502)
(15,000)
1,163,856
656,730
829,839
(150,875)
(64,750)
1,778,070
683,442

Outstanding as of June 30, 2018
Vested and exercisable at June 30, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding as of June 30, 2019
Vested and exercisable at June 30, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding as of June 30, 2020
Vested and exercisable at June 30, 2020

Options
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
$
$

$
$

$
$

8.47
7.67
16.64
7.96
10.15
2.66
10.28
8.42
13.51
8.26
14.61
11.81
9.16

$
$

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
5,369,557
3,355,240

$
$

17,617,231
11,162,650

$
$

5,164,938
3,156,051

The total fair value of shares vested during the year ended June 30, 2020 was $1,098,780. The number and weighted-average grant-date fair value of nonvested stock options at June 30, 2020 was 1,094,628 and $7.21, respectively. The number and weighted-average grant-date fair value of stock options
which vested during fiscal 2020 was 179,087 and $6.14, respectively.
The total fair value of shares vested during the year ended June 30, 2019 was $2,351,268. The number and weighted-average grant-date fair value of nonvested stock options at the beginning of fiscal 2019 was 648,877 and $5.08, respectively. The number and weighted-average grant-date fair value of stock
options which vested during fiscal 2019 was 240,624 and $5.14, respectively.
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at June 30, 2020 and 2019:
FISCAL 2020
Options Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Contractual
Life

Range of
Exercise Prices
Low
$
$
$
$
$

High
1.82
9.46
10.02
13.55
15.44

$
$
$
$
$

9.45
10.01
13.54
15.43
21.41

Number
369,981
508,250
307,000
261,339
331,500
1,778,070

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Exercise

(Yrs.)

Price
4.4
9.2
6.5
9.9
8.9
7.8

$
$
$
$
$
$

6.77
9.76
11.25
13.65
19.62
11.81

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Number
351,605
93,587
196,000
5,750
36,500
683,442

Price
$
$
$
$
$
$

6.77
9.59
11.57
14.58
17.35
9.16

FISCAL 2019
Options Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Contractual
Life

Range of
Exercise Prices
Low
$
$
$
$
$

High
1.82
6.99
9.46
10.24
13.36

$
$
$
$
$

6.98
9.45
10.23
13.35
19.84

Number
225,106
237,125
246,125
223,500
232,000
1,163,856

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Exercise

(Yrs.)

Price
4.6
5.9
7.9
6.9
9.3
6.9

$
$
$
$
$
$

4.89
8.21
9.84
11.8
16.7
10.3

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Number
183,606
197,249
124,625
149,250
2,000
656,730

Price
$
$
$
$
$
$

4.47
8.14
9.74
12.5
13.9
8.42

Stock options are granted with exercise prices not less than the fair market value of the Company’s Common Stock, at the time of the grant, with an
exercise term as determined by the Committee administering the applicable option plan (the “Committee”) not to exceed 10 years. The Committee
determines the vesting period for the Company’s stock options. Generally, such stock options have vesting periods of immediate to four years. Certain
option awards provide for accelerated vesting upon meeting specific retirement, death or disability criteria, and upon change of control. During the fiscal
years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company granted options to purchase 829,839 and 255,000 shares of Common Stock, respectively.
Restricted Stock Awards
On December 15, 2016, the Company issued 400,000 shares of restricted stock to its Chief Executive Officer. The awards were valued using a Monte Carlo
valuation model using a stock price at the date of grant of $9.60, a term of 3 to 5 years, a risk-free interest rate of 1.6% to 2.1% and a volatility factor of
66.5%. These awards vest over a period of up to five years, subject to meeting certain service, performance and market conditions. These awards were
valued at approximately $3.6 million at the date of grant and compensation expense recorded for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was $491,950 and
$1,114,906, respectively. At June 30, 2020, there was $641,794 of unrecognized compensation cost to restricted stock awards to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 1.3 years. The awards contain a combination of vesting terms which include time vesting, performance vesting relating to
revenue achievement, and market vesting related to obtaining certain levels of Company stock prices. During fiscal 2019, the performance conditions of
one of these restricted stock awards were met, resulting in the full amortization of this award during the period, totaling $475,286 of additional
amortization during the period. The number of restricted stock awards which vested was 133,333. At June 30, 2020, the Company has estimated that it is
probable that the performance conditions of the outstanding awards will be met.
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8. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases
The Company has entered into operating leases primarily for real estate and office copiers. These leases generally have terms that range from 1 year to 6
years. These operating leases are included in “Lease right-of-use assets” on the Company’s June 30, 2020 consolidated balance sheet and represent the
Company’s right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. The Company’s obligation to make lease payments are included in “Current portion of lease
liabilities” and “Lease liabilities” on the Company’s June 30, 2020 consolidated balance sheet. Based on the present value of the lease payments for the
remaining lease term of the Company’s existing leases, the Company recognized right-of-use assets of approximately $0.4 million and lease liabilities for
operating leases of approximately $0.4 million on July 1, 2019. Operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities commencing after July 1, 2019 are
recognized at their commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As of June 30, 2020, total right-of-use assets and
operating lease liabilities were approximately $1.1 million and $1.1 million, respectively. The Company has entered into various short-term operating
leases with an initial term of twelve months or less. These leases are not recorded on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. All operating lease
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company recognized approximately $561,809
in total lease costs, which was composed of operating lease costs for right-of-use assets.
Because the rate implicit in each lease is not readily determinable, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate of 10.5% to determine the present
value of the lease payments.
Information related to the Company’s right-of-use assets and related lease liabilities were as follows:
Year ended
June 30, 2020
Cash paid for operating lease liabilities
Right of use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease obligations

$
$

501,651
1,541,727
As of
June 30, 2020

Weighted-average remaining lease term
Weighted-average discount rate

3.59
10.5%

Maturities of lease liabilities as of June 30, 2020 were as follows:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

510,406
247,359
254,199
254,794
109,492
1,376,250
(238,639)

Less imputed interest
Total lease liabilities

$

1,137,611

Purchase Commitments
As of June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company had purchase and inventory commitments totaling $4.5 million and $5.5 million, respectively.
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Former Chinese Distributor - FCPA
With the assistance of outside counsel, the Company conducted a voluntary investigation into the business practices of the independent Chinese entity that
previously distributed the Company’s products in China and the Company’s knowledge of those business practices, which may have had implications under
the FCPA, as well as into various internal control issues identified during the investigation (the “Investigation”). The Company has not identified any
information through the Investigation or otherwise that suggests that the Company’s previously reported consolidated financial statements are incorrect. On
September 27, 2016 and September 28, 2016, the Company voluntarily contacted the SEC and the DOJ, respectively, to advise both agencies of these
potential issues. Thereafter, the Company provided documents and information to, and cooperated fully with, the SEC and the DOJ , in their investigations
of these matters.
On June 18, 2019, the Division of Enforcement of the SEC advised the Company by letter that the SEC had concluded its investigation of Misonix, Inc.
and that, based on the information it had as of the date of the letter, it did not intend to recommend an enforcement action by the SEC against the Company.
On August 13, 2019, the Company received a declination letter from the DOJ stating that the DOJ had closed its inquiry into Misonix without any action
against the Company.
Former Chinese Distributor - Litigation
On March 23, 2017, the Company’s former distributor in China, Cicel (Beijing) Science & Technology Co., Ltd., filed a lawsuit against the Company and
certain of its officers and directors in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York, alleging that the Company improperly
terminated its contract with the former distributor. The complaint sought various remedies, including compensatory and punitive damages, specific
performance and preliminary and post judgment injunctive relief, and asserted various causes of action, including breach of contract, unfair competition,
tortious interference with contract, fraudulent inducement, and conversion. On October 7, 2017, the court granted the Company’s motion to dismiss each of
the tort claims asserted against us, and also granted the individual defendants’ motion to dismiss all claims asserted against them. On January 23, 2020, the
Court granted Cicel’s motion to amend its complaint, to include claims for alleged defamation and theft of trade secrets in addition to the breach of contract
claim. The Company believes that it has various legal and factual defenses to the allegations in the complaint and intends to defend the action vigorously.
Fact discovery in the case is ongoing, and there is no trial date currently set.
Class Action Securities Litigation
On September 19, 2016, Richard Scalfani, an individual shareholder of Misonix, filed a lawsuit against the Company and its former chief executive officer
and chief financial officer in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York, alleging violations of the federal securities laws. The complaint
alleges that the Company’s stock price was artificially inflated between November 5, 2015 and September 14, 2016 as a result of alleged false and
misleading statements in the Company’s securities filings concerning the Company’s business, operations, and prospects and the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Mr. Scalfani filed the action seeking to represent a putative class of all persons (other than defendants, officers and
directors of the Company, and their affiliates) who purchased publicly traded Misonix securities between November 5, 2015 and September 14, 2016. Mr.
Scalfani was seeking an unspecified amount of damages for himself and for the putative class under the federal securities laws. On March 24, 2017, the
Court appointed Mr. Scalfani and another individual Misonix shareholder, Tracey Angiuoli, as lead plaintiffs for purposes of pursuing the action on behalf
of the putative class. The lead plaintiffs, on behalf of the putative class, and the Company reached a settlement in principle under which the Company
would pay $500,000 to resolve the matter. The district court approved the settlement and dismissed the lawsuit with prejudice in an order dated December
16, 2017. The Company has paid its $250,000, representing its insurance retention. The balance was paid by the Company’s insurance carrier.
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9. Financing Arrangements
Note payable consists of the following as of June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019:
June 30,
2020
Revolving credit facility
PPP Note Payable
Term loans
Less current portion of notes payable
Notes payable

June 30,
2019

$

8,400,000 $
5,199,487
30,095,762
43,695,249
(5,099,744)

$

38,595,505

$

-

Following are the scheduled maturities of the notes payable for the twelve-month period ending June 30:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

$

5,099,744
7,599,743
30,995,762
-

$

43,695,249

Revolving Credit Facility
Through the Solsys Acquisition, the Company became party to a $5.0 million revolving line of credit loan agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, originally
effective January 22, 2019 (as amended and supplemented, the “Prior Solsys Credit Agreement”). The line of credit had an original maturity date of
January 22, 2021.
On December 26, 2019 (the “Effective Date”), the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “New Loan and Security Agreement”)
among the Company, Misonix OpCo, Inc. and Solsys, as borrowers, and Silicon Valley Bank. The New Loan and Security Agreement provides for a
revolving credit facility (the “New Credit Facility”) in an aggregate principal amount of up to $20.0 million, including borrowings and letters of credit. The
New Loan and Security Agreement replaces the $5.0 million Prior Solsys Credit Agreement, dated as of January 22, 2019, among Solsys, as borrower, and
Silicon Valley Bank. The Company did not incur any early termination penalties in connection with the termination of the Prior Solsys Credit Agreement.
Borrowings under the New Credit Facility were used in part to repay the amount of $3,750,000 outstanding under the Prior Solsys Credit Agreement, and
the balance may be used by the Company for general corporate purposes and working capital. The New Credit Facility matures on December 26, 2022.
Interest on outstanding indebtedness under the New Credit Facility accrues at a rate equal to the greater of the “Prime Rate” and 5.25%. In addition, on
each year anniversary of the Effective Date, the Company is required to pay an anniversary fee of $100,000.
The New Loan and Security Agreement contains representations and warranties and covenants that the Company believes are customary for agreements of
this type, including covenants applicable to the Company and its subsidiaries limiting indebtedness, liens, substantial asset sales and mergers as well as
financial maintenance covenants and other provisions. The New Loan and Security Agreement contains customary events of default. Upon the occurrence
of an event of default, the lender may accelerate the indebtedness under the New Credit Facility, provided, that in the case of certain bankruptcy or
insolvency events of default, the indebtedness under the New Credit Facility will automatically accelerate. If the New Credit Facility or the New Loan and
Security Agreement terminates before the maturity date of December 26, 2022, then the Company must pay the then-owing amounts, in addition to a
termination fee equal to 1% of the New Credit Facility at that time. The termination fee would not apply if the New Credit Facility or the New Loan and
Security Agreement terminates before the maturity date for either of the following reasons: (1) the New Credit Facility is replaced with another new credit
facility from Silicon Valley Bank or (2) Silicon Valley Bank sells, transfers, assigns or negotiates its obligations, rights and benefits under the New Loan
and Security Agreement and related loan documentation to another person or entity that is not an affiliate of Silicon Valley Bank and the Company
terminates the New Loan and Security Agreement or the New Credit Facility within sixty days thereof (unless the Company consented to that sale, transfer,
assignment or negotiation).
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As of June 30, 2020, the outstanding principal balance of the New Credit Facility is $8.4 million.
Notes Payable
On September 27, 2019, the Company entered into an amended and restated credit agreement (“SWK Credit Agreement”) with SWK Holdings Corporation
(“SWK”) pursuant to a commitment letter whereby SWK (a) consented to the Solsys Acquisition and (b) agreed to provide financing to the Company.
Through the Solsys Acquisition, the Company became party to a $20.1 million note payable to SWK. The SWK credit facility originally provided an
additional $5.0 million in financing, totaling approximately $25.1 million and a maturity date of June 30, 2023. Prior to the Amendment Date (as defined
below), the interest rate applicable to the loans made under the SWK Credit Agreement varied between LIBOR plus 7.00% and LIBOR plus 10.25%,
depending on the Company’s consolidated EBITDA or market capitalization. On December 23, 2019 (the “Amendment Date”) the parties amended the
SWK Credit Agreement (as so amended, the “Amended SWK Credit Agreement”) to, among other things, provide an additional $5 million of term loans,
for total aggregate borrowings of up to approximately $30.1 million, to modify the interest payable thereunder, which now varies between LIBOR plus
7.50% and LIBOR plus 10.25%, depending on the Company’s consolidated EBITDA or market capitalization, and to amend the financial covenants
thereunder. The maturity date of the Amended SWK Credit Agreement remains June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2020, the outstanding principal balance of
the term loans under the Amended SWK Credit Agreement is approximately $30.1 million.
Beginning in March 2021, the Company is required to make principal payments of $1.25 million per quarter under the Amended SWK Credit Agreement.
The Company may not prepay the loans under the SWK Credit Agreement until September 27, 2020. On and after September 27, 2020, the Company may
prepay the loans subject to a prepayment fee of (a) $800,000 if such prepayment is made prior to September 27, 2021, (b) 1.00% of the amount prepaid if
such prepayment is on or after September 27, 2021 and prior to September 27, 2022 and (c) $0 if such prepayment is made on or after September 27, 2022.
Under the terms of the Amended SWK Credit Agreement, the Company is required to meet certain additional financial covenants requiring, among other
things, (a) a minimum amount of unencumbered liquid assets that varies based on the Company’s market capitalization, (b) minimum aggregate revenue of
specified amounts for the nine month period ending March 31, 2020, and for the twelve month period ending on the last day of the subsequent fiscal
quarters and (c) minimum EBITDA at levels that will vary based on the Company’s market capitalization. The Company’s obligations under the Amended
SWK Credit Agreement are (i) guaranteed by Misonix OpCo, Inc., and (ii) secured by a first lien on substantially all assets of the Company, Solsys and
Misonix OpCo, Inc. and a second lien position on accounts receivable and inventory of the same entities.
Paycheck Protection Program Loan
On April 5, 2020, the Company applied for an unsecured $5.2 million loan under the Paycheck Protection Program (the “PPP Loan”). The Paycheck
Protection Program (or “PPP”) was established under the recently congressionally approved Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the
“CARES Act”) and is administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”). On April 10, 2020, the PPP loan was approved and funded.
Misonix entered into a promissory note with JP Morgan Chase evidencing the unsecured $5.2 million loan. In accordance with the requirements of the
CARES Act, the Company used the proceeds from the PPP Loan primarily for payroll costs.
The PPP Loan has a maturity date of April 4, 2022 and accrues interest at an annual rate of 0.98%. Interest and principal payments are deferred for the first
six months of the loan. Thereafter, monthly interest and principal payments are due until the loan is fully satisfied at the end of 24 months. The promissory
note evidencing the PPP Loan contains customary events of default relating to, among other things, payment defaults and provisions of the promissory
note.
10. Related Party Transactions
Minoan Medical (Pty) Ptd. (“Minoan”) (formerly Applied BioSurgical) is an independent distributor for the Company in South Africa. The chief executive
officer of Minoan is also the brother of Stavros G. Vizirgianakis, the CEO of Misonix, Inc.
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Set forth below is a table showing the Company’s net revenues for the years ended June 30 and accounts receivable at June 30 for the indicated time
periods below with Minoan:
For the years ended
June 30,
2020
2019
Sales
Accounts receivable

$
$

1,689,416
469,124

$
$

1,405,430
221,240

11. Income Taxes
The Company purchased Solsys Medical, LLC on September 27, 2019. The acquisition of Solsys originally resulted in the recognition of deferred tax
liabilities of approximately $4.1 million, with an additional $475,000 recorded during the year due to purchase price accounting adjustments, both of which
related primarily to intangible assets. Prior to the business combination, the Company had a full valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets. The deferred
tax liabilities generated from the business combination is netted against the Company’s pre-existing deferred tax assets. Consequently, this resulted in a
release of a cumulative $4.6 million of the pre-existing valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets and corresponding deferred tax benefit.
On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) was enacted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The
CARES Act, among other things, contains modifications on the limitation of business interest for tax years beginning in 2019 and 2020, and permits NOL
carryovers and carrybacks to offset 100% of taxable income for taxable years beginning before 2021. In addition, the CARES Act allows NOLs incurred in
2018, 2019, and 2020 to be carried back to each of the five preceding taxable years to generate a refund of previously paid income taxes. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of these provisions of the CARES Act but does not believe it will have a material effect on out estimated effective tax rate.
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. There are no uncertain tax positions as defined by ASC 740-10 for the years June 30, 2019 and
June 30, 2020. Accordingly, there are no interest or penalties accrued for the current or prior tax year.
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented below:
June 30,
2020
Deferred tax assets / (liabilities)
Bad debt reserves
Inventory reserves
Accruals and allowances
Net operating loss carryforwards
Tax credits
Foreign tax credits
Stock based compensation
Interest expense
Amortization
Depreciation
Long-term Contract
Other

$

Valuation Allowance
Total net deferred tax liabilities

$
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654,493 $
306,633
599,335
6,982,938
829,875
609,258
594,528
(4,855,343)
(281,874)
61,968
5,501,811
(5,535,104)
(33,293) $

2019

22,977
238,430
195,789
3,875,978
683,659
401,000
572,378
(371,940)
(124,305)
(220,583)
101,789
5,375,172
(5,375,172)
-

Interest expense on the Company’s debt was approximately $2.6 million for the year. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act limits the deductibility of interest expense,
which can be carried forward indefinitely, and resulted in a deferred tax asset of approximately $595,000.
Deferred tax assets refer to assets that are attributable to differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets in essence represent future savings of taxes that would otherwise be paid in cash. The
realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of sufficient future taxable income, including capital gains. If it is determined that the
deferred tax assets cannot be realized, a valuation allowance must be established, with a corresponding charge to net income.
In accordance with ASC Topic 740, the Company establishes valuation allowances for deferred tax assets that, in its judgment are not more likely-than-not
realizable. The guidance requires entities to evaluate all available positive and negative evidence, including cumulative results in recent periods, weighted
based on its objectivity, in determining whether its deferred tax assets are more likely than not realizable.
The Company regularly assesses its ability to realize its deferred tax assets. The Company is in a three-year cumulative loss position at June 30, 2020, and
it expects to be in a cumulative pretax loss position as of June 30, 2021. Management evaluated available positive evidence, including the continued growth
of the Company’s revenues and gross profit margins, the completion of the development of its next generation Nexus product, its SonaStar technology
license to its Chinese partner and the reduction in investigative and professional fees, along with available negative evidence, including the Company’s
continuing investment in building a direct sales force and payment of transaction fees for the Company’s Solsys acquisition. After weighing both the
positive and negative evidence, management concluded that the Company’s deferred tax assets are not more likely-than-not realizable. The cumulative
valuation allowance at June 30, 2020 and 2019 is $5,535,104 and $5,375,172, respectively. The Company will continue to assess its ability to utilize its net
operating loss carryforwards and will reverse this valuation allowance when sufficient evidence is achieved to allow the realizability of such deferred tax
assets.
As of June 30, 2020, the Company had approximately $30,199,000 of U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of which $10,504,000 will expire in tax
years between 2031 and 2037 and $19,695,000 will not expire. Included in U.S. Federal net operating loss carryforward amount are windfall tax benefits
related to exercised stock options of approximately $2,592,000, the benefit of which was recorded in equity when the Company adopted ASU 2016-09
beginning in fiscal 2018. The Company has approximately $830,000 of research and development tax credit carryforwards, which expire in the tax years
between 2026 and 2039.
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Significant components of the income tax expense (benefit) attributable to continuing operations are as follows:
Year Ended June 30,
2020
2019
Current:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current

$

Deferred:
Federal
State
Total deferred

43,636
43,636

$

(3,929,732)
(612,482)
(4,542,214)
$

(4,498,578) $

28,547
28,547

28,547

The reconciliation of income tax expense (benefit) computed at the Federal statutory tax rates to income tax expense (benefit) is as follows:

Tax at federal statutory rates
State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Research credit
Permanent differences
Transaction Costs
Long-term Contracts
Valuation allowance
Solsys acquisition
Other

$

$

Year ended June 30,
2020
2019
(4,600,276) $
(1,541,883)
(482,344)
22,552
(112,468)
(186,761)
145,107
61,039
120,401
293,256
201,600
5,006,509
1,194,917
(4,575,507)
(16,173)
(4,498,578) $

28,547

Open tax years related to federal and state income tax filings are for the years ended June 30, 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020. The Company’s net operating
loss carryforwards from closed years can be adjusted by the tax authorities when they are utilized in an open year. The Company files state tax returns in
California, Florida, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Texas and various other states.
12. Employee Profit Sharing Plan
The Company sponsors a retirement plan pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) for all full-time
employees. Participants may contribute a percentage of compensation not to exceed the maximum allowed under the Code, which was $25,500 if the
employee was over 50 years of age for the year ended June 30, 2020. The plan provides for a matching contribution by the Company of 10% of annual
eligible compensation contributed by the participants based on years of service, which amounted to $197,895 and $55,297 for the fiscal years ended June
30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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13. Segment Reporting
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated on a regular basis
by the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance of the
segment. Starting with the third quarter 2020, the Company began operating in two segments, organized by its sales channels and product types – the
Surgical and the Wound segment. Prior to the third quarter 2020, the Company operated as one segment. Prior period information has been presented on the
basis of the new segmentation. The Surgical segment consists of our BoneScalpel and SonaStar products and the Wound segment consists of our SonicOne,
TheraSkin and Therion products. The Company has concluded that its Chief Executive Officer is the CODM as he is the ultimate decision maker for key
operating decisions, determining the allocation of resources and assessing the financial performance of the Company. The CODM evaluates the segments
using gross profit and gross profit margin. The Company does not allocate its assets by segment, and therefore does not disclose assets by segment.
Segment gross profit and gross profit margin include:
Surgical

Wound

Consolidated

For the year ended June 30, 2020
Total revenue

$

34,457,631 $

28,026,020 $

62,483,651

Gross profit

$

23,321,792 $

20,387,691 $

43,709,483

Surgical

Wound

Consolidated

For the year ended June 30, 2019
Total revenue

$

33,415,333 $

5,433,158 $

38,848,491

Gross profit

$

23,129,684 $

4,150,468 $

27,280,152

Worldwide revenue for the Company’s products is categorized as follows:
For the years ended
June 30,
2020
2019
Total
Surgical
Wound
Total

$
$

Domestic:
Surgical
Wound
Total

$
$

International:
Surgical
Wound
Total

$
$

34,457,631 $
28,026,020
62,483,651 $

33,415,333
5,433,158
38,848,491

20,874,419 $
27,678,534
48,552,953 $

18,048,956
4,926,752
22,975,708

13,583,212 $
347,486
13,930,698 $

15,366,377
506,406
15,872,783

All of the Company’s long-lived assets are located in the United States. Our international revenue includes a concentration in China, aggregating to $3.1
million and $4.6 million for fiscal 2020 and 2019, respectively
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14. Acquisitions
Solsys Medical, LLC
On September 27, 2019, the Company completed the Solsys Acquisition. The purchase price was approximately $108.6 million, based on the Company’s
issuance of 5,703,082 shares of Misonix common stock as acquisition consideration, valued at $19.05 per share. In addition, business transaction costs
incurred in connection with the acquisition were $4.5 million, of which $1.8 million were incurred in the twelve months ended June 30, 2020. These fees
were charged to general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. In addition, approximately $1.4 million of the
transaction costs were capitalized to additional paid in capital, in connection with the registration of the underlying stock issued in the transaction.
The transaction was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 805. U.S. GAAP requires that one of
the companies in the transactions be designated as the acquirer for accounting purposes based on the evidence available. Misonix was treated as the
acquiring entity for accounting purposes.
The preliminary Solsys purchase price allocation as of June 30, 2020, is shown in the following table:
Cash
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Indemnified asset - sales tax
Property and equipment
Lease assets
Customer relationships
Trade names
Non-competition agreements
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Notes payable

$

Total identifiable net assets
Goodwill
Total consideration

$

5,525,601
6,097,685
98,911
88,863
150,000
673,353
946,617
9,500,000
12,800,000
200,000
(4,694,878)
(860,490)
(4,575,507)
(23,915,701)
2,034,454
106,609,256
108,643,710

The fair values of the Solsys assets and liabilities were determined based on preliminary estimates and assumptions that management believes are
reasonable. Goodwill decreased by $2,217,026 during the twelve months ended June 30, 2020 as a result of refinements relating to the purchase price
valuation of Solsys. The preliminary purchase price allocation is subject to further refinement and may require significant adjustments to arrive at the final
purchase price allocation. These adjustments will primarily relate to certain short-term assets, intangible assets, and certain liabilities. The final
determination of the fair value of certain assets and liabilities will be completed as soon as the necessary information is available, including the completion
of a valuation of the tangible and intangible assets, but no later than one year from the acquisition date.
The goodwill from the acquisition of Solsys, which is fully deductible for tax purposes, consists largely of synergies and economies of scale expected from
combining the operations of Solsys and the Company’s existing business.
The estimate of fair value of the Solsys identifiable intangible assets was determined primarily using the “income approach,” which requires a forecast of
all of the expected future cash flows either through the use of the multi-period excess earnings method or the relief-from-royalty method. Some of the more
significant assumptions inherent in the development of intangible asset values include: the amount and timing of projected future cash flows, the discount
rate selected to measure the risks inherent in the future cash flows, the assessment of the intangible asset’s life cycle, revenue growth rates and EBITDA
margins, as well as other factors. The following table summarizes key information underlying intangible assets related to the Solsys Acquisition:
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June 30,
2020
Customer relationships
Trade names
Non-competition agreements

$

Total
Less accumulated amortization
Net intangible assets

$

June 30,
2019

Amortization
Period

9,500,000 $
12,800,000
200,000

-

22,500,000
(1,218,864)

-

21,281,136 $

15 years
15 years
1 year

Solsys’ operations were consolidated with those of the Company for the period September 27, 2019 through June 30, 2020. The Company does not disclose
the amount of revenue and earnings of Solsys since the acquisition date included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended June 30,
2020 because it is impracticable to do so. The Company has combined the operations of Solsys and Misonix, Inc. and no longer tracks operating expenses
on a disaggregated basis.
Had the acquisition occurred as of the beginning of fiscal 2019, revenue and net loss, on a pro forma basis excluding transaction fees and the one-time tax
benefit, for the combined company would have been as follows:
For the year ended
June 30, 2020
2020
2019
Revenue

$

Net loss

$ (21,404,463) $ (18,649,189)

70,864,847 $

65,229,982

Pro forma net loss for the year ended June 30, 2020 was adjusted to exclude $3.0 million of acquisition-related costs, exclude $4.6 million of acquisitionrelated income tax benefit, include $0.2 million of additional interest expense related to new and refinanced borrowings that occurred as a result of the
acquisition, and to include $0.4 million of amortization expense related to the intangible assets acquired.
Pro forma net loss for the year ended June 30, 2019 was adjusted to include $3.0 million of acquisition-related costs, include $4.6 million of acquisitionrelated income tax benefit, include $0.7 million of additional interest expense related to new and refinanced borrowings that occurred as a result of the
acquisition, and include $1.7 million of amortization expense related to the intangible assets acquired.
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15. Quarterly Results (unaudited)

Q1
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

$ 11,145,922
3,236,647
7,909,275

Operating expenses:
Selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other
Total other income (expense)
Loss from operations before income taxes
Income tax (expense) / benefit

11,800,565
5,149,715
1,087,449
18,037,729
(4,260,851)

11,609,943
4,463,467
1,842,837
17,916,247
(5,325,300)

11,621,461
4,133,578
1,214,246
16,969,285
(7,536,902)

40,232,551
17,954,567
4,915,943
63,103,061
(19,393,578)

18,877
(36,097)
(763)
(17,983)

5,293
(833,035)
(380)
(828,122)

37,785
(755,528)
(434)
(718,177)

28,830
(995,630)
7,708
(959,092)

90,785
(2,620,290)
6,131
(2,523,374)

(2,288,508)

(5,088,973)

(6,043,477)

(8,495,994)

(21,916,952)

$

1,796,492

Net income loss per share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.18
0.17

-

Operating expenses:
Selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations

15,222,870
15,222,870

(41,422)

4,498,578

(0.34) $
(0.34) $
16,619,981
16,619,981

(0.50) $
(0.50) $
17,177,791
17,177,791

(1.19)
(1.19)
14,670,663
14,670,663

Fiscal 2019
Q2
Q3
Q4
Year
$ 10,176,453 $ 9,556,590 $ 9,754,284 $ 38,848,491
3,048,079
2,801,571
2,968,146
11,568,339
7,128,374
6,755,019
6,786,138
27,280,152

Q1
9,361,164
2,750,543
6,610,621

Other income/(expense):
Interest income
Other
Total other income

19,813
(18,265)
1,548

Loss before income taxes

(2,610,986)
-

4,800,643
2,347,184
839,219
7,987,046
(858,672)
17,242
1,097
18,339
(840,333)
-

Net loss

$ (2,610,986) $

Net loss per share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

Weighted average shares - Basic
Weighted average shares - Diluted

(0.33) $
(0.33) $

$
$

4,735,005
3,183,384
1,304,766
9,223,155
(2,612,534)

Income tax expense

455,000

$ (5,088,973) $ (5,588,477) $ (8,537,416) $ (17,418,374)

9,686,402
10,213,085

$

Year

5,200,582
4,207,807
771,411
10,179,800
(2,270,525)

Net loss

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

Q4

$ 19,721,986 $ 17,902,512 $ 13,713,231 $ 62,483,651
5,945,108
5,311,565
4,280,848
18,774,168
13,776,878
12,590,947
9,432,383
43,709,483

4,085,000

Weighted average shares - Basic
Weighted average shares - Diluted

Fiscal 2020
Q3

Q2

(0.29) $
(0.29) $
9,100,123
9,100,123

4,393,479
3,835,131
897,501
9,126,111
(2,339,973)

18,343,837
11,878,209
4,467,969
34,690,015
(7,409,863)

22,653
(13,650)
9,003

30,148
(7,425)
22,723

89,856
(38,243)
51,613

(1,589,681)

(2,317,250)

(7,358,250)

-

28,547

28,547

(840,333) $ (1,589,681) $ (2,345,797) $ (7,386,797)

(0.09) $
(0.09) $
9,322,237
9,322,237
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4,414,710
2,512,510
1,426,483
8,353,703
(1,598,684)

(0.17) $
(0.17) $
9,390,665
9,390,665

(0.25) $
(0.25) $
9,428,938
9,428,938

(0.79)
(0.79)
9,333,117
9,333,117

SCHEDULE II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Additions
charged
to cost and
expenses

Balance at
beginning
of period

Description

Additions
charged
revenues

Balance at
end of
period

(Deductions)

Allowance for doubtful
accounts As of June 30:
2020

$

100,000

$

2,473,968

$

-

$

2019

$

200,000

$

-

$

-

$

Balance at
beginning
of period

Description

Additions
charged (credited)
to cost and
expenses

-

$

2,573,968

(100,000) $

100,000
Balance at
end of
period

(Deductions)

Deferred tax valuation allowance As of June 30:
2020

$

5,375,172

$

4,699,932

$

2019

$

4,096,353

$

1,278,819

$
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(4,540,000) $
-

$

5,535,104
5,375,172

Exhibit 3 (a)
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
MISONIX, INC.,
A STOCK CORPORATION
I, the undersigned, for the purpose of incorporating and organizing a corporation under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, do hereby
certify as follows:
ARTICLE I
The name of the corporation is Misonix, Inc. (the “Corporation”).
ARTICLE II
The address of the Corporation’s registered office in the State of Delaware is Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, City of Wilmington, County of
New Castle, Delaware 19801. The name of the Corporation’s registered agent at such address is The Corporation Trust Company.
The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of
the State of Delaware, as amended (the “DGCL”).
ARTICLE III
Section 1. Authorized Capital Stock. The Corporation is authorized to issue two classes of capital stock, designated “Common Stock” and “Preferred
Stock.” The total number of shares of capital stock that the Corporation is authorized to issue is 47,000,000 shares, consisting of 45,000,000 shares of
Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and 2,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share.
Section 2. Preferred Stock. Shares of Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. The Board of Directors of the Corporation (the
“Board”) is hereby authorized to provide from time to time by resolution or resolutions for the creation and issuance, out of the authorized and unissued
shares of Preferred Stock, of one or more series of Preferred Stock by filing a certificate (a “Certificate of Designation”) pursuant to the DGCL, setting
forth such resolution. The authority of the Board with respect to each such series will include, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
determination of any or all of the following:
(a) the number of shares of any series and the designation to distinguish the shares of such series from the shares of all other series;
(b) the voting powers, if any, and whether such voting powers are full or limited in such series;
(c) the redemption provisions, if any, applicable to such series, including the redemption price or prices to be paid;
(d) whether dividends, if any, will be cumulative or noncumulative, the dividend rate of such series, and the dates and preferences of dividends on such
series;
(e) the rights of such series upon the voluntary or involuntary dissolution of, or upon any distribution of the assets of, the Corporation;
(f) the provisions, if any, pursuant to which the shares of such series are convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of any other class or classes or of any
other series of the same or any other class or classes of stock, or any other security, of the Corporation or any other corporation or other entity, and the rates
or other determinants of conversion or exchange applicable thereto;

(g) the right, if any, to subscribe for or to purchase any securities of the Corporation or any other corporation or other entity;
(h) the provisions, if any, of a sinking fund applicable to such series; and
(i) any other relative, participating, optional, or other special powers, preferences or rights and qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof.
The resolution or resolutions providing for the establishment of any series of Preferred Stock may, to the extent permitted by law, provide that such series
shall be superior to, rank equally with or be junior to the Preferred Stock of any other series. Except as otherwise expressly provided in the resolution or
resolutions providing for the establishment of any series of Preferred Stock, no vote of the holders of shares of Preferred Stock or Common Stock shall be a
prerequisite to the issuance of any shares of any series of the Preferred Stock so authorized in the Certificate of Designation in accordance with this
Certificate of Incorporation. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Designation establishing a series of Preferred Stock, the Board may, by
resolution or resolutions, increase or decrease (but not below the number of shares of such series then outstanding) the number of shares of such series and,
if the number of shares of such series shall be so decreased, the shares constituting such decrease shall resume the status that they had prior to the adoption
of the resolution originally fixing the number of shares of such series.
Section 3. Common Stock. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock, the holders of Common Stock will be entitled to one vote on
each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of stockholders for each share of Common Stock held of record by such holder as of the record date for such
meeting.
ARTICLE IV
Section 1. Ability of the Board to Adopt Bylaws. The Board may make, amend, and repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation. Any Bylaw made by the Board
under the powers conferred hereby may be amended or repealed by the Board (except as specified in any such Bylaw so made or amended) in the manner
provided in the Bylaws of the Corporation. The Corporation may in its Bylaws confer powers upon the Board in addition to the foregoing and in addition to
the powers and authorities expressly conferred upon the Board by applicable law.
Section 2. Ability of Stockholders to Amend Bylaws. Any Bylaw made by the Board may be amended or repealed by the stockholders in the manner
provided in the Bylaws of the Corporation, except that notwithstanding anything contained in this Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws to the contrary,
the Bylaws may not be amended or repealed by the stockholders, and no provision inconsistent therewith may be adopted by the stockholders, without the
affirmative vote of the holders of at least 50% of the voting power of the outstanding Voting Stock (as defined below), voting together as a single class. For
the purposes of this Certificate of Incorporation, “Voting Stock” means stock of the Corporation of any class or series entitled to vote generally in the
election of members of the Board (the “Directors”).
ARTICLE V
Section 1. Actions of Stockholders; Establishing Meetings of Stockholders. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock:
(a) any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the Corporation may be taken either at a duly called annual or special meeting of
stockholders of the Corporation or without a meeting by means of any consent in writing or by electronic transmission of such stockholders, each in
accordance with the terms of the Bylaws of the Corporation; and

(b) special meetings of stockholders of the Corporation may be called only by a majority of the total number of Directors that the Corporation would have
if there were no vacancies on the Board (the “Whole Board”) and by 50% of the voting power of the outstanding Voting Stock, voting together as a single
class.
Section 2. Conduct of Business at Meetings of Stockholders. At any annual meeting or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation, only such
business will be conducted or considered as has been brought before such meeting in the manner provided in the Bylaws of the Corporation.
ARTICLE VI
Section 1. Number of Directors. The number of Directors that shall constitute the Board shall be fixed exclusively by resolutions adopted by the Whole
Board.
Section 2. Newly Created Directorships; Vacancies and Decrease in Number of Directors. Subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of any series of
Preferred Stock to elect additional Directors under circumstances specified in a Certificate of Designation, newly created directorships resulting from any
increase in the number of Directors and any vacancies on the Board resulting from death, resignation, disqualification, removal, or other cause will be filled
solely by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining Directors then in office, even though less than a quorum of the Board, or by a sole remaining
Director. Any Director elected in accordance with the preceding sentence will hold office for the remainder of the full term of the class of Directors in
which the new directorship was created or the vacancy occurred and until such Director’s successor has been elected and qualified. No decrease in the
number of Directors constituting the Board may shorten the term of any incumbent Director.
ARTICLE VII
To the full extent permitted by the DGCL and any other applicable law currently or hereafter in effect, no Director of the Corporation will be personally
liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for or with respect to any breach of fiduciary duty or other act or omission as a Director of the Corporation. No
repeal or modification of this Article VII will adversely affect the protection of any Director of the Corporation provided hereby in relation to any breach of
fiduciary duty or other act or omission as a Director of the Corporation occurring prior to the effectiveness of such repeal or modification. If the DGCL or
such other law is amended to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of a director of
the Corporation shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL or such other law, as so amended.
ARTICLE VIII
Section 1. Amendments, Repeal, Etc. Generally. The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this
Certificate of Incorporation in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by the DGCL, and all rights conferred upon stockholders herein are granted subject
to this reservation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Certificate of Incorporation, and notwithstanding that a lesser percentage
may be permitted from time to time by applicable law, no provision of Article IX or this Section 1 of Article VIII may be altered, amended or repealed in
any respect, nor may any provision or bylaw inconsistent therewith be adopted, unless, in addition to any other vote required by this Certificate of
Incorporation or otherwise required by law, such alteration, amendment, repeal or adoption is approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66
2/3% of the voting power of the outstanding Voting Stock, voting together as a single class.
Section 2. Severability. If any provision or provisions of this Certificate of Incorporation shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable as applied to
any circumstance for any reason whatsoever: (a) the validity, legality and enforceability of such provision or provisions in any other circumstance and of
the remaining provisions of this Certificate of Incorporation (including each portion of any paragraph of this Certificate of Incorporation containing any
such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable that is not itself held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or
impaired thereby and (b) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of this Certificate of Incorporation (including each such portion of any paragraph of
this Certificate of Incorporation containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to permit the
Corporation to protect its directors, officers, employees and agents from personal liability in respect of their good faith service to or for the benefit of the
Corporation to the fullest extent permitted by law.

Section 3. Incorporator. The name and mailing address of the incorporator is:
Stavros Vizirgianakis
1938 New Highway
Farmingdale, New York 11735
ARTICLE IX
Section 1. Exclusive Forum for Certain Claims. Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery
of the State of Delaware (or, if and only if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware lacks subject matter jurisdiction, any state court located within
the State of Delaware or, if and only if all such state courts lack subject matter jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) shall be
the sole and exclusive forum for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation; (b) any action or proceeding asserting a
claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer or other employee of the Corporation to the Corporation or the
Corporation’s stockholders; (c) any action or proceeding asserting a claim against the Corporation or any current or former director or officer or other
employee of the Corporation arising out of or pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, the Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws (including
any right, obligation, or remedy thereunder); (d) any action or proceeding to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of this Corporation’s
Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws (including any right, obligation, or remedy thereunder); (e) any action or proceeding as to which the DGCL confers
jurisdiction to the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware; and (f) any action asserting a claim against the Corporation or any director or officer or
other employee of the Corporation governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in all cases to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the court’s
having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants. This Section 1 shall not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability
created by the Securities Act of 1933, Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.
Section 2. Deemed Consent. Any person or entity holding, owning or otherwise acquiring any interest in any security of the Corporation shall be deemed to
have notice of and consented to the provisions of this Certificate of Incorporation. If any action the subject matter of which is within the scope of Section 1
of this Article VII is filed in a court other than a court located within the State of Delaware or the federal district courts of United States, respectively (a
“Foreign Action”) in the name of any stockholder, such stockholder shall be deemed to have consented to (a) the personal jurisdiction of the state and
federal courts located within the State of Delaware in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce Section 1, and (b) having service of
process made upon such stockholder in any such action by service upon such stockholder’s counsel in the Foreign Action as agent for such stockholder.

Exhibit 4.1
DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Misonix, Inc., a Delaware corporation, has one class of equity securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934: common
stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“common stock”). Our preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“preferred stock”), is not registered under the
Exchange Act.
References in the following discussion to “we,” “our” and “us” and similar references mean Misonix, Inc.
The following description of our capital stock is a summary and is qualified in its entirety by provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the
“DGCL”) and by reference to the terms and provisions of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the “Charter”) and Bylaws (the
“Bylaws”), which are incorporated herein by reference and attached as exhibits to our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.
Authorized Capital Stock
Pursuant to our Charter, the total number of shares of all classes of capital stock which we are authorized to issue is 47,000,000 shares, consisting of: (1)
45,000,000 shares of common stock and (2) 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock.
Common Stock
Dividend Rights
Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any then outstanding preferred stock, holders of our common stock are entitled to receive ratably the
dividends, if any, as may be declared from time to time by our Board of Directors (the “Misonix Board”) out of funds legally available for that purpose.
Voting Rights
Each holder of our common stock is entitled to one vote for each share on all matters to be voted on by the stockholders, including the election of directors.
Our stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. Accordingly, holders of a plurality of the voting shares are able to elect
all of the directors.
Liquidation
In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Misonix, holders of our common stock would be entitled to share ratably in the net assets
remaining after payment in full of all debts and other liabilities of Misonix and satisfaction of any liquidation preference granted to the holders of any then
outstanding shares preferred stock.
Other Rights
Holders of our common stock have no preemptive, conversion, subscription or other rights, and there are no redemption or sinking fund provisions
applicable to our common stock. The holders of our common stock will have and possess all rights pertaining to the capital stock of Misonix, subject to the
preferences, qualifications, limitations, voting rights and restrictions with respect to any series of preferred stock of Misonix that may be issued with any
preference or priority over the Misonix common stock.
Fully Paid and Nonassessable
All of the outstanding shares of our common stock are fully paid and nonassessable.

Preferred Stock
Under the terms of our Charter, our board is authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by the DGCL and by our Charter, to issue up to 2,000,000 shares
of preferred stock in one or more series without further action by the holders of our common stock. Our board has discretion, subject to limitations
prescribed by the Delaware General Corporation Law and by our Charter, to determine the designation, powers, preferences and rights, including voting
rights, dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences, of each series of preferred stock. The issuance of preferred
stock may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of Misonix and may adversely affect the price of our common stock, and
the voting and other rights of the holders of our common stock.
Anti-Takeover Effects of Provisions of Our Charter, Bylaws and Delaware Law
Some provisions of Delaware law and our Charter and Bylaws contain provisions that could make the following transactions more difficult: acquisition of
Misonix by means of a tender offer; acquisition of Misonix by means of a proxy contest or otherwise; or removal of Misonix’s incumbent officers and
directors. It is possible that these provisions could make it more difficult to accomplish or could deter transactions that stockholders may otherwise
consider to be in their best interest or in Misonix’s best interests, including transactions that might result in a premium over the market price for Misonix’s
shares of common stock.
These provisions, summarized below, are expected to discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also
designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of Misonix to first negotiate with the Misonix board. Misonix believes that the benefits of
increased protection of its potential ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure Misonix
outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging these proposals because negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.
Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute
Misonix is subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits persons deemed “interested shareholders” from engaging in a
“business combination” with a publicly-held Delaware corporation for three years following the date these persons become interested shareholders unless
the business combination is, or the transaction in which the person became an interested shareholder was, approved in a prescribed manner or another
prescribed exception applies. Generally, an “interested shareholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, beneficially owns, or within
three years prior to the determination of interested shareholder status did own, 15% or more of a corporation’s voting stock. Generally, a “business
combination” includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested shareholder. The existence of this
provision may have an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions not approved in advance by the board of directors, such as discouraging takeover
attempts that might result in a premium over the market price of our common stock.
Undesignated Preferred Stock
The ability to authorize undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for the Misonix Board to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or
preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to change control of Misonix. These and other provisions may have the effect of deterring hostile
takeovers or delaying changes in control or management of Misonix.
No Cumulative Voting
Delaware law provides that stockholders are not entitled to the right to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless the corporation’s certificate of
incorporation provides otherwise. Our Charter does not expressly provide for cumulative voting. Without cumulative voting, a minority stockholder may
not be able to gain as many seats on the Misonix Board as the stockholder would be able to gain if cumulative voting were permitted. The absence of
cumulative voting makes it more difficult for a minority stockholder to secure a seat on the Misonix Board and thereby influence the Misonix Board’s
decision regarding a takeover.
Election and Removal of Directors; Filling Directors
Because our stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights, our stockholders holding a majority of the shares of common stock outstanding are able to
elect all of our directors or remove a director by a majority vote. Our Charter and Bylaws provide that our business and affairs will be managed by the
Misonix Board and that, subject to the rights, if any, of any series of preferred stock to elect additional directors under circumstances specified in a
preferred stock designation, the number of directors that will constitute the Misonix Board be fixed exclusively by resolutions adopted by the whole
Misonix Board. In addition, our Charter and Bylaws provide that any board vacancy may be filled solely by the affirmative vote of a majority of the
remaining directors then in office and entitled to vote, except that a vacancy created by the removal of a director by stockholders for cause or without cause
may be filled by the stockholders at the meeting at which the director is removed or, if not so filled, then by the remaining directors. Note that each
amendment to the Charter requires the same vote of the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding Misonix common stock for its repeal or further
amendment.
Choice of Forum
Unless Misonix consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for:
any derivative action or proceeding brought on Misonix’s behalf; any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty; any action asserting a claim against
Misonix arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law; or any action asserting a claim against Misonix that is governed by the internal affairs
doctrine. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this provision will not apply to any claims arising under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, or any other
claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. The enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions has been challenged in legal
proceedings, and it is possible that, in connection with such actions or any future actions, a court could find the choice of forum provision to be
inapplicable or unenforceable. It is possible that a court could find that such a choice of forum provision is inapplicable for a particular claim or action or
that such provisions are unenforceable.

Exhibit 10.19
MISONIX, INC. 2017 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN, AS AMENDED
Section 1. Purpose.
The purposes of this Misonix, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) are (1) to make available to key employees, directors and consultants
certain compensatory arrangements related to the growth in value of the common stock of the Company so as to generate an increased incentive to
contribute to the Company’s future financial success and prosperity, (2) to enhance the ability of the Company and its Affiliates to attract and retain
exceptionally qualified individuals whose efforts can affect the financial growth and profitability of the Company, and (3) to align generally the interests of
key employees, directors and consultants of the Company and its Affiliates with the interests of the Company’s stockholders.
Section 2. Definitions.
As used in the Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:
(a) “Affiliate” shall mean (i) any entity that, directly or through one or more intermediaries, is controlled by the Company or (ii) any entity in which
the Company has a significant equity interest, as determined by the Committee.
(b) “Award” shall mean any Option, Restricted Stock Award, Restricted Stock Unit, Dividend Equivalent, Other Stock-Based Award, Performance
Award or Substitute Award, granted under the Plan.
(c) “Award Agreement” shall mean any written agreement, contract, or other instrument or document evidencing any Award granted under the Plan.
(d) “Board of Directors” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company as it may be composed from time to time.
(e) “Business Relationship” shall mean, with respect to a Consultant, such Consultant continuing to render, in the sole determination of the Board of
Directors or the Committee, substantial ongoing services as an independent contractor of the Company.
(f) “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, or any successor code thereto.
(g) “Committee” shall mean the Board of Directors, excluding any director who is not a “Non-Employee Director” within the meaning of Rule 16b3, or any such other committee designated by the Board of Directors to administer the Plan, which committee shall be composed of not less than the
minimum number of members of the Board of Directors from time to time required by Rule 16b-3 or any applicable law, each of whom is a Non-Employee
Director within the meaning of Rule 16b-3.
(h) “Company” shall mean Misonix, Inc., or any successor thereto.
(i) “Company Service” shall mean any service with the Company or any Affiliate in which the Company have at least a 51% ownership interest.
(j) “Consultant” shall mean a natural person providing bona fide services to the Company or any Affiliate that are not in connection with the offer or
sale of securities in a capital raising transaction, and such party does not directly or indirectly promote or maintain a market in the Company’s securities.
(k) “Covered Award” means an Award, other than an Option or other Award with an exercise price per Share not less than the Fair Market Value of a
Share on the date of grant of such Award, to a Covered Employee, if it is designated as such by the Committee at the time it is granted. Covered Awards are
subject to the provisions of Section 13 of this Plan.
(l) “Covered Employees” means Participants who are designated by the Committee prior to the grant of an Award who are, or are expected to be at
the time taxable income will be realized with respect to the Award, “covered employees” within the meaning of Section 162(m).

(m) “Dividend Equivalent” shall mean any right granted under Section 6(c) of the Plan.
(n) “Effective Date” shall mean the date that the Plan is first approved by the stockholders of the Company.
(o) “Employee” shall mean any employee or employee director of the Company or of any Affiliate.
(p) “Fair Market Value” shall mean, with respect to any property (including, without limitation, any Shares or other securities), the fair market value
of such property determined by such methods, or procedures as shall be established from time to time by the Committee.
(q) “Incentive Stock Option” or “ISO” shall mean an option granted under Section 6(a) of the Plan that is intended to meet the requirements of
Section 422 of the Code, or any successor provision thereto.
(r) “Non-Qualified Stock Option” shall mean an option granted under Section 6(a) of the Plan that is not intended to be an Incentive Stock Option.
(s) “Option” shall mean an Incentive Stock Option or a Non-Qualified Stock Option.
(t) “Other Stock-Based Award” shall mean any Award granted under Section 6(d) of the Plan.
(u) “Participant” shall mean an Employee, Consultant or member of the Board of Directors who is granted an Award under the Plan.
(v) “Performance Award” shall mean any Award granted hereunder that complies with Section 6(e)(ii) of the Plan.
(w) “Performance Goals” means one or more objective performance goals, established by the Committee at the time an Award is granted, and based
upon the attainment of targets for one or any combination of the following criteria, which may be determined solely by reference to the Company’s
performance or the performance of a subsidiary or an Affiliate (or any business unit thereof) or based on comparative performance relative to other
companies: (i) net income; (ii) earnings before income taxes; (iii) earnings per share; (iv) return on stockholders’ equity; (v) expense management; (vi)
profitability of an identifiable business unit or product; (vii) revenue growth; (viii) earnings growth; (ix) total stockholder return; (x) cash flow; (xi) return
on assets; (xii) pre-tax operating income; (xiii) net economic profit (operating earnings minus a charge for capital); (xiv) customer satisfaction; (xv)
provider satisfaction; (xvi) employee satisfaction; (xvii) strategic innovation; or (xviii) any combination of the foregoing. Performance Goals shall be set by
the Committee within the time period prescribed by Section 162(m).
(x) “Person” shall mean any individual, corporation, partnership, association, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, or government
or political subdivision thereof.
(y) “Released Securities” shall mean securities that were Restricted Securities with respect to which all applicable restrictions have expired, lapsed,
or been waived.
(z) “Restricted Securities” shall mean Awards of Restricted Stock or other Awards under which issued and outstanding Shares are held subject to
certain restrictions.
(aa) “Restricted Stock” shall mean any Share granted under Section 6(b) of the Plan.
(bb) “Restricted Stock Unit” shall mean any right granted under Section 6(b) of the Plan that is denominated in Shares.
(cc) “Rule 16b-3” shall mean Rule 16b-3 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as
amended, or any successor rule and the regulation thereto.
(dd) “Section 162(m)” means Section 162(m) of the Code or any successor thereto, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.
(ee) “Share” or “Shares” shall mean share(s) of the common stock of the Company, and such other securities or property as may become the subject
of Awards pursuant to the adjustment provisions of Section 4(c).
(ff) “Substitute Award” shall mean an Award granted in assumption of, or in substitution for, an outstanding award previously granted by a company
acquired by the Company or with which the Company combines.

Section 3. Administration.
(a) The Plan shall be administered by the Committee. Subject to the terms of the Plan and applicable law, the Committee shall have full power and
authority to designate Participants and:
(i)

determine the type or types of Awards to be granted to each Participant under the Plan;

(ii)

determine the number of Shares to be covered by (or with respect to which payments, rights, or other matters are to be calculated in
connection with) Awards;

(iii) determine the terms and conditions of any Award;
(iv)

determine whether, to what extent, and under what circumstances Awards may be settled or exercised in cash, Shares, other securities,
other Awards, or other property, or to what extent, and under what circumstances Awards may be canceled, forfeited, or suspended, and
the method or methods by which Awards may be settled, exercised, canceled, forfeited, or suspended;

(v)

determine whether, to what extent, and under what circumstances cash, Shares, other securities, other Awards, other property, and other
amounts payable with respect to an Award under the Plan shall be deferred either automatically or at the election of the holder thereof or
of the Committee;

(vi)

interpret and administer the Plan and any instrument or agreement relating to the Plan, or any Award made under the Plan, including any
Award Agreement;

(vii) establish, amend, suspend, or reconcile such rules and regulations and appoint such agents as it shall deem appropriate for the proper
administration of the Plan; and
(viii) make any other determination and take any other action that the Committee deems necessary or desirable for the administration of the
Plan.
(b) Unless otherwise expressly provided in the Plan, all designations, determinations, interpretations, and other decisions under or with respect to the
Plan, any Award, or any Award Agreement, shall be within the sole discretion of the Committee, may be made at any time, and shall be final, conclusive,
and binding upon all Persons, including the Company, any Affiliate, any Participant, any holder or beneficiary of any Award, and any employee of the
Company or of any Affiliate.
(c) The Committee may delegate to one or more executive officers of the Company or to a committee of executive officers of the Company the
authority to grant Awards to Employees who are not officers or directors of the Company and to amend, modify, cancel or suspend Awards to such
employees, subject to Sections 7 and 9.
Section 4. Shares Available For Awards.
(a) Maximum Shares Available. The maximum number of Shares that may be issued to Participants pursuant to Awards under the Plan shall be
1,950,000 Shares (the “Plan Maximum”), subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4(c) below. Pursuant to any Awards, the Company may in its
discretion issue treasury Shares or authorized but previously unissued Shares pursuant to Awards hereunder. For the purpose of accounting for Shares
available for Awards under the Plan, the following shall apply:
(i)

Only Shares relating to Awards actually issued or granted hereunder shall be counted against the Plan Maximum. Shares corresponding to
Awards that by their terms expired, or that are forfeited, canceled or surrendered to the Company without full consideration paid therefor
shall not be counted against the Plan Maximum.

(ii)

Shares that are forfeited by a Participant after issuance, or that are reacquired by the Company after issuance without full consideration
paid therefor, shall be deemed to have never been issued under the Plan and accordingly shall not be counted against the Plan Maximum.

(iii) Awards not denominated in Shares shall be counted against the Plan Maximum in such amount and at such time as the Committee shall
determine under procedures adopted by the Committee consistent with the purposes of the Plan.

(iv)

Substitute Awards shall not be counted against the Plan Maximum, and clauses (i) and (ii) of this Section shall not apply to such Awards.

(v)

The maximum number of Shares that may be the subject of Awards made to a single Participant in any one year period shall be 500,000.

(vi)

With respect to any performance period no Participant may be granted Awards of incentive stock or incentive units that vest upon the
achievement of performance objectives in respect of more than 500,000 Shares of common stock or, if such Awards are settled in cash,
the fair market value thereof determined at the time of payment, each subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4(c) below.

(b) Shares Available for ISOs. The maximum number of Shares for which ISOs may be granted under the Plan shall not exceed the Plan Maximum as
defined in Section 4(a) above, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4(c) below.
(c) Adjustments to Avoid Dilution. Notwithstanding paragraphs (a) and (b) above, in the event of a stock or extraordinary cash dividend, split-up or
combination of Shares, merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization, or other change in the corporate structure or capitalization affecting the
outstanding common stock of the Company, such that an adjustment is determined by the Committee to be appropriate in order to prevent dilution or
enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Plan or any Award, then the Committee may make appropriate
adjustments to (i) the number or kind of Shares available for the future granting of Awards hereunder, (ii) the number and type of Shares subject to
outstanding Awards, and (iii) the grant, purchase, or exercise price with respect to any Award; or if it deems such action appropriate, the Committee may
make provision for a cash payment to the holder of an outstanding Award; provided, however, that with respect to any ISO no such adjustment shall be
authorized to the extent that such would cause the ISO to violate Code Section 422 or any successor provision thereto. The determination of the Committee
as to the adjustments or payments, if any, to be made shall be conclusive.
(d) Other Plans. Shares issued under other plans of the Company shall not be counted against the Plan Maximum under the Plan.
Section 5. Eligibility.
Any director of the Company, Consultant or Employee shall be eligible to be designated a Participant.
Section 6. Awards.
(a) Options. The Committee is hereby authorized to grant Options to Participants with the following terms and conditions and with such additional
terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan, as the Committee shall determine:
(i)

Exercise Price. The exercise price per Share under an Option shall be determined by the Committee; provided, however, that except in the
case of Substitute Awards, no Option granted hereunder may have an exercise price of less than 100% of Fair Market Value of a Share on
the date of grant.

(ii)

Times and Method of Exercise. The Committee shall determine the time or times at which an Option may be exercised in whole or in part;
in no event, however, shall the period for exercising an Option extend more than 10 years from the date of grant. The Committee shall
also determine the method or methods by which Options may be exercised, and the form or forms (including without limitation, cash,
Shares, other Awards, or other property, or any combination thereof, having a Fair Market Value on the exercise date equal to the relevant
exercise price), in which payment of the exercise price with respect thereto may be made or deemed to have been made.

(iii) Incentive Stock Options. The terms of any Incentive Stock Option granted under the Plan shall comply in all respects with the provisions
of Section 422 of the Code, or any successor provision thereto, and any regulations promulgated thereunder.

(iv)

Termination. In the event that a Participant terminates employment or director status or becomes disabled, or in the case of a Consultant,
ceases to have a Business Relationship with the Company, Options granted hereunder shall be exercisable only as specified below:
(A) Disability or Death. Except as otherwise provided in an employment agreement with a Participant or as the Committee may
otherwise provide, if a Participant becomes disabled or dies, any vested, unexercised portion of an Option that is at least partially
vested at the time of the termination shall be forfeited in its entirety if not exercised by the Participant (or his or her heirs or
representatives) within six (6) months of the date of death or disability, unless the Committee has in its sole discretion established an
additional exercise period (but in any case not longer than the original option term). Except as otherwise provided in an employment
agreement with a Participant or as the Committee may otherwise provide, any portion of such partially vested Option that is not
vested at the time of disability or death shall be forfeited. Except as otherwise provided in an employment agreement with a
Participant or as the Committee may otherwise provide, any outstanding Option granted to a Participant at the time of disability or
death, for which no vesting has occurred at the time of disability or death, shall be forfeited on the date of disability or death.
(B) Termination for Reasons Other Than Death or Disability. Except as otherwise provided in an employment agreement with a
Participant or as the Committee may otherwise provide, if a Participant terminates employment or director status for reasons other
than death or disability, or in the case of a Consultant, ceases to have a Business Relationship with the Company, any vested,
unexercised portion of an Option that is at least partially vested at the time of the termination shall be forfeited in its entirety if not
exercised by the Participant within three (3) months of the date of termination of employment or director status, unless the
Committee has in its sole discretion established an additional exercise period (but in any case not longer than the original option
term). Any portion of such partially vested Option that is not vested at the time of termination shall be forfeited unless the
Committee has in its sole discretion established that a Participant may continue to satisfy the vesting requirements beyond the date of
his or her termination of employment, director or Consultant status. Except as otherwise provided in an employment agreement with
a Participant or as the Committee may otherwise provide, any outstanding Option granted to a Participant terminating employment,
director or Consultant status other than for death or disability, for which no vesting has occurred at the time of the termination shall
be forfeited on the date of termination.
(C) Sale of Business. Except as otherwise provided in an employment agreement with a Participant or as the Committee may otherwise
provide, in the event the “business unit,” (defined as a division, subsidiary, unit or other delineation that the Committee in its sole
discretion may determine) for which the Participant performs substantially all of his or her services is assigned, sold, outsourced or
otherwise transferred, including an asset, stock or joint venture transaction, to an unrelated third party such that after such transaction
the Company owns or controls directly or indirectly less than 51% of the business unit, the affected Participant shall become 100%
vested in all outstanding Options as of the date of the closing of such transaction, whether or not fully or partially vested, and such
Participant shall be entitled to exercise such Options during the three (3) months following the closing of such transaction, unless the
Committee has in its sole discretion established an additional exercise period (but in any case not longer than the original option
term). Except as otherwise provided in an employment agreement with a Participant or as the Committee may otherwise provide, all
Options which are unexercised at the end of such three (3) months shall be automatically forfeited.
(D) Conditions Imposed on Unvested Options. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions describing the additional exercise periods for
Options upon termination of employment, director or Consultant status, the Committee may in its sole discretion condition the right
of a Participant to exercise any portion of a partially vested Option for which the Committee has established an additional exercise
period on the Participant’s agreement to adhere to such conditions and stipulations which the Committee may impose, including, but
not limited to, restrictions on the solicitation of employees or independent contractors, disclosure of confidential information,
covenants not to compete, refraining from denigrating through adverse or disparaging communication, written or oral, whether or not
true, the operations, business, management, products or services of the Company or its current or former employees and directors,
including without limitation, the expression of personal views, opinions or judgements. The unvested Options of any Participant for
whom the Committee has given an additional exercise period subject to such conditions subsequent as set forth in this Section 6(a)
(iv)(D) shall be forfeited immediately upon a breach of such conditions.

(E) Forfeiture for Gross Misconduct. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, any Participant who engages in “Gross
Misconduct”, as defined herein, (including any Participant who may otherwise qualify for disability status) shall forfeit all
outstanding, unexercised Options, whether vested or unvested, as of the date such Gross Misconduct occurs. For purposes of the
Plan, Gross Misconduct shall be defined to mean (i) the Participant’s conviction of a felony (or crime of similar magnitude in nonU.S. jurisdictions) in connection with the performance or nonperformance of the Participant’s duties or (ii) the Participant’s willful
act or failure to act in a way that results in material injury to the business or reputation of the Company or employees of the
Company.
(F) Vesting. For purposes of the Plan, any reference to the “vesting” of an Option shall mean any events or conditions which, if satisfied,
entitle a Participant to exercise an Option with respect to all or a portion of the shares covered by the Option. The complete vesting
of an Option shall be subject to Section 6(a)(iv)(E) hereof. Such vesting events or conditions may be set forth in the Notice of Grant
or otherwise be determined by the Committee.
(b) Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units. The Committee is hereby authorized to grant Awards of Restricted Stock and or Restricted Stock
Units to Participants with the following terms and conditions.
(i)

Restrictions. Shares of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to such restrictions as the Committee may impose
(including, without limitation, continued employment, director or Consultant service over a specified period or the attainment of specified
Performance Objectives (as defined in Section 6(e)(ii)(B)) or Performance Goals, in accordance with Section 13), which restrictions may
lapse separately or concurrently at such time or times, in such installments or otherwise, as the Committee may deem appropriate.

(ii)

Registration. Any Restricted Stock granted under the Plan may be evidenced in such manner as the Committee may deem appropriate
including, without limitation, book-entry registration or issuance of a stock certificate or certificates. In the event any stock certificate is
issued in respect of Shares of Restricted Stock granted under the Plan, such certificate shall be registered in the name of the Participant
and shall bear an appropriate legend referring to the terms, conditions, and restrictions applicable to such Restricted Stock.

(iii) Termination. Except as otherwise provided in an employment agreement with a Participant or as the Committee may otherwise provide,
upon termination of employment or director service of a Participant, or in the case of a Consultant, ceases to have a Business Relationship
with the Company, for any reason during the applicable restriction period, all Restricted Stock and all Restricted Stock Units, or portion
thereof, still subject to restriction shall be forfeited and reacquired by the Company; provided, however, that in the event termination of
employment or director service is due to the death or disability of the Participant, the Committee may waive in whole or in part any or all
remaining restrictions with respect to Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units.
(c) Dividend Equivalents. The Committee may grant to Participants Dividend Equivalents under which the holders thereof shall be entitled to receive
payments equivalent to dividends with respect to a number of Shares determined by the Committee, and the Committee may provide that such amounts
shall be deemed to have been reinvested in additional Shares or otherwise reinvested. Subject to the terms of the Plan, such Awards may have such terms
and conditions as the Committee shall determine.

(i)

Termination. Except as otherwise provided in an employment agreement with a Participant or as the Committee may otherwise provide,
upon termination of the Participant’s employment or director service, or in the case of a Consultant, ceases to have a Business
Relationship with the Company, for any reason during the term of a Dividend Equivalent, the right of a Participant to payment under a
Dividend Equivalent shall terminate as of the date of termination; provided, however, that in the event the Participant’s employment or
director service terminates because of the death or disability of a Participant the Committee may determine that such right terminates at a
later date.

(d) Other Stock Based Awards. The Committee is hereby authorized to grant to Participants such other Awards that are denominated or payable in,
valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on or related to Shares (including without limitation securities convertible into Shares), as are
deemed by the Committee to be consistent with the purposes of the Plan; provided, however, that such grants must comply with Rule 16b-3 and applicable
law.
(i)

Consideration. If applicable, Shares or other securities delivered pursuant to a purchase right granted under this Section 6(d) shall be
purchased for such consideration, which may be paid by such method or methods and in such form or forms, including without limitation
cash, Shares, other securities, other Awards or other property, or any combination thereof, as the Committee shall determine; provided,
however, that except in the case of Substitute Awards, no derivative security (as defined in Rule 16b-3) awarded hereunder may have an
exercise price of less than 100% of Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant.

(ii)

Termination. In granting any Stock-Based Award pursuant to this Section 6(d) the Committee shall also determine what effect the
termination of employment or director service of the Participant holding such Award, or in the case of a Consultant, ceasing to have a
Business Relationship with the Company, shall have on the rights of the Participant pursuant to the Award.

(e) General. The following general provisions shall apply to all Awards granted hereunder, subject to the terms of other sections of this Plan or any
Award Agreement.
(i)

Award Agreements. Each Award granted under this Plan shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement which shall specify the relevant
material terms and conditions of the Award and which shall be signed by the Participant receiving such Award, if so indicated by the
Award.

(ii)

Performance Awards. Subject to the other terms of this Plan, the payment, release or exercisability of any Award, in whole or in part, may
be conditioned upon the achievement of such Performance Objectives (as defined below) during such performance periods as are
specified by the Committee. Hereinafter in this Section 6(e)(ii) the terms payment, pay, and paid also refer to the release or exercisability
of a Performance Award, as the case may require.
(A) Terms. The Committee shall establish the terms and conditions of any Performance Award including the Performance Objectives (as
defined below) to be achieved during any performance period, the length of any performance period, any event the occurrence of
which will entitle the holder to payment, and the amount of any Performance Award granted.
(B) Performance Objectives. The Committee shall establish “Performance Objectives” the achievement of which shall entitle the
Participant to payment under a Performance Award. Performance Objectives may be any measure of the business performance of the
Company, or any of its divisions or Affiliates, including but not limited to the growth in book or market value of capital stock, the
increase in the earnings in total or per share, or any other financial or non-financial indicator specified by the Committee.
(C) Fulfillment of Conditions and Payment. The Committee shall determine in a timely manner whether all or part of the conditions to
payment of a Performance Award have been fulfilled and, if so, the amount, if any, of the payment to which the Participant is
entitled.

(iii) Rule 16b-3 Six Month Limitations. To the extent required in order to render the grant of an Award, the exercise of an Award or any
derivative security, or the sale of securities corresponding to an Award, an exempt transaction under Section 16(b) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 only, any equity security granted under the Plan to a Participant must be held by such Participant for at least six
months from the date of grant, or in the case of a derivative security granted pursuant to the Plan to a Participant, at least six months must
elapse from the date of acquisition of the derivative security to the date of disposition of the derivative security (other than upon exercise
or conversion) or its underlying equity security. Terms used in the preceding sentence shall, for the purposes of such sentence only, have
the meanings if any, assigned or attributed to them under Rule 16b-3.

(iv)

Limits on Transfer of Awards. No Award (other than Released Securities), and no right under any such Award shall be assignable,
alienable, pledgeable, attachable, encumberable, saleable, or transferable by a Participant other than by will or by the laws of descent and
distribution or pursuant to a domestic relations order (or, in the case of Awards that are forfeited or canceled, to the Company); and any
purported assignment, sale, transfer, thereof shall be void and unenforceable against the Company or Affiliate. If the Committee so
indicates in writing to a Participant, he or she may designate one or more beneficiaries who may exercise the rights of the Participant and
receive any property distributable with respect to any Award upon the death of the Participant.

(v)

Exercisability. Each Award, and each right under any Award, shall be exercisable, during the Participant’s lifetime only by the Participant
or, if permissible under applicable law, by the Participant’s guardian or legal representative or by a transferee receiving such Award
pursuant to a domestic relations order referred to above.

(vi)

No Cash Consideration for Awards. Awards may be granted for no cash consideration, or for such minimal cash consideration as the
Committee may specify, or as may be required by applicable law.

(vii) Awards May Be Granted Separately or Together. Awards may, in the discretion of the Committee, be granted either alone or in addition
to, in tandem with, or in substitution for any other Award or any award granted under any other plan of the Company or any Affiliate.
Awards granted in addition to or in tandem with other Awards or in addition to or in tandem with awards granted under any other plan of
the Company or any Affiliate may be granted either at the same time as or at a different time from the grant of such other Awards or
awards. Performance Awards and Awards which are not Performance Awards may be granted to the same Participant.
(viii) Forms of Payment Under Awards. Subject to the terms of the Plan and of any applicable Award Agreement, payments or transfers to be
made by the Company or an Affiliate upon the grant, exercise, or payment of an Award may be made in such form or forms as the
Committee shall determine, including, without limitation, cash, Shares, other securities, other Awards, or other property, or any
combination thereof, and may be made in a single payment or transfer, in installments, or on a deferred basis, in each case in accordance
with rules and procedures established by the Committee. Such rules and procedures may include, without limitation, provisions for the
payment or crediting of reasonable interest on installment or deferred payments or the grant or crediting of Dividend Equivalents in
respect of installment or deferred payments.
(ix)

Term of Awards. Except as provided in Sections 6(a)(ii) or 6(a)(iv), the term of each Award shall be for such period as may be determined
by the Committee.

(x)

Share Certificates. All certificates for Shares or other securities delivered under the Plan pursuant to any Award or the exercise thereof
shall be subject to such stop transfer orders and other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the Plan or the rules,
regulations, and other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stock exchange upon which such Shares or other
securities are then listed, and any applicable Federal or state securities laws, and the Committee may cause a legend or legends to be put
on any such certificates to make appropriate reference to such restrictions. Unrestricted certificates representing Shares, evidenced in such
manner as the Committee shall deem appropriate, shall be delivered to the holder of Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units or any other
relevant Award promptly after such related Shares shall become Released Securities.

Section 7. Amendment and Termination of Awards.
Except to the extent prohibited by applicable law and unless otherwise expressly provided in an Award Agreement or in the Plan, the following shall
apply to all Awards.
(a) Amendments to Awards. Subject to Section 6(b)(i), the Committee may waive any conditions or rights under, amend any terms of, or amend, alter,
suspend, discontinue, cancel or terminate, any Award heretofore granted without the consent of any relevant Participant or holder or beneficiary of an
Award; provided, however, that no such amendment, alteration, suspension, discontinuance, cancellation or termination that would be adverse to the holder
of such Award may be made without such holder’s consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee shall not amend any outstanding Option to
change the exercise price thereof to any price that is lower than the original exercise price thereof except in connection with an adjustment authorized under
Section 4(c).
(b) Adjustments of Awards Upon Certain Acquisitions. In the event the Company or an Affiliate shall issue Substitute Awards, the Committee may
make such adjustments, not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, in the terms of Awards as it shall deem appropriate in order to achieve reasonable
comparability or other equitable relationship between the assumed awards and the Substitute Awards granted under the Plan.
(c) Adjustments of Awards Upon the Occurrence of Certain Unusual or Nonrecurring Events. The Committee shall be authorized to make
adjustments in the terms and conditions of, and the criteria included in, Awards in recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events (including, without
limitation, the events described in Section 4(c) hereof) affecting the Company, any Affiliate, or the financial statements of the Company or any Affiliate, or
of changes in applicable laws, regulations, or accounting principles, whenever the Committee determines that such adjustments are appropriate in order to
prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits to be made available under the Plan or an Award Agreement.
(d) Correction of Defects, Omissions, and Inconsistencies. The Committee may correct any defect, supply any omission, or reconcile any
inconsistency in any Award Agreement in the manner and to the extent it shall deem desirable to carry the Plan into effect.
Section 8. Acceleration upon a Change of Control. In the event of a Change of Control (as defined in Section 8(b) below) the following shall apply:
(a) Effect on Awards.
(i)

Options. In the event of a Change of Control, (1) all Options outstanding on the date of such Change of Control shall become
immediately and fully exercisable without regard to any vesting schedule provided for in the Option.

(ii)

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units. In the event of a Change of Control, all restrictions applicable to any Restricted Stock or
Restricted Stock Unit shall terminate and be deemed to be fully satisfied for the entire stated restricted period of any such Award, and the
total number of underlying Shares shall become Released Securities. The Participant shall immediately have the right to the prompt
delivery of certificates reflecting such Released Securities.

(iii) Dividend Equivalents. In the event of a Change of Control, the holder of any outstanding Dividend Equivalent shall be entitled to
surrender such Award to the Company and to receive payment of an amount equal to the amount that would have been paid over the
remaining term of the Dividend Equivalent, as determined by the Committee.
(iv)

Other Stock Based Awards. In the event of a Change of Control, all outstanding Other Stock Based Awards of whatever type shall become
immediately vested and payable in an amount that assumes that the Awards were outstanding for the entire period stated therein, as
determined by the Committee.

(v)

Performance Awards. In the event of a Change of Control, Performance Awards for all performance periods, including those not yet
completed, shall immediately become fully vested and payable in accordance with the following:

(A) Non-Financial Performance Objectives. The total amount of Performance Awards conditioned on nonfinancial Performance
Objectives and those conditioned on financial performance shall be immediately payable (or exercisable or released, as the case may
be) as if the Performance Objectives had been fully achieved for the entire performance period.
(B) Financial Performance Objectives. For Performance Awards conditioned on financial Performance Objectives and payable in cash,
the Committee shall determine the amount payable under such Award by taking into consideration the actual level of attainment of
the Performance Objectives during that portion of the performance period that had occurred prior to the date of the Change of
Control, and with respect to the part of the performance period that had not occurred prior to the date of the Change of Control, the
Committee shall determine an anticipated level of attainment taking into consideration available historical data and the last
projections made by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer prior to the Change of Control. The amount payable shall be the present
value of the amount so determined by the Committee discounted using a factor that is the Prime Rate as established by JP Morgan
Chase, N.A. as of the date of the Change of Control.
(vi)

Determination Final. The Committee’s determination of amounts payable under this Section 8(a) shall be final. Except as otherwise
provided in Section 8(a)(1), any amounts due under this Section 8(a) shall be paid to Participants within 30 days after such Change of
Control.

(vii) Exclusion. The provisions of this Section 8(a) shall not be applicable to any Award granted to a Participant if any Change of Control
results from such Participant’s beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”)) of Shares or other Company common stock or Company voting securities.
(b) Change of Control Defined. “A Change of Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if:
(i)

there is an acquisition, in any one transaction or a series of transactions, other than from the Company, by any individual, entity or group
(within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act), of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13(d)(3)
promulgated under the Exchange Act) of 50% or more of either the then outstanding shares of Common Stock or the combined voting
power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, but excluding, for
this purpose, any such acquisition by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the
Company or its subsidiaries, or any corporation with respect to which, following such acquisition, more than 50% of the then outstanding
shares of common stock of such corporation and the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation
entitled to vote generally in the election of directors is then beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by the individuals and entities who
were the beneficial owners, respectively, of the common stock and voting securities of the Company immediately prior to such
acquisition in substantially the same proportion as their ownership, immediately prior to such acquisition, of the then outstanding shares
of Common Stock or the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in
the election of directors, as the case may be; or

(ii)

individuals who, as of March 1, 2017, constitute the Board (as of such date, the “Incumbent Board”) cease for any reason to constitute at
least a majority of the Board, provided that any individual becoming a director subsequent to March 1, 2017 whose election, or
nomination for election by the Company’s stockholders, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then comprising the
Incumbent Board shall be considered as though such individual were a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose,
any such individual whose initial assumption of office is in connection with an actual or threatened election contest relating to the
election of the directors of the Company (as such terms are used in Rule 14(a)(11) or Regulation 14A promulgated under the Exchange
Act); or

(iii) there occurs either (A) the consummation of a reorganization, merger or consolidation, in each case, with respect to which the individuals
and entities who were the respective beneficial owners of the common stock and voting securities of the Company immediately prior to
such reorganization, merger or consolidation do not, following such reorganization, merger or consolidation, beneficially own, directly or
indirectly, more than 50% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of common stock and the combined voting power of the then
outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, as the case may be, of the corporation resulting from
such reorganization, merger or consolidation, or (B) an approval by the stockholders of the Company of a complete liquidation of
dissolution of the Company or of the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company.

(c) Termination of Certain Awards. In addition, in the event of a Change of Control, the Committee may in its discretion and upon at least 10 days’
advance notice to the affected persons, cancel any outstanding Awards and pay to the holders thereof, in cash or stock, or any combination thereof, the
value of such Awards based upon the price per share of the Shares received or to be received by other shareholders of the Company in the event. In the case
of any Option or Other Stock-Based Award with an exercise price that equals or exceeds the price paid for a Share in connection with the Change of
Control, the Committee may cancel the Option or Other Stock-Based Award without the payment of consideration therefor.
Section 9. Amendment and Termination of the Plan.
Except to the extent prohibited by applicable law and unless otherwise expressly provided in an Award Agreement or in the Plan, the Board of
Directors may amend, alter, suspend, discontinue, or terminate the Plan, including without limitation any such action to correct any defect, supply any
omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan, without the consent of any stockholder, Participant, other holder or beneficiary of an Award, or Person;
provided that any such amendment, alteration, suspension, discontinuation, or termination that would impair the rights of any Participant, or any other
holder or beneficiary of any Award heretofore granted shall not be effective without the approval of the affected Participant(s); and provided further, that,
notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or any Award Agreement, without the approval of the stockholders of the Company no such amendment,
alteration, suspension, discontinuation or termination shall be made that would increase the total number of Shares available for Awards under the Plan,
except as provided in Section 4 hereof.
Section 10. General Provisions
(a) No Rights to Awards. No Employee, Participant or other Person shall have any claim to be granted any Award under the Plan, and there is no
obligation for uniformity of treatment of Employees, Participants, or holders or beneficiaries of Awards under the Plan. The terms and conditions of
Awards need not be the same with respect to each recipient.
(b) Withholding. The Company or any Affiliate shall be authorized to withhold from any Award granted or any payment due or transfer made under
any Award or under the Plan the amount (in cash, Shares, other securities, other Awards, or other property) of withholding taxes due in respect of an Award,
its exercise, or any payment or transfer under such Award or under the Plan and to take such other action as may be necessary in the opinion of the
Company or Affiliate to satisfy all obligations for the payment of such taxes.
(c) No Limit on Other Compensation Agreements. Nothing contained in the Plan shall prevent the Company or any Affiliate from adopting or
continuing in effect other or additional compensation arrangements and such arrangements may be either generally applicable or applicable only in specific
cases.
(d) No Right to Employment. The grant of an Award shall not be construed as giving a Participant the right to be retained in the employ of the
Company or any Affiliate. Further, the Company or an Affiliate may at any time dismiss a Participant from employment, free from any liability or any
claim under the Plan, unless otherwise expressly provided in the Plan or in any Award Agreement.
(e) Governing Law. The validity, construction, and effect of the Plan and any rules and regulations relating to the Plan shall be determined in
accordance with the laws of the State of New York and applicable Federal law.
(f) Severability. If any provision of the Plan or any Award is or becomes or is deemed to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, or as
to any Person or Award, or would disqualify the Plan or any Award under any law deemed applicable by the Committee, such provision shall be construed
or deemed amended to conform to applicable laws, or if it cannot be so construed or deemed amended without, in the determination of the Committee,
materially altering the intent of the Plan or the Award, such provision shall be stricken as to such jurisdiction, Person, or Award and the remainder of the
Plan and any such Award shall remain in full force and effect.

(g) No Trust or Fund Created. Neither the Plan nor any Award shall create or be construed to create a trust or separate fund of any kind or a fiduciary
relationship between the Company or any Affiliate and a Participant or any other Person. To the extent that any Person acquires a right to receive payments
from the Company or any Affiliate pursuant to an Award, such right shall be that of an unsecured general creditor of the Company or any Affiliate.
(h) No Fractional Shares. No fractional Share shall be issued or delivered pursuant to the Plan or any Award, and the Committee shall determine
whether cash, other securities, or other property shall be paid or transferred in lieu of any fractional Shares, or whether such fractional Shares, or whether
such fractional Shares or any rights thereto shall be canceled, terminated, or otherwise eliminated.
(i) Headings. Headings are given to the sections and subsections of the Plan solely as a convenience to facilitate reference. Such headings shall not be
deemed in any way material or relevant to the construction or interpretation of the Plan or any provision thereof.
Section 11. Effective Date of the Plan.
The Plan shall be effective as of the date of its first approval by the stockholders of the Company.
Section 12. Term of the Plan.
No Award shall be granted under the Plan after the tenth anniversary of the effective date of the First Amendment to the Plan.. However, unless
otherwise expressly provided in the Plan or in an applicable Award Agreement, any Award theretofore granted may extend beyond such date, and the
authority of the Committee hereunder to amend, alter, adjust, suspend, discontinue, or terminate any such Award, or to waive any conditions or rights under
any such Award, and the authority of the Board of Directors of the Company to amend the Plan, shall extend beyond such date.
Section 13. Participants Subject to Section 162(m).
(a) Applicability. The provisions of this Section 13 shall be applicable to all Covered Awards. Covered Awards shall be made subject to the
achievement of one or more preestablished Performance Goals, in accordance with procedures to be established by the Committee from time to time.
Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, the Committee shall not, other than upon a Change of Control, have discretion to waive or
amend such Performance Goals or to, except as provided in Section 4(c), increase the number of Shares subject to Covered Awards or the amount payable
pursuant to Covered Awards after the Performance Goals have been established; provided, however, that the Committee may, in its sole discretion, reduce
the number of Shares subject to Covered Awards or the amount which would otherwise be payable pursuant to Covered Awards; and provided, further, that
the provisions of Section 8 shall override any contrary provision of this Section 13.
(b) Certification. No shares shall be delivered and no payment shall be made pursuant to a Covered Award unless and until the Committee shall have
certified in writing that the applicable Performance Goals have been attained.
(c) Procedures. The Committee may from time to time establish procedures pursuant to which Covered Employees will be permitted or required to
defer receipt of amounts payable under Awards made under the Plan.
(d) Committee. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, for all purposes involving Covered Awards, the Committee shall consist of at least
two members of the Board of Directors, each of whom is an “outside director” within the meaning of Section 162(m).
Section 14. Code §409A Compliance.
To the extent any Award hereunder provides for a deferral of compensation (within the meaning of Code §409A and related regulations), the material
terms of the deferral, to the extent required under Treasury Regulation §1.409A-1(c)(3) to establish a deferred compensation plan, shall be set forth in the
written Award documentation (including by incorporation by reference, if applicable) prior to the effective date of such Award. Such provisions may
include a requirement that if any payment or acceleration of a payment is made upon a change of control, the definition of change of control for purposes of
such award also complies with the requirements of Treasury Regulation §1.409A-3(i)(5).
In addition, whenever it is provided in this Plan or in any Award made hereunder that a payment or delivery is to be made “promptly” after a given
event, such payment or delivery shall be made within 10 days of the event and the recipient shall have no right to designate the taxable year of payment or
delivery.
Effective as of June 13, 2017. First amendment as of June 30, 2020.

Exhibit 10.30
FIRST LOAN MODIFICATION AGREEMENT
This First Loan Modification Agreement (this “Loan Modification Agreement”) is entered into as of January 3, 2020, by and among (a) SILICON
VALLEY BANK, a California corporation, with its principal place of business at 3003 Tasman Drive, Santa Clara, California 95054 (“Bank”) and (b) (i)
MISONIX, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Parent”), (ii) MISONIX OPCO, INC., a New York corporation (“Misonix”), and (iii) SOLSYS MEDICAL,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Solsys”) (Parent, Misonix and Solsys are hereinafter jointly and severally, individually and collectively,
“Borrower”).
1. DESCRIPTION OF EXISTING INDEBTEDNESS AND OBLIGATIONS. Among other indebtedness and obligations which may be owing by Borrower
to Bank, Borrower is indebted to Bank pursuant to a loan arrangement dated as of December 26, 2019, evidenced by, among other documents, a certain
Loan and Security Agreement dated as of December 26, 2019 (as may be amended, modified, restated, replaced or supplemented from time to time the
“Loan Agreement”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meaning as in the Loan Agreement.
2. DESCRIPTION OF COLLATERAL. Repayment of the Obligations is secured by, among other property, (a) the Collateral as defined in the Loan
Agreement, (b) the Intellectual Property Collateral as defined in a certain Intellectual Property Security Agreement dated as of December 26, 2019 between
Parent and Bank (as amended, the “Parent Intellectual Property Security Agreement”), (c) the Intellectual Property Collateral as defined in a certain
Intellectual Property Security Agreement dated as of December 26, 2019 between Misonix and Bank (as amended, the “Misonix Intellectual Property
Security Agreement”) and (d) the Intellectual Property Collateral as defined in a certain Intellectual Property Security Agreement dated as of December 26,
2019 between Solsys and Bank (as amended, the “Solsys Intellectual Property Security Agreement”) (together with any other collateral security granted to
Bank, the “Security Documents”). Hereinafter, the Security Documents, together with all other documents evidencing or securing the Obligations shall be
referred to as the “Existing Loan Documents”.
3. DESCRIPTION OF CHANGE IN TERMS.
A. Modification to Loan Agreement. The Loan Agreement shall be amended by deleting the following text, appearing in Section 2.5 thereof:
“ (a) Commitment Fee. A fully earned, non-refundable commitment fee of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00), on
the Effective Date;”
and inserting in lieu thereof the following:
“ (a) Commitment Fee. A fully earned, non-refundable commitment fee of Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00), on
January 3, 2020;”
4. FEES AND EXPENSES. Borrower shall reimburse Bank for all legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with this amendment to the Existing
Loan Documents.
5. RATIFICATION OF PERFECTION CERTIFICATES.
A. Parent hereby ratifies, confirms and reaffirms, all and singular, the terms and disclosures contained in a certain Perfection Certificate of Parent
dated as of December 26, 2019, and acknowledges, confirms and agrees the disclosures and information Parent provided to Bank in such
Perfection Certificate have not changed, as of the date hereof.
1

B. Misonix hereby ratifies, confirms and reaffirms, all and singular, the terms and disclosures contained in a certain Perfection Certificate of
Misonix dated as of December 26, 2019, and acknowledges, confirms and agrees the disclosures and information Misonix provided to Bank
in such Perfection Certificate have not changed, as of the date hereof.
C. Solsys hereby ratifies, confirms and reaffirms, all and singular, the terms and disclosures contained in a certain Perfection Certificate of
Solsys dated as of December 26, 2019, and acknowledges, confirms and agrees the disclosures and information Solsys provided to Bank in
such Perfection Certificate have not changed, as of the date hereof.
6. RATIFICATION OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY SECURITY AGREEMENTS.
A. Parent hereby ratifies, confirms and reaffirms, all and singular, the terms and conditions of the Parent Intellectual Property Security
Agreement, and acknowledges, confirms and agrees that the Parent Intellectual Property Security Agreement contains an accurate and
complete listing of all Intellectual Property Collateral as defined in said Parent Intellectual Property Security Agreement, and shall remain in
full force and effect.
B. Misonix hereby ratifies, confirms and reaffirms, all and singular, the terms and conditions of the Misonix Intellectual Property Security
Agreement, and acknowledges, confirms and agrees that the Misonix Intellectual Property Security Agreement contains an accurate and
complete listing of all Intellectual Property Collateral as defined in said Misonix Intellectual Property Security Agreement, and shall remain
in full force and effect.
C. Solsys hereby ratifies, confirms and reaffirms, all and singular, the terms and conditions of the Solsys Intellectual Property Security
Agreement, and acknowledges, confirms and agrees that the Solsys Intellectual Property Security Agreement contains an accurate and
complete listing of all Intellectual Property Collateral as defined in said Solsys Intellectual Property Security Agreement, and shall remain in
full force and effect.
7. CONSISTENT CHANGES. The Existing Loan Documents are hereby amended wherever necessary to reflect the changes described above.
8. RATIFICATION OF LOAN DOCUMENTS. Borrower hereby ratifies, confirms, and reaffirms all terms and conditions of all security or other collateral
granted to Bank, and confirms that the indebtedness secured thereby includes, without limitation, the Obligations.
9. INTENTIONALLY OMITTED.
10. CONTINUING VALIDITY. Borrower understands and agrees that in modifying the existing Obligations, Bank is relying upon Borrower’s
representations, warranties, and agreements, as set forth in the Existing Loan Documents. Except as expressly modified pursuant to this Loan Modification
Agreement, the terms of the Existing Loan Documents remain unchanged and in full force and effect. Bank’s agreement to modifications to the existing
Obligations pursuant to this Loan Modification Agreement in no way shall obligate Bank to make any future modifications to the Obligations. Nothing in
this Loan Modification Agreement shall constitute a satisfaction of the Obligations. It is the intention of Bank and Borrower to retain as liable parties all
makers of Existing Loan Documents, unless the party is expressly released by Bank in writing. No maker will be released by virtue of this Loan
Modification Agreement.
11. COUNTERSIGNATURE. This Loan Modification Agreement shall become effective only when it shall have been executed by Borrower and Bank.
[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank]
2

This Loan Modification Agreement is executed as a sealed instrument under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts as of the date first
written above.
BORROWER:
MISONIX, INC.
By
/s/ Joseph P. Dwyer
Name: Joseph P. Dwyer
Title: Chief Financial Officer
MISONIX OPCO, INC.
By
/s/ Joseph P. Dwyer
Name: Joseph P. Dwyer
Title: Chief Financial Officer
SOLSYS MEDICAL, LLC
By
/s/ Joseph P. Dwyer
Name: Joseph P. Dwyer
Title: Chief Financial Officer
BANK:
SILICON VALLEY BANK
By
/s/ Sam Subilia
Name: Sam Subilia
Title: Director

Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of Misonix, Inc.
Name of Subsidiary
Misonix OpCo, Inc.
Solsys Medical, LLC

Jurisdiction of Incorporation
New York
Delaware

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Misonix, Inc.
Farmingdale, New York
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (File No. 333-223878) and Forms S-8 (File No. 333203944, File No. 333-188554, File No. 333-165088, File No. 333-130874, File No. 333-63166, File No. 333-78795, File No. 333-18907, and File No. 333219348) of Misonix, Inc. of our report dated September 5, 2019, except for the segment information included in Notes 1 and 13, as to which the date is
September 3, 2020, relating to the consolidated financial statements (which report on the consolidated financial statements expresses an unqualified opinion
and includes an emphasis-of-matter paragraph regarding the adoption of FASB issued Accounting Standards No. 606, “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606)”) and financial statement schedule, which appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Melville, New York
September 3, 2020

Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333- 223878 on Form S-3 and Registration Statement Nos. 333-203944, 333188554, 333-165088, 333-130874, 333-63166, 333-78795, 333-18907, and 333-219348 on Form S-8 of our report dated September 3, 2020, relating to the
consolidated financial statements of Misonix, Inc. appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2020.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche, LLP
Jericho, New York
September 3, 2020

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Stavros G. Vizirgianakis, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of MISONIX, INC.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

the registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)), for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.

The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
September 3, 2020
By: /s/ Stavros G. Vizirgianakis
Stavros G. Vizirgianakis
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Joseph P. Dwyer, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of MISONIX, INC.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)), for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
September 3, 2020
By: /s/ Joseph P. Dwyer
Joseph P. Dwyer
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of MISONIX, INC. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended June 30, 2020 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Stavros G. Vizirgianakis, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.
September 3, 2020
By: /s/ Stavros G. Vizirgianakis
Stavros G. Vizirgianakis
Chief Executive Officer
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to MISONIX, INC. and will
be retained by MISONIX, INC. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of MISONIX, INC. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended June 30, 2020 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Joseph P. Dwyer, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss.
1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.
September 3, 2020
By: /s/ Joseph P. Dwyer
Joseph P. Dwyer
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to MISONIX, INC. and will
be retained by MISONIX, INC. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

